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PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
CONFORMIS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except share and per share data)
March 31, 2017

December 31, 2016

(unaudited)

Assets
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents

$

36,392

$

37,257

Investments

27,910

28,242

Accounts receivable, net

13,052

14,675

Inventories

11,383

11,720

Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net

2,910

3,954

91,647

95,848

15,760

15,084

Other Assets
Restricted cash

762

300

4,192

—

Intangible assets, net

684

746

Goodwill

753

753

Investments

Other long-term assets

29

Total assets

79

$

113,827

$

112,810

$

5,768

$

5,474

Liabilities and stockholders' equity
Current liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses

8,875

Deferred revenue

8,492

305

305

Total current liabilities

14,948

14,271

Other long-term liabilities

161

164

Deferred revenue
Long-term debt, less debt issuance costs
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies

4,243

4,320

14,718

—

34,070

18,755

—

—

—

—

Stockholders’ equity
Preferred stock, $0.00001 par value:
Authorized: 5,000,000 shares authorized at March 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016; no shares issued and
outstanding as of March 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016
Common stock, $0.00001 par value:
Authorized: 200,000,000 shares authorized at March 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016; 43,840,318 and 43,399,547
shares issued and outstanding at March 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Total stockholders’ equity
$

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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—

—

480,022

476,486

(400,401)

(382,930)

136

499

79,757

94,055

113,827

$

112,810

CONFORMIS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(unaudited)
(in thousands, except share and per share data)
Three Months Ended March 31,
2017

2016

Revenue
Product

$

20,379

Royalty

$

19,982

76

268

Total revenue

20,455

20,250

Cost of revenue

13,960

13,586

Gross profit

6,495

6,664

Operating expenses
Sales and marketing

10,816

11,115

Research and development

4,560

4,398

General and administrative

8,458

6,295

Total operating expenses
Loss from operations

23,834

21,808

(17,339)

(15,144)

Other income and expenses
Interest income

103

139

Interest expense

(307)

(25)

Foreign currency exchange transaction income
Total other income (expense), net
Loss before income taxes

390

—

186

114

(17,153)

Income tax provision

(15,030)

7

4

Net loss

$

(17,160)

$

(15,034)

Net loss per share - basic and diluted

$

(0.40)

$

(0.37)

Weighted average common shares outstanding - basic and diluted

42,874,743

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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40,993,485

CONFORMIS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
(unaudited)
(in thousands)
Three Months Ended March 31,
2017

Net loss

$

2016

(17,160)

$

(15,034)

Other comprehensive income (loss)
Foreign currency translation adjustments

(354)

Change in unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale securities, net of tax

142

(9)

Comprehensive loss

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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(17,523)

9
$

(14,883)

CONFORMIS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(unaudited)
(in thousands)
Three Months Ended March 31,
2017

2016

Cash flows from operating activities
Net loss

$

(17,160)

$

(15,034)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization expense

843

Amortization of debt discount

734

—

1

1,292

944

Provision for bad debts on trade receivables

29

—

Non-cash interest expense

14

—

75

—

1,594

1,332

Stock-based compensation expense

Amortization/accretion on investments
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Inventories

337

Prepaid expenses and other assets

(399)

1,094

555

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

677

694

Deferred royalty revenue

(76)

(76)

Other long-term liabilities
Net cash used in operating activities

(3)

(20)

(11,284)

(11,269)

(1,456)

(3,298)

Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisition of property and equipment
Increase in restricted cash

(462)

Purchase of short term investment

—

(13,570)

Maturity of investments

(26,939)

9,625

Net cash used in investing activities

—

(5,863)

(30,237)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from exercise of common stock options

1,933

Debt issuance costs

825

(297)

Proceeds from issuance of debt

—

15,000

Payments on long-term debt

—

—

Net cash provided by financing activities

(72)

16,636

Foreign exchange effect on cash and cash equivalents

(354)

(Decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

(865)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period

753
151
(40,602)

37,257

Cash and cash equivalents, end of period

117,185

$

36,392

$

76,583

$

130

$

10

Supplemental information:
Cash paid for income taxes
Cash paid for interest

307

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONFORMIS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(unaudited)
Note A—Organization and Basis of Presentation
ConforMIS, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) is a medical technology company that uses its proprietary iFit Image-to-Implant
technology platform to develop, manufacture and sell joint replacement implants that are individually sized and shaped, which the Company
refers to as customized, to fit each patient’s unique anatomy. The Company’s proprietary iFit® technology platform is potentially applicable to
all major joints. The Company offers a broad line of customized knee implants designed to restore the natural shape of a patient’s knee.
The Company was incorporated in Delaware and commenced operations in 2004. The Company introduced its iUni and iDuo in 2007,
its iTotal CR in 2011 and its iTotal PS in 2015. The Company has its corporate offices in Billerica, Massachusetts.
Liquidity and operations
The accompanying Interim Consolidated Financial Statements as of March 31, 2017 and for the three months ended March 31, 2017
and 2016, and related interim information contained within the notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, have been prepared assuming
that the Company will continue as a going concern, which contemplates the realization of assets and satisfaction of liabilities in the normal
course of business. The Company's financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification of
recorded assets, or the amounts and classifications of liabilities that might be necessary should the Company be unable to continue as a going
concern.
Since the Company’s inception in June 2004, it has financed its operations primarily through private placements of preferred stock, its
initial public offering in July 2015, bank debt and convertible debt financings, equipment purchase loans, and product revenue beginning in
2007. The Company’s product revenue has continued to grow from year-to-year; however, the Company has not yet attained profitability and
continues to incur operating losses, which adversely impacts the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. At March 31, 2017, the
Company had an accumulated deficit of $400.4 million.
As of March 31, 2017, the Company had cash and cash equivalents and investments of $68.5 million and $0.8 million in restricted cash
allocated to lease deposits. As of December 31, 2016, the Company had cash and cash equivalents and investments of $65.5 million and $0.3
million in restricted cash allocated to lease deposits.
On January 6, 2017, the Company entered into a senior secured $50 million loan and security agreement with Oxford Finance LLC
("Oxford"). Through the term loan facility with Oxford, the Company initially accessed $15 million of borrowings, an additional funding of $15
million is available to the Company, at its option, through December 2017 and an additional $20 million is available, at its option, through
June 2018, in each case, subject to the satisfaction of certain revenue milestones and customary drawdown conditions. For further information
regarding this facility, see “Note I—Debt and Notes Payable—2017 Secured Loan Agreement” to the consolidated financial statements
appearing in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
Additionally, in January 2017, the Company filed a shelf registration statement on Form S-3 with the SEC. The shelf registration
statement allows the Company to sell from time to time up to $200 million of common stock, preferred stock, debt securities, warrants, or units
comprised of any combination of these securities, for its own account in one or more offerings. The shelf registration statement is intended to
provide the Company flexibility to conduct sales of its registered securities, subject to market conditions and our future capital needs. The terms
of any offering under the shelf registration statement will be established at the time of such offering and will be described in a prospectus
supplement filed with the SEC prior to the completion of any such offering. For further information regarding this shelf registration, see “Note M
—Subsequent Events” to the consolidated financial statements appearing in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
The Company anticipates that its principal sources of funds in the future will be revenue generated from the sales of its products,
borrowings under its 2017 Secured Loan Agreement subject to the satisfaction of certain revenue milestones, which it has achieved to
drawdown the second term loan of $15 million, as well as other
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customary drawdown conditions, future capital raises through the issuance of equity securities, and revenues that may be generated in
connection with licensing its intellectual property.
The Company expects that its existing cash and cash equivalents as of March 31, 2017, borrowings under its 2017 Secured Loan
Agreement, and anticipated revenue from operations, including from projected sales of its products, will enable the Company to fund its
operating expenses and capital expenditure requirements and pay its debt service as it becomes due for at least the next 12 months from the
date of filing. Management has based this expectation on assumptions that may prove to be wrong, such as the revenue that it expects to
generate from the sale of its products and the gross profit the Company expects to generate from those revenues, and it could use its capital
resources sooner than we expect.
In the event the Company’s resources are not sufficient to fund its operations, the Company may need to engage in equity or debt
financings to secure additional funds. The Company may not be able to obtain additional financing on terms favorable to the Company, or at all.
Basis of presentation and use of estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during
the reporting periods. The most significant estimates used in these consolidated financial statements include the valuation of accounts
receivable, inventory reserves, intangible valuation, equity instruments, impairment assessments, income tax reserves and related allowances,
and the lives of property and equipment. Actual results may differ from those estimates. The interim financial statements should be read in
conjunction with the audited financial statements and notes thereto included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2016.
Unaudited Interim Financial Information
The accompanying Interim Consolidated Financial Statements as of March 31, 2017 and for the three months ended March 31, 2017
and 2016, and related interim information contained within the notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements are unaudited. These unaudited
interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States,
or U.S. GAAP. In management’s opinion, the unaudited interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the same basis as the
audited financial statements and include all adjustments (including normal recurring adjustments) necessary for the fair presentation of the
Company’s financial position as of March 31, 2017, results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016, and its cash
flows for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016. The results for the three months ended March 31, 2017 are not necessarily
indicative of the results expected for the full fiscal year or any interim period.
Note B—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Concentrations of credit risk and other risks and uncertainties
Financial instruments that subject the Company to credit risk primarily consist of cash, cash equivalents and accounts receivable. The
Company maintains the majority of its cash with accredited financial institutions.
The Company and its contract manufacturers rely on sole source suppliers and service providers for certain components. There can be
no assurance that a shortage or stoppage of shipments of the materials or components that the Company purchases will not result in a delay in
production or adversely affect the Company’s business. The Company is in the process of validating alternate suppliers relative to certain key
components, which are expected to be phased in during the coming periods.
For the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016, no customer represented greater than 10% of revenue. There were no
customers that represented greater than 10% of total gross receivable balance at March 31, 2017 or December 31, 2016.
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Principles of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries including ImaTx, Inc.
("ImaTx"), ConforMIS Europe GmbH, ConforMIS UK Limited and ConforMIS Hong Kong Limited. All material intercompany balances and
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
Cash and cash equivalents
The Company considers all highly liquid investment instruments with original maturities of 90 days or less when purchased, to be cash
equivalents. The Company’s cash equivalents consist of demand deposits, money market accounts, corporate bonds, and repurchase
agreements on deposit with certain financial institutions, in addition to cash deposits in excess of federally insured limits. Demand deposits are
carried at cost which approximates their fair value. Money market accounts are carried at fair value based upon level 1 inputs. Corporate bonds
and repurchase agreements are valued using level 2 inputs. See “Note C—Fair Value Measurements” below. The associated risk of
concentration is mitigated by banking with credit worthy financial institutions.
The Company had $1.8 million and $1.6 million as of March 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively, held in foreign bank
accounts that are not federally insured. In addition, the Company has recorded restricted cash of $0.8 million and $0.3 million as of March 31,
2017 and December 31, 2016, respectively. Restricted cash consisted of security provided for lease obligations.
Investment Securities
The Company classifies its investment securities as available-for-sale. Those investments with maturities less than 12 months at the
date of purchase are considered short-term investments. Those investments with maturities greater than 12 months at the date of purchase are
considered long-term investments. The Company’s investment securities classified as available-for-sale are recorded at fair value based upon
quoted market prices at period end. Unrealized gains and losses, deemed temporary in nature, are reported as a separate component of
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).
A decline in the fair value of any security below cost that is deemed other than temporary results in a charge to earnings and the
corresponding establishment of a new cost basis for the security. Premiums (discounts) are amortized (accreted) over the life of the related
security using the constant yield method. Dividend and interest income are recognized when earned and reported in other income. Realized
gains and losses are included in earnings and are derived using the specific identification method for determining the cost of securities sold.
Fair value of financial instruments
Certain of the Company’s financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, excluding money market funds, accounts
receivable, accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities are carried at cost, which approximates their fair value because of the
short-term maturity. Based on borrowing rates currently available to the Company for loans with similar terms, the carrying value of the
Company’s long-term debt approximates its fair value.
Accounts receivable and allowance for doubtful accounts
Accounts receivable consist of billed and unbilled amounts due from medical facilities. Upon completion of a procedure, revenue is
recognized and unbilled receivable is recorded. Upon receipt of a purchase order number from a medical facility, a billed receivable is recorded
and the unbilled receivable is reversed. As a result, the unbilled receivable balance fluctuates based on the timing of the Company's receipt of
purchase order numbers from the medical facilities. In estimating whether accounts receivable can be collected, the Company performs
evaluations of customers and continuously monitors collections and payments and estimates an allowance for doubtful accounts based on the
aging of the underlying invoices, collections experience to date and any specific collection issues that have been identified. The allowance for
doubtful accounts is recorded in the period in which revenue is recorded or when collection risk is identified.
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Inventories
Inventories consist of raw materials, work-in-process components and finished goods. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost,
determined using the first-in first-out method, or market value. The Company regularly reviews its inventory quantities on hand and related cost
and records a provision for any excess or obsolete inventory based on its estimated forecast of product demand and existing product
configurations. The Company also reviews its inventory value to determine if it reflects the lower of cost or market, with market determined
based on net realizable value. Appropriate consideration is given to inventory items sold at negative gross margins, purchase commitments
and other factors in evaluating net realizable value. During the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016, the Company recognized
provisions in cost of revenue of $0.6 million and $0.4 million, respectively, to adjust its inventory value to the lower of cost or market for
estimated unused product related to known and potential cancelled cases.
Property and equipment
Property and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and is depreciated using the straight-line method over the
estimated useful lives of the respective assets. Leasehold improvements are amortized over their useful life or the life of the lease, whichever is
shorter. Assets capitalized under capital leases are amortized in accordance with the respective class of assets and the amortization is
included with depreciation expense. Maintenance and repair costs are expensed as incurred.
Intangibles and other long-lived assets
Intangible assets consist of developed technology and other intellectual property rights licensed from ImaTx as part of the spin-out
transaction in 2004. Intangible assets are carried at cost less accumulated amortization.
The Company tests impairment of long-lived assets when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the assets might be
impaired. For assets with determinable useful lives, amortization is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated economic lives
of the respective intangible assets. Furthermore, periodically the Company assesses whether long-lived assets, including intangible assets,
should be tested for recoverability whenever events or circumstances indicate that their carrying value may not be recoverable. The amount of
impairment, if any, is measured based on fair value, which is determined using estimated undiscounted cash flows to be generated from such
assets or group of assets. If the cash flow estimates or the significant operating assumptions upon which they are based change in the future,
the Company may be required to record impairment charges. During the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016, no such impairment
charges were recognized.
Goodwill
Goodwill relates to amounts that arose in connection with the acquisition of Imaging Therapeutics, Inc. (formerly known as
Osteonet.com, renamed ImaTx, Inc.) in 2009. The Company tests goodwill at least annually for impairment, or more frequently when events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the assets may be impaired. This impairment test is performed annually during the fourth quarter at the
reporting unit level. Goodwill may be considered impaired if the carrying value of the reporting unit, including goodwill, exceeds the reporting
unit’s fair value. The Company is comprised of one reporting unit. When testing goodwill for impairment, the Company first assesses the
qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of its reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. This
qualitative analysis is used as a basis for determining whether it is necessary to perform the two-step goodwill impairment analysis. If the
Company determines that it is more likely than not that its fair value is less than its carrying amount, then the two-step goodwill impairment test
will be performed. If the two-step approach is performed, the Company will estimate fair value of the reporting unit, which is typically estimated
using a discounted cash flow approach, and requires the use of assumptions and judgments including estimates of future cash flows and the
selection of discount rates. During the three months ended March 31, 2017, and 2016, there were no triggering events which would require an
interim goodwill impairment assessment.
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Revenue recognition
Product
The Company generates revenue from the sale of customized implants and instruments to medical facilities through the use of a
combination of direct sales personnel, independent sales representatives and distributors in the United States, Germany, the United Kingdom,
Ireland, Austria, Switzerland, Singapore, Hong Kong and Monaco.
Revenue is recognized when all of the following criteria are met:
•
•
•
•

persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists;
the sales price is fixed or determinable;
collection of the relevant receivable is probable at the time of sale; and
delivery has occurred or services have been rendered.

The Company recognizes revenue upon completion of the procedure, which represents satisfaction of the required revenue recognition
criteria. Once the revenue recognition criteria have been satisfied the Company does not offer rights of return or price protection and there are
no post-delivery obligations.
Royalty
The Company has accounted for its agreements with Wright Medical Group, Inc. and MicroPort Orthopedics, Inc. under the Financial
Accounting Standards Board’s ("FASB") Accounting Standards Codification
("ASC") 605-25, Multiple-Element Arrangements and Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104, Revenue Recognition (ASC 605). In accordance with
ASC 605, the Company is required to identify and account for each of the separate units of accounting. The Company identified the relative
selling price for each and then allocated the total consideration based on their relative values. In connection with these agreements, in
April 2015, the Company recognized in aggregate (i) back-owed royalties of $3.4 million as royalty revenue and (ii) the value attributable to the
settlements of $0.2 million as other income. Additionally, the Company recognized an initial $5.1 million in aggregate as deferred royalty
revenue, which is recognized as royalty revenue ratably through 2031. The on-going royalty from MicroPort is recognized as royalty revenue
upon receipt of payment.
Shipping and handling costs
Amounts invoiced to customers for shipping and handling are classified as revenue. Shipping and handling costs incurred are included
in general and administrative expense. Shipping and handling expense was $0.4 million and $0.6 million for three months ended March 31,
2017, and 2016, respectively.
Taxes collected from customers and remitted to government authorities
The Company’s policy is to present taxes collected from customers and remitted to government authorities on a net basis and not to
include tax amounts in revenue.
Research and development expense
The Company’s research and development costs consist of engineering, product development, quality assurance, clinical and
regulatory expense. These costs primarily relate to employee compensation, including salary, benefits and stock-based compensation. The
Company also incurs costs related to consulting fees, materials and supplies, and marketing studies, including data management and
associated travel expense. Research and development costs are expensed as incurred.
Advertising expense
Advertising costs are expensed as incurred, which are included in sales and marketing. Advertising expense was $0.1 million for each
of the three months ended March 31, 2017, and 2016.
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Segment reporting
Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate financial information is available and is
evaluated on a regular basis by the chief operating decision-maker, or decision-making group, in deciding how to allocate resources to an
individual segment and in assessing performance of the segment. The Company’s chief operating decision-maker is its chief executive officer.
The Company’s chief executive officer reviews financial information presented on an aggregate basis for purposes of allocating resources and
evaluating financial performance. The Company has one business segment and there are no segment managers who are held accountable for
operations, operating results and plans for products or components below the aggregate Company level. Accordingly, in light of the Company’s
current product offerings, management has determined that the primary form of internal reporting is aligned with the offering of the ConforMIS
customized joint replacement products and that the Company operates as one segment. See “Note L—Segment and Geographic Data”.
Comprehensive loss
At March 31, 2017 and 2016, accumulated other comprehensive loss consists of foreign currency translation adjustments and changes
in unrealized gain and loss of available-for-sale securities, net of tax.
The following table summarizes accumulated beginning and ending balances for each item in Accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss).
Foreign currency
translation
adjustments

Balance December 31, 2016

$

506

Change in period
Balance March 31, 2017

Change in unrealized gain
(loss) on available-for-sale
securities, net of tax

$

(7) $

$

(16) $

(354)
$

152

Accumulated other
comprehensive income
(loss)

(9)

499
(363)
136

Foreign currency translation and transactions
The assets and liabilities of the Company’s foreign operations are translated into U.S. dollars at current exchange rates at the balance
sheet date, and income and expense items are translated at average rates of exchange prevailing during the quarter. Gains and losses realized
from transactions denominated in foreign currencies, including intercompany balances not of a long-term investment nature, are included in the
consolidated statements of operations.
Income taxes
Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax
consequences attributable to differences between the consolidated financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and
their respective tax bases, operating losses and tax credit carry forwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax
rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect
on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized as income in the period that includes the enactment date.
In evaluating the need for a valuation allowance, the Company considers all reasonably available positive and negative evidence,
including recent earnings, expectations of future taxable income and the character of that income. In estimating future taxable income, the
Company relies upon assumptions and estimates of future activity including the reversal of temporary differences. Presently, the Company
believes that a full valuation allowance is required to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized.
The tax benefit from an uncertain tax position is only recognized if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained on
examination by the taxing authorities, based on the technical merits of the position. The tax benefits recognized in the consolidated financial
statements from these positions are measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than fifty percent likelihood of being realized
upon ultimate resolution.
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The Company reviews its tax positions on an annual basis and more frequently as facts surrounding tax positions change. Based on
these future events, the Company may recognize uncertain tax positions or reverse current uncertain tax positions, the impact of which would
affect the consolidated financial statements.
The Company has operations in Germany and the United Kingdom. The operating results of these operations will be permanently
reinvested in those jurisdictions. As a result, the Company has only provided for income taxes at local rates when required.
Accounting Standard Update ("ASU'") No. 2016-09, "Compensation - Stock Compensation", was issued and adopted in January 2017.
ASU 2016-09 eliminates additional paid in capital ("APIC") pools and requires excess tax benefits and tax deficiencies to be recorded in the
income statement when the awards vest or are settled. In addition, modified retrospective adoption of ASC 2016-09 eliminates the requirement
that excess tax benefits be realized (i.e., through a reduction in income taxes payable) before we can recognize them and therefore, we have
accounted for a cumulative-effect adjustment of $7.7 million during the quarter ended March 31, 2017 to record excess tax benefits. Since the
Company has a full valuation allowance on all deferred taxes, this has no impact on retained earnings or the tax position of the Company.
The Company is subject to U.S. federal, state, and foreign income taxes. The Company recorded a provision for income taxes of
approximately $7,000 and $4,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to income taxes as a component of income tax expense. As of March 31, 2017
and December 31, 2016, $15,000 and $13,000 of interest and penalties have been accrued, respectively.
Medical device excise tax
The Company is subject to the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010 (the “Act”), which imposes a tax equal to 2.3% on
the sales price of any taxable medical device by a medical device manufacturer, producer or importer of such device. Under the Act, a taxable
medical device is any device defined in section 201(h) of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, intended for humans, which includes an
instrument, apparatus, implement, machine, contrivance, implant, in vitro reagent, or other similar or related article, including any component,
part, or accessory, which meets certain requirements. The Consolidated Appropriations Act of 2016 includes a two-year moratorium on the
medical device excise tax, which moratorium suspended taxes on the sale of a taxable medical device by the manufacturer, producer, or
importer of the device during the period beginning on January 1, 2016 and ending on December 31, 2017. As such, the Company did not incur
medical device excise tax expense in the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016.
Stock-based compensation
The Company accounts for stock-based compensation in accordance with ASC 718, Stock Based Compensation. ASC 718 requires
all stock-based payments to employees and consultants, including grants of stock options, to be recognized in the consolidated statements of
operations based on their fair values. The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the weighted-average fair value
of options granted and recognizes the compensation expense of stock-based awards on a straight-line basis over the vesting period of the
award.
The determination of the fair value of stock-based payment awards utilizing the Black-Scholes option pricing model is affected by the
stock price, exercise price, and a number of assumptions, including expected volatility of the stock, expected life of the option, risk-free interest
rate and expected dividends on the stock. The Company evaluates the assumptions used to value the awards at each grant date and if factors
change and different assumptions are utilized, stock-based compensation expense may differ significantly from what has been recorded in the
past. If there are any modifications or cancellations of the underlying unvested securities, the Company may be required to accelerate, increase
or cancel any remaining unearned stock-based compensation expense. See “Note K—Stockholders’ Equity” for a summary of the stock option
activity under the Company’s stock-based compensation plan.
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Net loss per share
The Company calculates net loss per share in accordance with ASC 260, "Earnings per Share". Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) is
calculated by dividing the net income or loss for the period by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period,
without consideration for common stock equivalents.
Diluted EPS is computed by dividing the net income or loss for the period by the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding for the period and the weighted average number of dilutive common stock equivalents outstanding for the period determined using
the treasury stock method.
The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to stockholders (in thousands, except
share and per share data):
Three Months Ended March 31,
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

2017

2016

Numerator:
Numerator for basic and diluted loss per share:
Net loss

$

(17,160)

$

(15,034)

Denominator:
Denominator for basic loss per share:
Weighted average shares

42,874,743

40,993,485

Basic loss per share attributable to ConforMIS, Inc. stockholders

$

(0.40)

$

(0.37)

Diluted loss per share attributable to ConforMIS, Inc. stockholders

$

(0.40)

$

(0.37)

The following table sets forth potential shares of common stock equivalents that are not included in the calculation of diluted net loss
per share because to do so would be anti-dilutive as of the end of each period presented:
Three Months Ended March 31,
2017

Common stock warrants

2016

—

93,080

Stock options and restricted stock awards

863,228

2,664,852

Total

863,228

2,757,932

Recent accounting pronouncements
In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-04, "Intangibles- Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Simplifying the Test for Goodwill
Impairment". This ASU removes the second step of the two-step test to determine goodwill impairment previously required. Entities will now
apply a one-step quantitative test and record the amount of goodwill impairment as the excess of a reporting unit's carrying amount over its fair
value, not to exceed the total amount of goodwill allocated to the reporting unit. The new guidance does not amend the optional qualitative
assessment of goodwill impairment. The guidance will be effective the first quarter of 2020, with early adoption permitted. The Company is
currently evaluating the impact of this pronouncement on its consolidated financial statements and expects to adopt this pronouncement
commencing the first quarter of 2020.
In November 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-18, “Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230) Restricted Cash a consensus of the
FASB Emerging Issues Task Force”. The standard requires restricted cash and cash equivalents to be included with cash and cash equivalents
on the statement of cash flows. The guidance will be effective in the first quarter of 2018, with early adoption permitted. The Company
evaluated the impact of this pronouncement noting the Company's cash flow disclosure currently reflects ASU No. 2016-18 disclosure
requirements. The Company expects to adopt this pronouncement commencing in the first quarter of 2018.
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-12, "Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Narrow-Scope Improvements
and Practical Expedients", which provides guidance for accounting of credit losses affecting the impairment model for most financial assets and
certain other instruments. Entities will be required to use a new forward-looking current expected credit loss model for trade and other
receivables, held-to-maturity debt securities, loans and other instruments, which will generally lead to an earlier recognition of loss allowances.
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Entities will recognize losses on available-for-sale debt securities as allowances rather than a reduction in amortized cost of the security while
the measurement process of this loss does not change. Disclosure requirements are expanded regarding an entity’s assumptions, models and
methods of estimations of the allowance. The guidance will be effective in the first quarter of 2018, with the option for early adoption. The
Company is currently evaluating the impact of this pronouncement on its consolidated financial statements and expects to adopt this
pronouncement commencing in the first quarter of 2018.
In April 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-10, "Identifying Performance Obligations and Licensing". This ASU clarifies two aspects of
ASU 2014-09, "Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): identifying performance obligations and the licensing implementation
guidance". ASU 2016-10 will become effective for the first quarter of 2018. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this
pronouncement on its consolidated financial statements and expects to adopt this pronouncement commencing in the first quarter of 2018.
In March 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-08, "Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Principal versus Agent
Considerations (Reporting Revenue Gross versus Net)", which clarifies the implementation guidance on principal versus agent considerations.
The guidance includes indicators to assist an entity in determining whether it controls a specified good or service before it is transferred to the
customers. This guidance will be effective in the first quarter of 2018, with the option to adopt it in the first quarter of 2017. The Company does
not anticipate the pronouncement will have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements and expects to adopt this pronouncement
commencing in the first quarter of 2018.
In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, "Leases (Topic 842)." This ASU amends various aspects of existing guidance for
leases and requires additional disclosures about leasing arrangements. It will require companies to recognize lease assets and lease liabilities
by lessees for those leases classified as operating leases under GAAP. Topic 842 retains a distinction between finance leases and operating
leases. The classification criteria for distinguishing between finance leases and operating leases are substantially similar to the classification
criteria for distinguishing between capital leases and operating leases in the previous leases guidance. This ASU is effective for annual periods
beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim periods within those fiscal years; earlier adoption is permitted. In the financial statements
in which the ASU is first applied, leases shall be measured and recognized at the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented with
an adjustment to equity. Practical expedients are available for election as a package and if applied consistently to all leases. The Company is
currently evaluating the impact of this pronouncement on its consolidated financial statements and expects to adopt this pronouncement
commencing in the first quarter of 2019.
In November 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-17, "'Income Taxes (Topic 740): Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes",
which eliminates the current requirement for organizations to present deferred tax liabilities and assets as current and noncurrent in a classified
balance sheet. Instead, organizations will be required to classify all deferred tax assets and liabilities as noncurrent. This guidance is effective
for public companies financial statements issued for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2016, and interim periods within those
annual periods. The Company adopted ASU 2015-17 effective January 1, 2017 on a prospective basis. Since the Company has a full valuation
allowance, adoption of ASU 20105-17 had no impact on its consolidated financial statements.
In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-9, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606)”. ASU 2014-9 outlines a single
comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers and supersedes most current revenue
recognition guidance, including industry-specific guidance. This new guidance was to be effective for annual reporting periods (including interim
reporting periods within those periods) beginning after December 15, 2017; early adoption was permitted for annual reporting periods beginning
after December 15, 2016, including interim reporting periods within those annual periods. Companies have the option of using either a full
retrospective or a modified retrospective approach to adopt the guidance. In August 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-14 to defer the effective
date of the guidance contained in ASU 2014-9 by one year. Thus, the guidance is effective for the Company commencing in the first quarter of
2018. The Company is currently assessing the impact of this guidance on its results of operations and related disclosures. Based on the
procedures performed to date, nothing has come to the Company's attention that would indicate that the adoption of ASU 2014-09 will have a
material impact on its accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers; however, adoption of this ASU will require additional
disclosure around the Company's revenue recognition in its financial statements, however, the Company has undertaken an assessment
process to evaluate the impact expects to complete this assessment later in 2017. The Company expects to adopt this pronouncement and
related disclosures commencing in the first quarter of 2018.
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Reclassification
During 2016, the Company identified that certain costs of revenue related to unused product in connection with known and potential
cancelled cases had been improperly classified as sales and marketing expense. The Company concluded that the prior classification was an
error and that it is immaterial to all annual and quarterly periods previously presented. To facilitate period-over-period comparisons, the
Company revised its prior period financial statements to reflect the corrections in the period in which the expenses were incurred. The
Company reclassified $0.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016 from sales and marketing to cost of revenue. These
reclassifications did not have any impact on loss from operations, net loss, net loss per share or accumulated deficit.
Change in accounting policy regarding share-based compensation
Effective January 1, 2017, the Company elected to change its accounting policy to recognize forfeitures as they occur in accordance
with ASU 2016-09, "Compensation - Stock Compensation". Historically, the Company recognized share-based compensation net of estimated
forfeitures over the vesting period of the respective grant. The new forfeiture policy election was adopted using a modified retrospective
approach with a cumulative effect adjustment of $0.3 million to accumulated deficit and an offset to additional paid-in capital ("APIC") as of
January 1, 2017.
ASU No. 2016-09, "Compensation - Stock Compensation", was issued and adopted in January 2017. ASU 2016-09 eliminates APIC
pools and requires excess tax benefits and tax deficiencies to be recorded in the income statement when the awards vest or are settled. In
addition, modified retrospective adoption of ASC 2016-09 eliminates the requirement that excess tax benefits be realized (i.e., through a
reduction in income taxes payable) before we can recognize them and therefore, we have accounted for a cumulative-effect adjustment of $7.7
million during the quarter ended March 31, 2017 to record excess tax benefits. Since the Company has a full valuation allowance on all
deferred taxes, this has no impact on retained earnings or the tax position of the Company.
Note C—Fair Value Measurements
The Fair Value Measurements topic of the FASB Codification establishes a framework for measuring fair value in accordance with
US GAAP, clarifies the definition of fair value within that framework and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. This guidance
requires disclosure regarding the manner in which fair value is determined for assets and liabilities and establishes a three-tiered value
hierarchy into which these assets and liabilities must be grouped, based upon significant levels of inputs as follows:
Level 1—Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2—Observable inputs, other than Level 1 prices, such as quoted prices in active markets for similar assets and liabilities, quoted prices
for identical or similar assets and liabilities in markets that are not active, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by
observable market data.
Level 3—Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.
This includes certain pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies and similar techniques that use significant unobservable inputs.
The Company's investment policy is consistent with the definition of available-for-sale securities. All investments have been classified
within Level 1 or Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy because of the sufficient observable inputs for revaluation. The Company's Level 1 cash and
equivalents and investments are valued using quoted prices that are readily and regularly available in the active market. The Company’s Level
2 investments are valued at par value or using third-party pricing sources based on observable inputs, such as quoted prices for similar assets
at the measurement date; or other inputs that are observable, either directly or indirectly.
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The following table summarizes, by major security type, the Company's assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis and
are categorized using the fair value hierarchy and where they are classified on the Consolidated Balance Sheets (in thousands):
March 31, 2017

Amortized Cost

Cash

$

Gross Unrealized
Gains

Gross Unrealized Losses

Estimated Fair
Value

Cash and cash
equivalents

Short-term (1)
investments

Long-term (2)
investments

9,276 $

— $

— $

9,276 $

9,276 $

— $

—

8,119

—

—

8,119

8,119

—

—
—

Level 1 securities:
Money market funds
Level 2 securities:
Corporate bonds

8,927

1

(3)

8,925

1,000

7,925

Commercial paper

5,983

—

—

5,983

1,997

3,986

Agency bonds

20,205

1

(15)

20,191

—

15,999

4,192

Repurchase agreements

16,000

—

—

16,000

16,000

—

—

68,494 $

36,392 $

$

Total

December 31, 2016
Cash

68,510 $

Amortized Cost

$

8,504 $

2 $

Gross Unrealized Gains

(18) $

Gross Unrealized Losses

— $

— $

28,753

—

—

Estimated Fair
Value

27,910 $

Cash and cash
equivalents

8,504 $

4,192

Short-term (1)
investments

8,504 $

—

Level 1 securities:
Money market funds

28,753

28,753

—

Level 2 securities:
Corporate Bonds
Agency bonds
$

Total

6,701

—

(4)

6,697

—

6,697

21,548

—

(3)

21,545

—

21,545

65,506 $

— $

(7) $

65,499 $

37,257 $

28,242

(1) Contractual maturity due within one year.
(2) Contractual maturity greater than one year.

Note D—Accounts Receivable
Accounts receivable consisted of the following (in thousands):
March 31,
2017

Total receivables

December 31,
2016

$

13,754

$

13,052

Allowance for doubtful accounts and returns

$

15,356

$

14,675

(702)

Accounts receivable, net

(681)

Accounts receivable included unbilled receivable of $1.9 million and $2.5 million at March 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016,
respectively. Write-offs related to accounts receivable were approximately $8,000 and $0 for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and
2016, respectively.
Summary of allowance for doubtful accounts and returns activity was as follows (in thousands):
March 31, 2017

Beginning balance
Provision for bad debts on trade receivables
Other allowances
Accounts receivable write offs
Ending balance

$

15

December 31, 2016

(681)

(554)

(29)

(188)

—

20

8

41

(702)

$

(681)

Note E—Inventories
Inventories consisted of the following (in thousands):
March 31,
2017

Raw Material

$

December 31,
2016

3,887

Work in process

$

3,331

2,163

Finished goods

2,530

5,333

Total Inventories

$

11,383

5,859
$

11,720

At March 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, inventories included write-downs of $0.2 million related to units affected by the recall and
sterilization capacity limitation.
Note F—Intangible Assets
The components of intangible assets consisted of the following (in thousands):
Estimated
Useful Life
(Years)

Developed technology

10

March 31, 2017

$

Accumulated amortization
Developed technology, net
License agreements

10

Accumulated amortization
License technology, net

979

December 31, 2016

$

979

(705)

(681)

274

298

1,508

1,508

(1,098)

(1,060)

410

Intangible assets, net

10

$

684

448
$

746

The Company recognized amortization expense of $0.1 million in the three months ended March 31, 2017, and 2016. The weightedaverage remaining life of total amortizable intangible assets is 2.75 years for the developed technology and license agreements.
The estimated future aggregated amortization expense for intangible assets owned as of March 31, 2017 consisted of the following (in
thousands):
Amortization
expense

2017 (remainder of the year)

$

186

2018

249

2019

249
$

16

684

Note G—Accrued Expenses
Accrued expenses consisted of the following (in thousands):
March 31,
2017

Accrued employee compensation

$

Deferred rent
Accrued legal expense
Accrued consulting expense
Accrued vendor charges
Accrued revenue share expense
Accrued settlement costs
Accrued clinical trial expense
Accrued other
$

December 31,
2016

4,592

$

4,037

53

101

962

710

40

104

890

1,396

1,032

992

147

—

134

256

1,025

896

8,875

$

8,492

Note H—Commitments and Contingencies
Operating Leases - Real Estate
The Company maintains its corporate headquarters in a leased building located in Billerica, Massachusetts. The Company moved its
corporate headquarters from Bedford, Massachusetts in April 2017. The Company maintains its manufacturing facility in a leased facility in
Wilmington, Massachusetts.
The Billerica facility is leased under a long-term, non-cancellable lease that is scheduled to expire in October 2025. The Company
leased the Bedford facility under a long-term, non-cancellable sublease that was set to expire in April 2017. In April 2017, the Company and the
landlord of the Bedford facility agreed to a holdover of 30 days beyond the lease termination through May 31, 2017. During this time, certain of
the Company's employees will remain in the Bedford facility until relocating to the Wilmington facility in May 2017. The Wilmington facility is
leased under a long-term, non-cancellable lease that will expire in March 2022. The Company also leases satellite facilities under short-term
non-cancellable operating leases.
On July 25, 2016, the Company entered into an amendment to the Wilmington Lease. Pursuant to the amendment, the Company
exercised an option in its current lease to rent an additional 18,223 square feet of space adjacent to the Company’s existing premises. The
Company took possession of the additional space in April 2017. The Company has a right to extend the initial term for one additional five-year
period. The initial base rental rate for the additional space is $0.2 million annually, subject to 2% annual increases until the expiration of the
initial term.
Rent expense of $0.4 million for each of the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively, was charged to operations.
The Company’s real estate operating lease agreements contain scheduled rent increases, which are being amortized over the terms of the
agreements using the straight-line method. Deferred rent was approximately $0.2 million as of March 31, 2017 and $0.3 million as of
December 31, 2016. Deferred rent is included in accrued expenses and other long-term liabilities.
License and revenue share agreements
Revenue share agreements
The Company is party to revenue share agreements with certain past and present members of its scientific advisory board under which
these advisors agreed to participate on its scientific advisory board and to assist with the development of the Company’s customized implant
products and related intellectual property. These agreements provide that the Company will pay the advisor a specified percentage of the
Company’s net revenues, ranging from 0.1% to 1.33%, with respect to the Company’s products on which the advisor made a technical
contribution or, in some cases, which the Company covered by a claim of one of its patents on which the advisor is a named inventor. The
specific percentage is determined by reference to product classifications set forth in the agreement and is tiered based on the level of net
revenues collected by the Company on such product sales. The
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Company’s payment obligations under these agreements typically expire a fixed number of years after expiration or termination of the
agreement, but in some cases expire on a product-by-product basis or expiration of the last to expire of the Company’s patents where the
advisor is a named inventor that claims the applicable product.
Philipp Lang, M.D., one of the Company’s directors and former Chief Executive Officer, joined the Company’s scientific advisory board
in 2004 prior to becoming an employee. The Company first entered into a revenue share agreement with Dr. Lang in 2008 when he became the
Company’s Chief Executive Officer. In 2011, the Company entered into an amended and restated revenue share agreement with Dr. Lang.
Under this agreement, the specified percentage of the Company’s net revenues payable to Dr. Lang ranges from 0.875% to 1.33% and applies
to all of the Company’s current products, including the Company’s iUni, iDuo, iTotal Cr and iTotal PS products, as well as certain other knee, hip
and shoulder replacement products and related instrumentation the Company may develop in the future. The Company’s payment obligations
under this agreement expire on a product-by-product basis on the last to expire of the Company’s patents on which Dr. Lang is named an
inventor that claim the applicable product. These payment obligations survived the termination of Dr. Lang’s employment with the Company.
The Company incurred revenue share expense paid to Dr. Lang of $258,000 and $249,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2017, and
2016, respectively.
The Company incurred aggregate revenue share expense including all amounts payable under the Company’s scientific advisory board
and Dr. Lang revenue share agreements of $970,000 during the three months ended March 31, 2017, representing 4.76% of product revenue,
and $847,000 during the three months ended March 31, 2016, representing 4.24% of product revenue. Revenue share expense is included in
research and development. See “Note J—Related Party Transactions” for further information regarding the Company’s arrangement with Dr.
Lang.
Other obligations
In the ordinary course of business, the Company is a party to certain non-cancellable contractual obligations typically related to
research and development and marketing services. The Company accrues a liability for such matters when it is probable that future
expenditures will be made and such expenditures can be reasonably estimated.
There have been no contingent liabilities requiring accrual at March 31, 2017 or December 31, 2016.
Legal proceedings
In the ordinary course of the Company's business, the Company is subject to litigation, claims and administrative proceedings on a
variety of matters, including patent infringement, product liability, securities-related claims, and other claims in the United States and in other
countries where the Company sells its products. An estimate of the possible loss or range of loss as a result of any of these matters cannot be
made; however, management does not believe that these matters, individually or in the aggregate, are material to its financial condition, results
of operations or cash flows.
On February 29, 2016, the Company filed a lawsuit against Smith & Nephew, Inc. (“Smith & Nephew”) in the United States District
Court for the District of Massachusetts Eastern Division, which was amended on June 13, 2016 (the "Smith & Nephew Lawsuit"). The Smith &
Nephew Lawsuit alleges that Smith & Nephew’s Visionaire® patient-specific instrumentation as well as the implants systems used in
conjunction with the Visionaire instrumentation infringe nine of the Company's patents, and it requests, among other relief, monetary damages
for willful infringement, enhanced damages and a permanent injunction.
On May 27, 2016, Smith & Nephew filed an Answer and Counterclaims in response to the Company's lawsuit, which it subsequently
amended on July 22, 2016. Smith & Nephew denied that its Visionaire® patient-specific instrumentation as well as the implants systems used
in conjunction with the Visionaire instrumentation infringe the patents asserted by the Company in the lawsuit. It also alleged two affirmative
defenses: that the Company's asserted patents are invalid and that the Company is barred from relief under the doctrine of laches. In addition,
Smith & Nephew asserted a series of counterclaims, including counterclaims seeking declaratory judgments that Smith & Nephew’s accused
products do not infringe the Company's patents and that the Company's patents are invalid. Smith & Nephew also alleged that ConforMIS
infringes ten patents owned or exclusively licensed by Smith & Nephew: two patents that Smith & Nephew alleges are infringed by the
Company's iUni and iDuo products; three patents that Smith & Nephew alleges are infringed by the Company's iTotal products; and five patents
that Smith &
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Nephew licenses from Kinamed, Inc. of Camarillo, California and that it alleges are infringed by the Company's iUni, iDuo and iTotal products.
Due to Smith & Nephew’s licensing arrangement with Kinamed, Kinamed was named as a party to the lawsuit. Smith & Nephew and Kinamed
requested, among other relief, monetary damages for willful infringement, enhanced damages and a permanent injunction. On March 9, 2017,
the Court entered a stipulation of dismissal by the parties that dismissed from the lawsuit eight patents asserted by Smith & Nephew, including
the patents involving Kinamed, and two patents asserted by ConforMIS.
Between September 21, 2016 and March 1, 2017, Smith & Nephew filed sixteen petitions with the United States Patent & Trademark
Office (“USPTO”) requesting Inter Partes Review of the nine patents that the Company asserted in against Smith & Nephew in the lawsuit. In its
petitions, Smith & Nephew alleges that the Company's patents are obvious in light of certain prior art.
On January 27, 2017, Smith & Nephew filed a motion seeking a stay of the Smith & Nephew Lawsuit until any requested Inter Partes
Reviews are resolved, and the Company filed an opposition to that motion. The Company is presently unable to predict the outcome of the
motion to stay the proceedings, the existing petitions requesting Inter Partes Review of the Company's patents, or of any other petitions
requesting Inter Partes Review that Smith & Nephew or any other party may file, including whether the USPTO will institute any of the
requested Inter Partes Reviews, or, if instituted, the outcome of any such Inter Partes Reviews. An adverse outcome of some or all of these
potential Inter Partes Review proceedings and lawsuit could have a material adverse effect on the Company's business, financial condition or
results of operations. The Company is presently unable to predict the outcome of the lawsuit or to reasonably estimate a range of potential
losses, if any, related to the lawsuit.
Legal costs associated with legal proceedings are accrued as incurred.
Indemnifications
In the normal course of business, the Company enters into contracts and agreements that contain a variety of representations and
warranties and provide for general indemnifications. The Company’s exposure under these agreements is unknown because it involves claims
that may be made against the Company in the future, but have not yet been made. To date, the Company has not paid any claims or been
required to defend any action related to its indemnification obligations. However, the Company may record charges in the future as a result of
these indemnification obligations. In accordance with its bylaws, the Company has indemnification obligations to its officers and directors for
certain events or occurrences, subject to certain limits, while they are serving at the Company’s request in such capacity. There have been no
claims to date and the Company has a director and officer insurance policy that enables it to recover a portion of any amounts paid for future
claims.
Note I—Debt and Notes Payable
Long-term debt consisted of the following (in thousands):
March 31,
2017

Oxford Finance, LLC

December 31,
2016

15,000

Less debt issuance costs

—

(282)

Long-term debt, less debt issuance costs

—

14,718

—

The principal payments due as of March 31, 2017 consisted of the following (in thousands):
Principal
Payment

2017 (remainder of the year)

$

—

2018

—

2019

4,583

2020

5,000

2021

5,000

2022

417

Total

$

19

15,000

2017 Secured Loan Agreement
On January 6, 2017, the Company entered into a senior secured $50 million loan and security agreement with Oxford. Through the
term loan facility with Oxford, the Company initially accessed $15 million of borrowings, and an additional funding of $15 million is available to
the Company, at its option, through December 2017 and an additional $20 million is available, at its option, through June 2018, in each case,
subject to the satisfaction of certain revenue milestones and customary drawdown conditions. On March 9, 2017, the term loan facility with
Oxford was amended to include an additional revenue milestone in order for the Company to drawdown the second and third tranches.
The credit facility is secured by substantially all of the Company’s personal property other than the Company’s intellectual property.
Under the terms of the credit facility, the Company cannot grant a security interest in its intellectual property to any other party.
The term loan under the credit facility bears interest at a floating annual rate calculated at the greater of 30 day LIBOR or 0.53%, plus
6.47%. The Company is required to make monthly interest only payments in arrears commencing on the second payment date following the
funding date of each term loan, and continuing on the payment date of each successive month thereafter through and including the payment
date immediately preceding the amortization date of February 1, 2019 (subject to extension to February 1, 2020 if the Company draws the
second tranche of $15 million loans under the term loan facility). Commencing on the amortization date, and continuing on the payment date of
each month thereafter, the Company is required to make consecutive equal monthly payments of principal of each term loan, together with
accrued interest, in arrears, to Oxford. All unpaid principal, accrued and unpaid interest with respect to each term loan, and a final payment in
the amount of 5.0% of the amount of loans advanced, is due and payable in full on the term loan maturity date. The term loan facility has a
term of five years and matures on January 1, 2022.
At the Company’s option, the Company may prepay all, but not less than all, of the term loans advanced by Oxford under the term loan
facility, subject to a prepayment fee and an amount equal to the sum of all outstanding principal of the term loans plus accrued and unpaid
interest thereon through the prepayment date, a final payment, plus all other amounts that are due and payable, including Oxford's expenses
and interest at the default rate with respect to any past due amounts.
The credit facility also includes events of default, the occurrence and continuation of which could cause interest to be charged at the
rate that is otherwise applicable plus 5.0% and would provide Oxford, as collateral agent with the right to exercise remedies against us and the
collateral securing the credit facility, including foreclosure against assets securing the credit facilities, including the Company’s cash. These
events of default include, among other things, the Company’s failure to pay any amounts due under the credit facility, a breach of covenants
under the credit facility, including, among other customary debt covenants, achieving certain revenue levels and limiting the amount of cash
and cash equivalents held by the Company's foreign subsidiaries, the Company’s insolvency, a material adverse change, the occurrence of any
default under certain other indebtedness in an amount greater than $500,000, one or more judgments against the Company in an amount
greater than $500,000, a material adverse change with respect to any governmental approval and any delisting event.
Note J—Related Party Transactions
Vertegen
In April 2007, the Company entered into a license agreement with Vertegen, Inc., or Vertegen, which was amended in May 2015 (the
“Vertegen Agreement”). Vertegen is an entity that is wholly owned by Dr. Lang, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer. Under the Vertegen
Agreement, Vertegen granted the Company an exclusive, worldwide license under specified Vertegen patent rights and related technology to
make, use and sell products and services in the fields of diagnosis and treatment of articular disorders and disorders of the human spine. The
company may sublicense the rights licensed to it by Vertegen. The Company is required to use commercially reasonable efforts, at its sole
expense, to prosecute the patent applications licensed to the Company by Vertegen. Pursuant to the Vertegen Agreement, the Company is
required to pay Vertegen a 6% royalty on net sales of products covered by the patents licensed to the Company by Vertegen, the subject
matter of which is directed primarily to spinal implants, and any proceeds from the Company enforcing the patent rights licensed to the
Company by Vertegen. Such 6% royalty rate will be reduced to 3% in the United States during the five-year period following the expiration of
the last-to-expire applicable patent in the United States and in the rest of the world during
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the five-year period following the expiration of the last-to-expire patent anywhere in the world. The Company has not sold any products subject
to this agreement and has paid no royalties under this agreement. The Company has paid approximately $150,000 in expenses as of
March 31, 2017 in connection with the filing and prosecution of the patent applications licensed to the Company by Vertegen.
The Vertegen Agreement may be terminated by the Company at any time by providing notice to Vertegen. In addition, Vertegen may
terminate the Vertegen Agreement in its entirety if the Company is in material breach of the agreement, and the Company fails to cure such
breach during a specified period.
Revenue share agreements
As described in Note H, the Company is a party to certain agreements with advisors to participate as a member of the Company’s
scientific advisory board. In September 2011, the Company entered into an amended and restated revenue share agreement with Philipp
Lang, M.D., one of the Company’s directors and former Chief Executive Officer, which amended and restated a similar agreement entered into
in 2008 when Dr. Lang stepped down as chair of the Company’s scientific advisory board and became the Company’s Chief Executive Officer.
This agreement provides that the Company will pay Dr. Lang a specified percentage of its net revenues, ranging from 0.875% to 1.33%, with
respect to all of its current and planned products, including the Company’s iUni, iDuo, iTotal CR, and iTotal PS products, as well as certain other
knee, hip and shoulder replacement products and related instrumentation the Company may develop in the future. The specific percentage is
determined by reference to product classifications set forth in the agreement and is tiered based on the level of net revenues collected by the
Company on such product sales. The Company’s payment obligations expire on a product-by-product basis on the last to expire of the
Company’s patents on which Dr. Lang is a named inventor that claim the applicable product. These payment obligations survived the
termination of Dr. Lang’s employment with the Company. The Company incurred revenue share expense paid to Dr. Lang of $258,000 and
$249,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively.
Note K—Stockholders’ Equity
Common stock
Common stockholders are entitled to dividends as and when declared by the board of directors, subject to the rights of holders of all
classes of stock outstanding having priority rights as to dividends. There have been no dividends declared to date. The holder of each share of
common stock was entitled to one vote.
Summary of common stock activity was as follows:
Shares

Outstanding December 31, 2016

43,399,547

Issuance of common stock - option exercises

448,479

Issuance of restricted common stock, net of forfeitures

(7,708)

Outstanding March 31, 2017

43,840,318

Preferred stock
The Company’s Restated Certificate of Incorporation authorizes the Company to issue 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock, $0.00001
par value, all of which is undesignated. No shares were issued and outstanding at March 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016.
Warrants
The Company also issued warrants to certain investors and consultants to purchase shares of the Company’s preferred stock and
common stock. Based on the Company’s assessment of the warrants granted in 2013 and 2014 relative to ASC 480, Distinguishing Liabilities
from Equity, the warrants are classified as equity. No new warrants were issued in the three months ended March 31, 2017. According to ASC
480, an entity shall classify as a liability any financial instrument, other than an outstanding share, that, at inception, both a) embodies an
obligation to repurchase the issuer’s equity shares, or is indexed to such obligation and b) requires or may require the issuer to settle the
obligation by transferring assets. The warrants do not contain any provision that requires the
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Company to repurchase the shares and are not indexed to such an obligation. The warrants also do not require the Company to settle by
transferring assets.
All warrants were exercisable immediately upon issuance. Upon the conversion of the Company’s preferred stock into common stock in
connection with the closing of the Company’s IPO, all outstanding warrants to purchase preferred stock instead became warrants to purchase
shares of common stock at a ratio of one share of common stock for every two shares of preferred stock.
Common stock warrants
The Company also issued warrants to certain investors and consultants to purchase 1,138,424 shares of common stock at an exercise
price range of $0.02 to $9.00 per share. Additionally, certain warrants to purchase shares of preferred stock were converted to 564,188
warrants to purchase 564,188 shares of common stock. Warrants to purchase 171,783 shares of common stock were outstanding as of
March 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016. Outstanding warrants are currently exercisable with varying expiration dates from 2017 through 2024.
At March 31, 2017 and December 31, 2016, the weighted average warrant exercise price per share for common stock underlying
warrants and the weighted average contractual life was as follows:

March 31, 2017

Common Stock

December 31, 2016

Common Stock

Weighted Average
Exercise Price
Per Share

Number of
Warrants

171,783

$

Weighted Average
Exercise Price
Per Share

Number of
Warrants

171,783

7.47

$

7.47

Weighted Average
Remaining Contractual
Life

Number of
Warrants
Exercisable

1.33

Weighted Average
Price Per Share

171,783

Weighted Average
Remaining Contractual
Life

$

Number of
Warrants
Exercisable

1.62

7.47
Weighted Average
Price Per Share

171,783

$

7.47

Stock option plans
As of March 31, 2017, 2,646,478 shares of common stock were available for future issuance under the 2015 Stock Incentive Plan
("2015 Plan"). The 2015 Plan provides for an annual increase, to be added on the first day of each fiscal year, beginning with the fiscal year
ending December 31, 2016 and continuing until, and including, the fiscal year ending December 31, 2025, equal to the least of (a) 3,000,000
shares of our common stock, (b) 3% of the number of share of our common stock outstanding on the first day of such fiscal year and (c) an
amount determined by the Board. Effective January 1, 2017, an additional 1,301,986 shares of our common stock were added to the 2015 Plan
under the terms of this provision.
Activity under all stock option plans was as follows:
Weighted Average
Exercise Price
per Share

Number of
Options

Outstanding December 31, 2016

3,790,040

Granted

$

—

Exercised
Expired
Cancelled/Forfeited

Aggregate Intrinsic
Value (in Thousands)

6.60
—

(448,479)

4.31

(7,992)

12.76

(10,422)

12.45

$

1,527

Outstanding March 31, 2017

3,323,147

$

6.87

$

1,410

Total vested and exercisable

2,867,172

$

6.38

$

1,410

The total fair value of stock options that vested during the three months ended March 31, 2017 was $0.4 million. The weighted average
remaining contractual term for the total stock options outstanding was 5.19 years at March 31, 2017. The weighted average remaining
contractual term for the total stock options vested and exercisable was 4.69 years at March 31, 2017.
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Restricted common stock award activity under the plan was as follows:
Number of Shares

Unvested December 31, 2016

911,710

Granted

Weighted Average Fair Value

$

10.32

9,444

Vested

5.69

(117,443)

Forfeited

7.94

(17,152)

Unvested March 31, 2017

786,559

5.84
$

10.55

The total fair value of restricted common stock options that vested during the three months ended March 31, 2017 was $0.9 million.
Stock-based compensation
The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the fair value of stock options. The determination of the fair
value of stock-based payment awards on the date of grant using a pricing model is affected by the value of the Company’s common stock as
well as assumptions regarding a number of complex and subjective variables. The valuation of the Company’s common stock prior to the IPO
was performed with the assistance of an independent third-party valuation firm using a methodology that includes various inputs including the
Company’s historical and projected financial results, peer company public data and market metrics, such as risk-free interest and discount
rates. As the valuations included unobservable inputs that were primarily based on the Company’s own assumptions, the inputs were
considered level 3 inputs within the fair value hierarchy.
There were no options granted for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016.
Stock-based compensation expense was $1.3 million and $0.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016,
respectively. Stock-based compensation expense was calculated based on awards ultimately expected to vest. To date, the amount of stockbased compensation capitalized as part of inventory was not material.
The following is a summary of stock-based compensation expense (in thousands):

Three Months Ended March 31,
2017

Cost of revenues

$

2016

97

$

60

Sales and marketing

258

251

Research and development

493

301

General and administrative

444
$

1,292

331
$

943

At March 31, 2017, the Company had $1.9 million of total unrecognized compensation expense for options that will be recognized over
a weighted average period of 2.12 years. At March 31, 2017, the Company had $5.6 million of total unrecognized compensation expense for
restricted awards recognized over a weighted average period of 1.88 years.
Note L—Segment and Geographic Data
The Company operates as one reportable segment as described in Note B to the Consolidated Financial Statements. The countries in
which the Company has local revenue generating operations have been combined into the following geographic areas: the United States
(including Puerto Rico), Germany and the rest of the world, which consists predominately of Europe (including the United Kingdom) and other
foreign countries. Sales are attributable to a geographic area based upon the customer’s country of domicile. Net property, plant and equipment
are based upon physical location of the assets.
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Geographic information consisted of the following (in thousands):
Three Months Ended March 31,
2017

2016

Product Revenue
United States

$

Germany
Rest of World
$

15,964

$

14,708

3,965

4,722

450

552

20,379

$

March 31, 2017

19,982

December 31, 2016

Property and equipment, net
United States

$

Germany

15,654

$

106

Rest of World

113

—
$

15,760

14,971
—

$

15,084

Note M—Subsequent Events
Distribution Agreement
In January 2017, the Company filed a shelf registration statement on Form S-3 with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the
“SEC”), which was declared effective by the SEC on May 9, 2017. The shelf registration statement allows the Company to sell from time to time
up to $200 million of common stock, preferred stock, debt securities, warrants, or units comprised of any combination of these securities, for its
own account in one or more offerings.
The Company filed with the SEC a prospectus supplement dated May 10, 2017 (the “Prospectus Supplement”), pursuant to which the
Company may issue and sell shares of its common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, having an aggregate offering price of up to $50 million
(the “Shares”) from time to time. The Company intends to use the net proceeds of the offering of the Shares for general corporate purposes,
which may include research and development costs, sales and marketing costs, clinical studies, manufacturing development, the acquisition or
licensing of other businesses or technologies, repayment and refinancing of debt, including the Company’s secured term loan facility, working
capital and capital expenditures.
In connection with the offering, the Company entered into an Equity Distribution Agreement, dated as of May 10, 2017 (the “Distribution
Agreement”), with Canaccord Genuity Inc., as sales agent (“Canaccord”). Pursuant to the Distribution Agreement, Canaccord will use
commercially reasonable efforts consistent with its normal trading and sales practices and applicable state and federal laws, rules and
regulations, and the rules of The NASDAQ Global Select Market to sell shares from time to time, as the Company’s agent. Sales of the Shares,
if any, may be made by any method deemed to be an “at-the-market” offering as defined in Rule 415 promulgated under the U.S. Securities Act
of 1933, as amended, including sales made directly on or through The NASDAQ Global Select Market, on any other existing trading market for
the Shares, or sales to or through a market maker other than on an exchange, in negotiated transactions at market prices prevailing at the time
of sale or at prices related to such prevailing market prices, and/or any other method permitted by law. The Company is not obligated to sell
any Shares under the Distribution Agreement.
The Company will pay Canaccord a commission, or allow a discount, equal to 3.0% of the gross sales price per share of all Shares
sold through it as the Company’s agent under the Distribution Agreement, if any, and has agreed to provide Canaccord with customary
indemnification and contribution rights. The Company has also agreed to reimburse Canaccord for legal fees and disbursements, not to exceed
$50,000 in the aggregate, in connection with entering into the Distribution Agreement.
The Distribution Agreement may be terminated by Canaccord or the Company at any time upon ten days’ notice to the other party, or
by Canaccord at any time in certain circumstances, including the occurrence of a material and adverse change in the Company’s business or
financial condition that impairs Canaccord’s ability to proceed with the offering to sell the shares.
24

The foregoing summary of the Distribution Agreement does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the
full text of the Distribution Agreement, which is filed as an exhibit to this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. The Shares will be issued pursuant to
the Prospectus Supplement and the Company’s shelf registration statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-215464), which was declared effective
by the SEC on May 9, 2017.
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q shall not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy any shares under the
Distribution Agreement, nor shall there be any sale of such shares in any state in which such offer, solicitation or sale would be unlawful prior to
registration or qualification under the securities laws of any such state.
Massachusetts Securities Division Settlement
On April 12, 2017, the Company, without admitting or denying any liability, entered into a Consent Order with the Securities Division of
the Office of the Secretary of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts (the “Massachusetts Securities Division”) relating to its investigation into the
Company’s transfer of shares to a former medical advisor. Pursuant to the Consent Order, the Company agreed to offer restitution to the
former medical advisor, paid a fine of $40,000, and agreed to certain other relief. The Consent Order fully resolves all matters associated with
the Massachusetts Securities Division’s investigation. The total amount of the payments due under the Consent Order is not material to the
Company’s business operations.
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ITEM 2.

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our consolidated
financial statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2016. Some of the information contained in this discussion and analysis or set forth elsewhere in this Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q, including information with respect to our plans and strategy for our business, includes forward looking statements that
involve risks and uncertainties. As a result of many factors, including those factors set forth in the ‘‘Risk Factors’’ section in our Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016, our actual results could differ materially from the results described, in or implied, by
these forward-looking statements.
Forward-Looking Statements
This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements that involve substantial risks and uncertainties. All statements,
other than statements of historical facts, contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including statements regarding our strategy, future
operations, future financial position, future revenue, projected costs, prospects, our ability to raise additional funds, plans and objectives of
management and expected market growth are forward-looking statements. These statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties
and other important factors that may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to be materially different from any future results,
performance or achievements expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements.
The words “anticipate,” “believe,” “continue,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “might,” “plan,” “potential,” “predict,” “project,”
“should,” “target,” “will,” or “would” or the negative of these terms or other similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking
statements, although not all forward-looking statements contain these identifying words.
These forward-looking statements include, among other things, statements about:
•

our estimates regarding the potential market opportunity and timing of estimated commercialization for our current and future products,
including our iUni, iDuo, iTotal CR, iTotal PS and, if we receive required marketing clearances or approvals, our iTotal Hip;

•

our expectations regarding our sales, expenses, gross margins and other results of operations;

•

our strategies for growth and sources of new sales;

•

maintaining and expanding our customer base and our relationships with our independent sales representatives and distributors;

•

our current and future products and plans to promote them;

•

anticipated trends and challenges in our business and in the markets in which we operate;

•

the implementation of our business model, strategic plans for our business, products, product candidates and technology;

•

the future availability of raw materials used to manufacture, and finished components for, our products from third-party suppliers, including
single source suppliers;

•

product liability claims;

•

the impact of our voluntary recall initiated in August 2015 on our business operations, financial results and customer relations;

•

patent infringement claims;

•

our ability to retain and hire necessary employees and to staff our operations appropriately;

•

our ability to compete in our industry and with innovations by our competitors;

•

potential reductions in reimbursement levels by third-party payors and cost containment efforts of accountable care organizations;

•

our ability to protect proprietary technology and other intellectual property and potential claims against us for infringement of the intellectual
property rights of third parties;

•

potential challenges relating to changes in and compliance with governmental laws and regulations affecting our U.S. and international
businesses, including regulations of the U.S. Food and Drug Administration and foreign government regulators, such as more stringent
requirements for regulatory clearance of our products;
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•

the impact of federal legislation to reform the United States healthcare system and the reimposition of the 2.3 percent medical device
excise tax if and when the current moratorium is lifted;

•

the anticipated timing of completion of our offering under the Distribution Agreement, and the anticipated use of proceeds of the offering

•

the anticipated adequacy of our capital resources to meet the needs of our business; and

•

our expectations regarding the time during which we will be an emerging growth company under the JOBS Act.

We may not actually achieve the plans, intentions or expectations disclosed in our forward-looking statements, and you should not place
undue reliance on our forward-looking statements. Actual results or events could differ materially from the plans, intentions and expectations
disclosed in the forward-looking statements we make. We have included important factors in the cautionary statements included in this
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, particularly in the “Risk Factors” section, that could cause actual results or events to differ materially from the
forward-looking statements that we make. Our forward-looking statements do not reflect the potential impact of any future acquisitions,
mergers, dispositions, collaborations, joint ventures or investments that we may make or enter into.
You should read this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and the documents that we have filed as exhibits to this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q and our other filings with the SEC completely and with the understanding that our actual future results may be materially different
from what we expect. We do not assume any obligation to update any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information,
future events or otherwise, except as required by law.
Overview
We are a medical technology company that uses our proprietary iFit Image-to-Implant technology platform to develop, manufacture and
sell joint replacement implants that are individually sized and shaped, which we refer to as customized, to fit each patient’s unique anatomy.
The worldwide market for joint replacement products is approximately $15 billion annually and growing, and we believe our iFit technology
platform is applicable to all major joints in this market. We believe we are the only company offering a broad line of customized knee implants
designed to restore the natural shape of a patient’s knee. We have sold a total of more than 50,000 knee implants in the United States and
Europe. In clinical studies, iTotal CR, our cruciate-retaining total knee replacement implant and best-selling product, demonstrated superior
clinical outcomes, including better function and greater patient satisfaction compared to off-the-shelf implants. In 2015, we initiated the limited
launch of iTotal PS, our posterior-stabilized total knee replacement implant which addresses the largest segment of the knee replacement
market and we initiated the broad commercial launch of the iTotal PS in March 2016.
Our iFit technology platform comprises three key elements:
• iFit Design, our proprietary algorithms and computer software that we use to design customized implants and associated single-use patientspecific instrumentation, which we refer to as iJigs, based on computed tomography, or CT scans of the patient and to prepare a surgical plan
customized for the patient that we call iView.
• iFit Printing, a three-dimensional, or 3D, printing technology that we use to manufacture iJigs and that we may extend to manufacture certain
components of our customized knee replacement implants.
• iFit Just-in-Time Delivery, our just-in-time manufacturing and delivery capabilities.
We believe our iFit technology platform enables a scalable business model that greatly lowers our inventory requirements, reduces the
amount of working capital required to support our operations and allows us to launch new products and product improvements more rapidly, as
compared to manufacturers of off-the-shelf implants.
All of our knee replacement products have been cleared by the FDA under the premarket notification process of Section 510(k) of the
Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, or the FDCA, and have received certification to CE Mark. We market our products to orthopedic
surgeons, hospitals and other medical facilities and patients. We use direct sales representatives, independent sales representatives and
distributors to market and sell our products in the United States, Germany, the United Kingdom and other markets. We were incorporated in
Delaware and commenced operations in 2004.
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Components of our results of operations
The following is a description of factors that may influence our results of operations, including significant trends and challenges that we
believe are important to an understanding of our business and results of operations.
Revenue
Our product revenue is generated from sales to hospitals and other medical facilities that are served through a direct sales force,
independent sales representatives and distributors in the United States, Germany, the United Kingdom, Austria, Ireland, Switzerland,
Singapore, Hong Kong, and Monaco. In order for surgeons to use our products, the medical facilities where these surgeons treat patients
typically require us to enter into purchasing contracts. The process of negotiating a purchasing contract can be lengthy and time-consuming,
require extensive management time and may not be successful.
Revenue from sales of our products fluctuates principally based on the selling price of the joint replacement product, as the sales price
of our products varies among hospitals and other medical facilities. In addition, our product revenue may fluctuate based on the product sales
mix and mix of sales by geography. Our product revenue from international sales can be significantly impacted by fluctuations in foreign
currency exchange rates, as our sales are denominated in the local currency in the countries in which we sell our products. We expect our
product revenue to fluctuate from quarter-to-quarter due to a variety of factors, including seasonality, as we have historically experienced lower
sales in the summer months and around year-end, the timing of the introduction of our new products, if any, and the impact of the buying
patterns and implant volumes of medical facilities.
In April 2015, we entered into a worldwide license agreement with MicroPort Orthopedics Inc., or MicroPort, a wholly owned subsidiary
of MicroPort Scientific Corporation. Under the terms of this license agreement, we granted a perpetual, irrevocable, non-exclusive license to
MicroPort to use patient-specific instrument technology covered by our patents and patent applications with off-the-shelf implants in the knee.
This license does not extend to patient-specific implants. This license agreement provides for the payment to us of a fixed royalty at a high
single to low double digit percentage of net sales on patient-specific instruments and associated implant components in the knee, including
MicroPort’s Prophecy patient-specific instruments used with its Advance and Evolution implant components. We cannot be certain as to the
timing or amount of payment of any royalties under this license agreement. This license agreement also provided for a single lump-sum
payment by MicroPort to us of low-single digit millions of dollars upon entering into the license agreement, which has been paid. This license
agreement will expire upon the expiration of the last to expire of our patents and patent applications licensed to MicroPort, which currently is
expected to occur in 2029.
In April 2015, we entered into a fully paid up, worldwide license agreement with Wright Medical Group, Inc., or Wright Group, and its
wholly owned subsidiary Wright Medical Technology, Inc., or Wright Technology and collectively with Wright Group, Wright Medical. Under the
terms of this license agreement, we granted a perpetual, irrevocable, non-exclusive license to Wright Medical to use patient-specific instrument
technology covered by our patents and patent applications with off-the-shelf implants in the foot and ankle. This license does not extend to
patient-specific implants. This license agreement provided for a single lump-sum payment by Wright Medical to us of mid-single digit millions of
dollars upon entering into the license agreement, which has been paid. This license agreement will expire upon the expiration of the last to
expire of our patents and patent applications licensed to Wright Medical, which currently is expected to occur in 2031.
We have accounted for the agreements with Wright Medical and MicroPort under ASC 605-25, Multiple-Element Arrangements and
Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104, Revenue Recognition (ASC 605). In accordance with ASC 605, we were required to identify and account for
each of the separate units of accounting. We identified the relative selling price for each and then allocated the total consideration based on
their relative values. In connection with these agreements, in April 2015, we recognized in aggregate (i) back-owed royalties of $3.4 million as
royalty revenue and (ii) the value attributable to the settlements of $0.2 million as other income. Additionally, we recognized an initial $5.1
million in aggregate as deferred royalty revenue, which is recognized as royalty revenue ratably through 2031. See "Note I - Deferred
Revenue" within our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016. The on-going royalty from MicroPort is recognized
as royalty revenue upon receipt of payment.
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Cost of revenue
We produce the vast majority of our computer aided designs, or CAD, in-house and use them to direct all of our product manufacturing
efforts. We manufacture all of our patient-specific instruments, or iJigs, in our facilities in Wilmington, Massachusetts. Since November 2016,
we make in our facilities all of the tibial trays used in our total knee implants. We outsource the production of the remainder of the tibial
components and the manufacture of femoral and other implant components to third-party suppliers. Our suppliers make our customized implant
components using the CAD designs we supply. Cost of revenue consists primarily of costs of raw materials, manufacturing personnel,
manufacturing supplies, inbound freight and manufacturing overhead and depreciation expense.
We calculate gross margin as revenue less cost of revenue divided by revenue. Our gross margin has been and will continue to be
affected by a variety of factors, including primarily volume of units produced, mix of product components manufactured by us versus sourced
from third parties, our average selling price, the geographic mix of sales, product sales mix, the number of cancelled sales orders resulting in
wasted implants, and royalty revenue.
We expect our gross margin from the sale of our products, which excludes royalty revenue, to expand over time to the extent we are
successful in reducing our manufacturing costs per unit and increasing our manufacturing efficiency as sales volume increases. We believe that
areas of opportunity to expand our gross margins in the future, if and as the volume of our product sales increases, include the following:
• absorbing overhead costs across a larger volume of product sales;
• obtaining more favorable pricing for the materials used in the manufacture of our products;
• obtaining more favorable pricing of certain component of our products manufactured for us by third parties;
• increasing the proportion of certain components of our products that we manufacture in-house, which we believe we can manufacture at a
lower unit cost than vendors we currently use;
• developing new versions of our software used in the design of our customized joint replacement implants, which we believe will reduce costs
associated with the design process; and
• expanding our CAD labor overseas, which we believe will reduce labor costs required to design our products.
We continue to explore the application of our 3D printing technology to select metal components of our
products, which we believe may be a future opportunity for reducing our manufacturing costs. We also plan to explore other opportunities to
reduce our manufacturing costs. However, these and the above opportunities may not be realized. In addition, our gross margin may fluctuate
from period to period.
Operating expenses
Our operating expenses consist of sales and marketing, research and development and general and administrative expenses.
Personnel costs are the most significant component of operating expenses and consist of salaries, benefits, stock-based compensation and
sales commissions.
Sales and marketing. Sales and marketing expense consists primarily of personnel costs, including salary, employee benefits and
stock-based compensation for personnel employed in sales, marketing, customer service, medical education and training, as well as
investments in surgeon training programs, industry events and other promotional activities. In addition, our sales and marketing expense
includes sales commissions and bonuses, generally based on a percentage of sales, to our sales managers, direct sales representatives and
independent sales representatives. Recruiting, training and retaining productive sales representatives and educating surgeons about the
benefits of our products are required to generate and grow revenue. We expect sales and marketing expense to significantly increase as we
build up our sales and support personnel and expand our marketing efforts. Our sales and marketing expense may fluctuate from period to
period due to the seasonality of our revenue and the timing and extent of our expenses.
Research and development. Research and development expense consists primarily of personnel costs, including salary, employee
benefits and stock-based compensation for personnel employed in research and development, regulatory and clinical areas. Research and
development expense also includes costs associated with product design, product refinement and improvement efforts before and after receipt
of regulatory clearance,
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development prototypes, testing, clinical study programs and regulatory activities, contractors and consultants, and equipment and software to
support our development. As our revenue increases, we will also incur additional expenses for revenue share payments to our past and
present scientific advisory board members, including one of our directors. We expect research and development expense to increase in
absolute dollars as we develop new products to expand our product pipeline, add research and development personnel and conduct clinical
activities.
General and administrative. General and administrative expense consists primarily of personnel costs, including salary, employee
benefits and stock-based compensation for our administrative personnel that support our general operations, including executive management,
general legal and intellectual property, finance and accounting, information technology and human resources personnel. General and
administrative expense also includes outside legal costs associated with intellectual property and general legal matters, financial audit fees,
insurance, fees for other consulting services, depreciation expense, freight, and facilities expense. We expect our general and administrative
expense will increase in absolute dollars as we increase our headcount and expand our infrastructure to support growth in our business and
our operations as a public company. As our revenue increases we also will incur additional expense for freight. Our general and administrative
expense may fluctuate from period to period due to the timing and extent of the expenses.
Total other income (expense), net
Total other income (expense), net consists primarily of interest expense and amortization of debt discount associated with our term
loans outstanding during the year and realized gains (losses) from foreign currency transactions. The effect of exchange rates on our foreign
currency-denominated asset and liability balances are recorded in other income (expense) and are recorded as foreign currency translation
adjustments in the consolidated statements of comprehensive loss.
Income tax provision
Income tax provision consists primarily of a provision for income taxes in foreign jurisdictions in which we conduct business. We
maintain a full valuation allowance for deferred tax assets including net operating loss carryforwards and research and development credits and
other tax credits.
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Consolidated results of operations
Comparison of the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016
The following table sets forth our results of operations expressed as dollar amounts, percentage of total revenue and year-over-year
change (in thousands):

2017

Three Months Ended March 31,

2016
As a%
of
Total
Revenue

Amount

2017 vs 2016
As a%
of
Total
Revenue

Amount

$
Change

%
Change

Revenue
Product revenue

$

20,379

Royalty

100 %

$

19,982

99 %

$

397

2%

76

—

268

1

Total revenue

20,455

100

20,250

100

(192)

(72)

205

1

Cost of revenue

13,960

68

13,586

67

374

3

Gross profit

6,495

32

6,664

33

(169)

(3)

10,816

53

11,115

55

(299)

(3)

Research and development

4,560

22

4,398

22

162

4

General and administrative

8,458

41

6,295

31

2,163

34

23,834

117

21,808

108

2,026

9

(17,339)

(85)

(15,144)

(75)

(2,195)

(14)

Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing

Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Total other income/(expenses)

186

Loss before income taxes

(17,153)

Income tax provision

1
(84)

7

Net loss

$

(17,160)

114

—
(84)% $

1

(15,030)
4

72

(74)
—

(15,034)

63

(2,123)

(14)

3

(74)% $

75

(2,126)

(14)%

Revenue. Product revenue was $20.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017 compared to $20.0 million for the three
months ended March 31, 2016, an increase of $0.4 million or 2%. Our product revenue growth for the three months ended March 31, 2017,
when compared to the three months ended March 31, 2016, was impacted by the incremental sales contribution to product revenue for the
three months ended March 31, 2016 from rescheduled cases, including reduction in order lead times, subsequent to the voluntary recall of
specific serial numbers of patient-specific instrumentation for our iUni, iDuo, iTotal CR and iTotal PS knee replacement product systems
announced on August 31, 2015.
Product revenue from sales of iTotal CR, iDuo and iUni was $15.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017 compared to
$17.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016, a decrease of $2.3 million or 13%. Product revenue from sales of iTotal PS was $5.1
million for the three months ended March 31, 2017 compared to $2.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016, an increase of $2.7
million or 113%.
The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, our product revenue by geography expressed as U.S. dollar amounts,
percentage of product revenue and year-over-year change (in thousands):

2017
Three Months Ended March 31,

United States

Amount

$

Germany
Product revenue

15,964
3,965

Rest of world

2016
As a % of
Product
Revenue

78% $
19

450
$

20,379

Amount

3
100% $

31

14,708
4,722
552
19,982

2017 vs 2016
As a % of
Product
Revenue

$
Change

74% $
24

$

2
100% $

1,256

%
Change

9%

(757)

(16)

(102)

(18)

397

2%

Product revenue in the United States was generated through our direct sales force and independent sales representatives. Product
revenue outside the United States was generated through our direct sales force and distributors. The percentage of product revenue generated
in the United States was 78% for the three months ended March 31, 2017 compared to 74% for the three months ended March 31, 2016.
In April 2015, we entered into a fully paid up, worldwide license agreement with Wright Medical for a single lump-sum payment by
Wright Medical to us upon entering into the agreement. At the same time we also entered into a worldwide license agreement with MicroPort
for a single lump-sum payment by MicroPort to us upon entering into the license agreement and the payment to us of a fixed royalty at a high
single to low double digit percentage of net sales on patient-specific instruments and associated implant components in the knee. Royalty
revenue related to these agreements was $0.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017 compared to $0.3 million for the three
months ended March 31, 2016. The decrease in royalty revenue was due to the timing of the fourth quarter of 2016 payment, which was
received in April 2017.
Cost of revenue, gross profit and gross margin. Cost of revenue was $14.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017
compared to $13.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016, an increase of $0.4 million or 3%. The increase was due primarily to an
increase in production and personnel costs associated with the increase in sales volume, coupled with an increase in material purchase prices.
Gross profit was $6.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017 compared to $6.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016,
a decrease of $0.2 million or 3%. Gross margin decreased 100 basis points to 32% for the three months ended March 31, 2017 from 33% for
the three months ended March 31, 2016. This decrease in gross margin was driven primarily by the decrease in royalty revenue due to the
timing of the fourth quarter 2016 royalty payment received in April 2017, a decrease in the average sales price attributable customer mix in the
quarter and to the impact of foreign currency exchange rate changes on revenue, which were partially offset by savings from vertical integration
efforts.
Sales and marketing. Sales and marketing expense was $10.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017 compared to
$11.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016, a decrease of $0.3 million or 3%. The decrease was due primarily to a $0.7 million
decrease in salaries, incentives and related costs, and a $0.4 million decrease in marketing and other expenses, offset by a $0.8 million
increase in commissions. Sales and marketing expense decreased as a percentage of total revenue to 53% for the three months ended
March 31, 2017 from 55% for the three months ended March 31, 2016.
Research and development. Research and development expense was $4.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017
compared to $4.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016, an increase of $0.2 million or 4%. The increase was due primarily to a
$0.2 million increase in personnel costs, a $0.1 million increase in revenue share expense, offset by a $0.1 million decrease in consulting and
other expenses. Research and development expense remained constant as a percentage of total revenue at 22% for the three months ended
March 31, 2017 and 2016.
General and administrative. General and administrative expense was $8.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017
compared to $6.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016, an increase of $2.2 million or 34%. The increase was due primarily to a
$1.4 million increase in patent litigation expense, a $0.7 million increase in personnel costs, a $0.3 million increase in business insurance and a
$0.2 million increase in various other general and administrative expenses, offset by a $0.4 million decrease in patent support and other
general legal costs. General and administrative expense increased as a percentage of total revenue to 41% for the three months ended
March 31, 2017 from 31% for the three months ended March 31, 2016.
Total other income/(expense), net. Other income/(expense), net was $0.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017 compared
to $0.1 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016, an increase of $0.1 million, or 63%. The increase was primarily due to an increase
of $0.4 million in foreign currency exchange transaction income, offset by $0.3 million increase in interest expense associated with long-term
debt.
Income taxes. Income tax provision was $7,000 and $4,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 2016, respectively. We
continue to generate losses for U.S. federal and state tax purposes and have net operating loss carryforwards creating a deferred tax asset.
We maintain a full valuation allowance for deferred tax assets.
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Liquidity, capital resources and plan of operations
Sources of liquidity and funding requirements
From our inception in June 2004 through the three months ended March 31, 2017, we have financed our operations primarily through
private placements of preferred stock, our initial public offering, or IPO, bank debt and product revenue beginning in 2007. Our product revenue
has continued to grow from year-to-year; however, we have not yet attained profitability and continue to incur operating losses. As of March 31,
2017, we had an accumulated deficit of $400 million.
On July 7, 2015, we closed our initial public offering of our common stock and issued and sold 10,350,000 shares of our common
stock, including 1,350,000 shares of common stock issued upon the exercise in full by the underwriters of their over-allotment option, at a
public offering price of $15.00 per share, for aggregate offering proceeds of approximately $155 million. We received aggregate net proceeds
from the offering of approximately $140 million after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions and offering expenses payable by us.
Our common stock began trading on the NASDAQ Global Select Market on July 1, 2015.
On January 6, 2017, we entered into a senior secured $50 million loan and security agreement with Oxford. Through the term loan
facility with Oxford, the Company initially accessed $15 million of borrowings and an additional funding of $15 million is available to the
Company, at its option, through December 2017 and an additional $20 million is available through June 2018, in each case, subject to the
satisfaction of certain revenue milestones and customary drawdown conditions. For further information regarding this facility, see “Note I—Debt
and Notes Payable—2017 Secured Loan Agreement” to the consolidated financial statements appearing in this Quarterly Report on Form 10Q.
Additionally, in January 2017, we filed a shelf registration statement on Form S-3 with the SEC, which was declared effective by the
SEC on May 9, 2017. The shelf registration statement allows us to sell from time-to-time up to $200 million of common stock, preferred stock,
debt securities, warrants, or units comprised of any combination of these securities, for our own account in one or more offerings. The shelf
registration statement is intended to provide us flexibility to conduct registered sales of our securities, subject to market conditions and our
future capital needs. The terms of any offering under the shelf registration statement will be established at the time of such offering and will be
described in a prospectus supplement filed with the SEC prior to the completion of any such offering. There are no guarantees that we will be
able to sell any securities pursuant to it.
We expect to incur substantial expenditures in the foreseeable future in connection with the following:
• expansion of our sales and marketing efforts;
• expansion of our manufacturing capacity;
• funding research, development and clinical activities related to our existing products and product platform, including iFit design
software and product support;
• funding research, development and clinical activities related to new products that we may develop, including other joint
replacement products;
• pursuing and maintaining appropriate regulatory clearances and approvals for our existing products and any new products that
we may develop; and
• preparing, filing and prosecuting patent applications, and maintaining and enforcing our intellectual property rights and position.
In addition, our general and administrative expense will increase due to the additional operational and reporting costs associated with
our expanded operations and being a public company.
We anticipate that our principal sources of funds in the future will be revenue generated from the sales of our products, borrowings
under our 2017 Secured Loan Agreement, future capital raises through the issuance of equity securities, and revenues that we may generate in
connection with licensing our intellectual property. We will need to generate significant additional revenue to achieve and maintain profitability,
and even if we achieve profitability, we cannot be sure that we will remain profitable for any substantial period of time. It is also possible that we
may allocate significant amounts of capital toward products or technologies for which market demand is lower than anticipated and, as a result,
abandon such efforts. If we are unable to obtain adequate financing or financing
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on terms satisfactory to us when we require it, or if we expend capital on projects that are not successful, our ability to continue to support our
business growth and to respond to business challenges could be significantly limited, and we may even have to scale back our operations. Our
failure to become and remain profitable could impair our ability to raise capital, expand our business, maintain our research and development
efforts or continue to fund our operations.
We may need to engage in additional equity or debt financings to secure additional funds. We may not be able to obtain additional
financing on terms favorable to us, or at all. To the extent that we raise additional capital through the future sale of equity or debt, the ownership
interest of our stockholders will be diluted. The terms of these future or debt securities may include liquidation or other preferences that
adversely affect the rights of our existing common stockholders or involve negative covenants that restrict our ability to take specific actions,
such as incurring additional debt or making capital expenditures.
At March 31, 2017, we had cash and cash equivalents and investments of $68.5 million and $0.8 million in restricted cash allocated to
lease deposits. Based on our current operating plan, we expect that our existing cash and cash equivalents and investments as of March 31,
2017, borrowings under our 2017 Secured Loan Agreement, and anticipated revenue from operations, including from projected sales of our
products, will enable us to fund our operating expenses and capital expenditure requirements and pay our debt service as it becomes due for at
least the next 12 months from the date of filing. We have based this expectation on assumptions that may prove to be wrong, such as the
revenue that we expect to generate from the sale of our products and the gross profit we expect to generate from those revenues, and we
could use our capital resources sooner than we expect.
Cash flows
The following table sets forth a summary of our cash flows for the periods indicated, as well as the year-over-year change (in
thousands):

Three Months Ended March 31,
2017

2016

$ Change

% Change

Net cash (used in) provided by:
Operating activities

$

(11,284)

Investing activities

(5,863)

Financing activities

16,636

Effect of exchange rate on cash
Total

$

(865)

$

(30,237)
753

(354)
$

(11,269)

151
$

(40,602)

(15)
24,374

81

15,883

2,109

(505)
$

—%

39,737

(334)
98 %

Net cash used in operating activities. Net cash used in operating activities was $11.3 million for the three months ended March 31,
2017 and $11.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016, an increase of $0.0 million. The increase in net cash used in operating
activities primarily reflects the increase in net loss of $17.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and $15.0 million for the three
months ended March 31, 2016 , offset by decreases in cash used related to changes in our operating assets and liabilities, including $0.7
million related to inventory, $0.5 million related to prepaid expenses and other assets and $0.3 million related to accounts receivable, as well as
a $0.3 million increase in stock compensation expense, a $0.1 million increase in depreciation and amortization expense, and a $0.1 million
increase in amortization/accretion on investments.
Net cash used in investing activities. Net cash used in investing activities was $5.9 million for the three months ended March 31,
2017 and $30.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016, a decrease of $24.4 million. These amounts primarily reflect a decrease in
purchase of short-term investments of $13.4 million as well an increase of $9.6 million in maturity of investments as a decrease in the
acquisition of property, plant, and equipment of $1.8 million.
Net cash provided by financing activities. Net cash provided by financing activities was $16.6 million for the three months ended
March 31, 2017 and $0.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2016, an increase of $15.9 million. The increase was due to an increase
in proceeds from the issuance of debt of $14.7 million, net of debt issuance costs, and an increase in net proceeds from the exercise of
common stock options of $1.1 million.
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Contractual obligations and commitments
We described our contractual obligations and commitments under Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations in our Annual Report filed on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016. On January 6, 2017, we entered into a
senior secured $50 million loan and security agreement with Oxford. Through the term loan facility with Oxford, we initially accessed $15 million
of borrowings and an additional funding of $15 million is available to us, at our option, through December 2017 and an additional $20 million is
available, at our option, through June 2018, in each case, subject to the satisfaction of certain revenue milestones and customary drawdown
conditions.
The credit facility is secured by substantially all of our personal property other than our intellectual property. Under the terms of the
credit facility, we cannot grant a security interest in its intellectual property to any other party. The term loan under the credit facility bears
interest at a floating annual rate calculated at the greater of 30 day LIBOR or 0.53%, plus 6.47%. We are required to make monthly interest
only payments in arrears commencing on the second payment date following the funding date of each term loan, and continuing on the
payment date of each successive month thereafter through and including the payment date immediately preceding the amortization date of
February 1, 2019 (subject to extension to February 1, 2020 if we draw the second tranche of $15 million under the term loan facility).
Commencing on the amortization date, and continuing on the payment date of each month thereafter, we are required to make consecutive
equal monthly payments of principal of each term loan, together with accrued interest, in arrears. All unpaid principal, accrued and unpaid
interest with respect to each term loan, and a final payment in the amount of 5.0% of the amount of loans advanced, is due and payable in full
on the term loan maturity date. The term loan facility has a term of five years and matures on January 1, 2022.
At our option, we may prepay all, but not less than all, of the term loans advanced by Oxford, subject to a prepayment fee and an
amount equal to the sum of all outstanding principal of the term loans plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon through the prepayment date, a
final payment, plus all other amounts that are due and payable, including Oxford's expenses and interest at the default rate with respect to any
past due amounts.
Off-balance sheet arrangements
Through March 31, 2017, we did not have any relationships with unconsolidated organizations or financial partnerships, such as
structured finance or special purpose entities, which would have been established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance sheet arrangements
or other contractually narrow or limited purposes.
Critical accounting policies and significant judgments and use of estimates
We have prepared our consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States. Our preparation of these financial statements and related disclosures requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the
reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting periods. The accounting estimates that require our most significant estimates
include revenue recognition, accounts receivable valuation, inventory valuations, intangible valuation, equity instruments, impairment
assessments, income tax reserves and related allowances, and the lives of property and equipment. We evaluate our estimates and judgments
on an ongoing basis. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. Our critical accounting policies
are more fully described under the heading “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Critical
accounting policies and significant judgments and use of estimates” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016
and Note B to the consolidated financial statements appearing in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
Recent accounting pronouncements
Information with respect to recent accounting developments is provided in Note B to the consolidated financial statements appearing in
this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
Reclassification
Information with respect to reclassification is provided in Note B to the consolidated financial statements appearing in this Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q.
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ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
We are exposed to various market risks, which may result in potential losses arising from adverse changes in market rates, such as
interest rates and foreign exchange rates. We do not enter into derivatives or other financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes
and do not believe we are exposed to material market risk with respect to our cash and cash equivalents and investments.
Interest rate risk
We are exposed to interest rate risk in connection with borrowings made under the 2017 Secured Loan Agreement, which bears
interest at floating annual rate calculated at the greater of 30 day LIBOR or 0.53%, plus 6.47%. For variable rate debt, interest rate changes
generally do not affect the fair value of the debt instrument, but do impact future earnings and cash flows, assuming other factors are held
constant. A hypothetical 100 basis point change in interest rates during any of the periods presented would not have had a material impact on
our consolidated financial statements.
In addition, we are exposed to limited market risk related to fluctuation in interest rates and market prices. Our primary exposure to
market risk is interest rate sensitivity, which is affected by changes in the general level of U.S. interest rates. As of March 31, 2017, we had
cash and cash equivalents of $36 million consisting of demand deposits and money market accounts on deposit with certain financial
institutions. We had $1.8 million as of March 31, 2017 and $1.6 million as of December 31, 2016 held in foreign bank accounts that were not
federally insured. A hypothetical 100 basis point change in interest rates during any of the periods presented would not have had a material
impact on our consolidated financial statements.
Foreign currency exchange risk
Fluctuations in the rate of exchange between the U.S. dollar and foreign currencies could adversely affect our financial results.
Approximately 22% of our product revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and 26% of our product revenue for the three months
ended March 31, 2016 were denominated in foreign currencies. We expect that foreign currencies will continue to represent a similarly
significant percentage of our net sales in the future. Costs of revenue related to these sales are primarily denominated in U.S. dollars; however,
operating costs, including sales and marketing and general and administrative expense, related to these sales are largely denominated in the
same currencies as the sales, thereby partially limiting our transaction risk exposure. Additionally, fluctuations in foreign currency exchange
rates may cause us to recognize transaction gains and losses in our statement of operations. In 2016, we began transferring excess cash
residing in our German bank account to the U.S. As a result, intercompany loans with ConforMIS Europe GmbH, our wholly owned subsidiary,
generated as a result of selling our products to customers in Germany, are no longer considered to be of a long-term investment nature, and
gains and losses realized on intercompany loan balances, which are generated from the sale of our products to foreign customers, are included
in the consolidated statements of operations. For the three months ended March 31, 2017, we incurred $0.4 million in foreign exchange
transaction loss on intercompany loan balances included in foreign currency transaction loss. To date, we have not engaged in any foreign
currency hedging transactions. As our international operations grow, we will continue to reassess our approach to managing the risks relating
to fluctuations in currency rates. A 10% increase or decrease in foreign currency exchange rates would have resulted in additional income or
expense of $3.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2017 and $0.1 million three months ended March 31, 2016.
We do not believe that inflation and change in prices had a significant impact on our results of operations for any periods presented in
our consolidated financial statements.
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ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer (our principal executive officer and
principal financial officer, respectively), evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of March 31, 2017. The term
“disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or
the Exchange Act, means controls and other procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by
a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time
periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures
designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is
accumulated and communicated to the company’s management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, as appropriate
to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well
designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and management necessarily applies its judgment
in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Based on the evaluation of our disclosure controls and
procedures as of March 31, 2017, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of such date, our disclosure
controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
No change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act)
occurred during the three months ended March 31, 2017 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal
control over financial reporting.
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PART II - OTHER INFORMATION
ITEM 1. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
In the ordinary course of the Company's business, the Company is subject to litigation, claims and administrative proceedings on a
variety of matters, including patent infringement, product liability, securities-related claims, and other claims in the United States and in other
countries where the Company sells its products. An estimate of the possible loss or range of loss as a result of any of these matters cannot be
made; however, management does not believe that these matters, individually or in the aggregate, are material to its financial condition, results
of operations or cash flows.
On February 29, 2016, the Company filed a lawsuit against Smith & Nephew, Inc. (“Smith & Nephew”) in the United States District
Court for the District of Massachusetts Eastern Division, which was amended on June 13, 2016 (the "Smith & Nephew Lawsuit"). For additional
background on this lawsuit, see “Note H to Consolidated Financial Statements - Legal Proceedings”.
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
We operate in a rapidly changing environment that involves a number of risks that may have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations. For a detailed discussion of the risks that affect our business, please refer to the section entitled
“Risk Factors” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016. There have been no material changes to our
risk factors as previously disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K. Risk factors and other information included in this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q should be carefully considered. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we presently deem less
significant may also impair our business operations. Please see page 1 of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for a discussion of some of the
forward-looking statements that are qualified by these risk factors. If any of the risks actually occur, our business, financial condition, results of
operations and future growth prospects could be materially and adversely affected.
We may be subject to adverse legislative or regulatory tax changes that could negatively impact our financial condition.
The rules dealing with U.S. federal, state and local income taxation are constantly under review by persons involved in the legislative
process and by the IRS and the U.S. Treasury Department. Changes to tax laws (which changes may have retroactive application) could
adversely affect our stockholders or us. In recent years, many such changes have been made and changes are likely to continue to occur in
the future. We cannot predict whether, when, in what form, or with what effective dates, tax laws, regulations and rulings may be enacted,
promulgated or decided, which could result in an increase in our, or our stockholders’, tax liability or require changes in the manner in which we
operate in order to minimize increases in our tax liability.
ITEM 2. UNREGISTERED SALES OF SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS
Use of proceeds from registered securities
On July 7, 2015, we closed our initial public offering, or IPO, of our common stock and issued and sold 10,350,000 shares of our
common stock, including 1,350,000 shares of common stock issued upon the exercise in full by the underwriters of their overallotment option,
at a public offering price of $15.00 per share, for aggregate offering proceeds of approximately $155 million.
The offer and sale of all of the shares in the offering was registered under the Securities Act pursuant to a registration statement on
Form S-1 (File No. 333-204384), which was declared effective by the SEC on June 30, 2015.
We received aggregate net proceeds from the offering of approximately $140 million after deducting underwriting discounts and
commissions and offering expenses payable by us. None of the underwriting discounts and commissions or offering expenses were incurred or
paid to any director or officer of ours, to any of their associates, to persons owning 10% or more of our common stock or to any affiliates of
ours.
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As of March 31, 2017, we have used approximately $140 million of the net proceeds from the offering as follows: $10 million to
purchase and install capital equipment to expand our manufacturing capacity, approximately $66.6 million to expand and support our sales and
marketing efforts, and approximately $24.8 million to fund research, development and clinical activities and approximately $38.6 million for
other general corporate purposes. We have not used any of the net proceeds from our IPO to make payments, directly or indirectly, to any
director or officer of ours, to any of their associates, to persons owning 10% or more of our common stock or to any affiliates of ours.
ITEM 5. OTHER INFORMATION
The Company filed with the SEC a prospectus supplement dated May 10, 2017 (the “Prospectus Supplement”), pursuant to which the
Company may issue and sell shares of its common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, having an aggregate offering price of up to $50 million
(the “Shares”) from time to time. The Company intends to use the net proceeds of the offering of the Shares for general corporate purposes,
which may include research and development costs, sales and marketing costs, clinical studies, manufacturing development, the acquisition or
licensing of other businesses or technologies, repayment and refinancing of debt, including the Company’s secured term loan facility, working
capital and capital expenditures.
In connection with the offering, the Company entered into an Equity Distribution Agreement, dated as of May 10, 2017 (the “Distribution
Agreement”), with Canaccord Genuity Inc., as sales agent (“Canaccord”). Pursuant to the Distribution Agreement, Canaccord will use
commercially reasonable efforts consistent with its normal trading and sales practices and applicable state and federal laws, rules and
regulations, and the rules of The NASDAQ Global Select Market to sell shares from time to time, as the Company’s agent. Sales of the Shares,
if any, may be made by any method deemed to be an “at-the-market” offering as defined in Rule 415 promulgated under the U.S. Securities Act
of 1933, as amended, including sales made directly on or through The NASDAQ Global Select Market, on any other existing trading market for
the Shares, or sales to or through a market maker other than on an exchange, in negotiated transactions at market prices prevailing at the time
of sale or at prices related to such prevailing market prices, and/or any other method permitted by law. The Company is not obligated to sell
any Shares under the Distribution Agreement.
The Company will pay Canaccord a commission, or allow a discount, equal to 3.0% of the gross sales price per share of all Shares
sold through it as the Company’s agent under the Distribution Agreement, if any, and has agreed to provide Canaccord with customary
indemnification and contribution rights. The Company has also agreed to reimburse Canaccord for legal fees and disbursements, not to exceed
$50,000 in the aggregate, in connection with entering into the Distribution Agreement.
The Distribution Agreement may be terminated by Canaccord or the Company at any time upon ten days’ notice to the other party, or
by Canaccord at any time in certain circumstances, including the occurrence of a material and adverse change in the Company’s business or
financial condition that impairs Canaccord’s ability to proceed with the offering to sell the shares.
The foregoing summary of the Distribution Agreement does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the
full text of the Distribution Agreement, which is filed as an exhibit to this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. The Shares will be issued pursuant to
the Prospectus Supplement and the Company’s shelf registration statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-215464), which was declared effective
by the SEC on May 9, 2017.
ITEM 6. EXHIBITS
The exhibits filed as part of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are set forth on the Exhibit Index, which Exhibit Index is incorporated
herein by reference.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf
by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
Date: May 10, 2017
CONFORMIS, INC.
By:

/s/ Mark A. Augusti
Mark A. Augusti
President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: May 10, 2017

By:

/s/ Paul S. Weiner
Paul S. Weiner
Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer and
Principal Accounting Officer)
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit
Number
5.1*
10.1*
10.2

10.3*
10.4*
31.1*
31.2*
32.1*#
32.2*#
101.INS
101.SCH
101.CAL
101.LAB
101.PRE
101.DEF

*
#

Description of Exhibit
Opinion of Goodwin Procter LLP
Distribution Agreement, dated May 10, 2017, by and between ConforMIS, Inc. and Canaccord Genuity Inc.
Loan and Security Agreement, dated January 6, 2017, by and between ConforMIS, Inc. and Oxford Finance, LLC
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the registrant’ Current Report on Form 8-K (File No. 001-37474)
filed on January 9, 2017).
First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement, dated March 9, 2017, by and among Registrant and Oxford Finance
LLC.
Agreement Regarding Sublease dated April 13, 2017 between CCC Investors, LLC and Registrant for 28 Crosby Drive,
Bedford, Massachusetts.
Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) or Rule 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
XBRL Instance Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Database
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

Filed herewith.
This certification will not be deemed “filed” for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
(the “Exchange Act”), or otherwise subject to the liability of that section. Such certification will not be deemed to be
incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Exchange Act, except to the
extent specifically incorporated by reference into such filing.
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Exhibit 5.1

[Letterhead of Goodwin Procter LLP]
May 10, 2017
ConforMIS, Inc.
600 Technology Park Drive
Billerica, MA 01821
Re: Securities Registered under Registration Statement on Form S-3
Ladies and Gentlemen:
We have acted as counsel to you in connection with your filing of a Registration Statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333215464) (as amended or supplemented, the “Registration Statement”) filed on January 9, 2017 with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the “Commission”) pursuant to the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), relating to the
registration of the offering by Plug Power Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”) of up to $200,000,000 of any combination
of securities of the types specified therein. The Registration Statement was declared effective by the Commission on May 9, 2017.
Reference is made to our opinion letter dated January 9, 2017 and included as Exhibit 5.1 to the Registration Statement. We are
delivering this supplemental opinion letter in connection with the prospectus supplement (the “Prospectus Supplement”) filed on
May 10, 2017, by the Company with the Commission pursuant to Rule 424 under the Securities Act. The Prospectus Supplement
relates to the offering by the Company of up to $50,000,000 in shares (the “Shares”) of the Company’s common stock, par value
$0.0001 per share (“Common Stock”) covered by the Registration Statement. The Shares are being offered and sold by the sales
agent named in, and pursuant to, a distribution agreement among the Company and the sales agent.
We have reviewed such documents and made such examination of law as we have deemed appropriate to give the opinions
set forth below. We have relied, without independent verification, on certificates of public officials and, as to matters of fact
material to the opinions set forth below, on certificates of officers of the Company.
For purposes of the opinion set forth below, we have assumed that the Shares are issued for a price per share equal to or
greater than the minimum price authorized by the Company’s board of directors prior to the date hereof (the “Minimum Price”)
and, in the future, the Company does not issue shares of Common Stock or reduce the total number of shares of Common Stock
that the Company is authorized to issue under its certificate of incorporation such that the number of authorized but unissued shares
of Common Stock under the Company’s certificate of incorporation is less than the number of unissued Shares that may be issued
for the Minimum Price.
For purposes of the opinions set forth below, we refer to the following as “Future Approval and Issuance”: (a) the approval
by the Company’s board of directors (or a duly authorized committee of the board of directors) of the issuance of the Shares (the
“Approval”) and (b) the issuance of the Shares in accordance with the Approval and the receipt by the Company of the
consideration (which shall not be less than the par value of such Shares) to be paid in accordance with the Approval.
The opinion set forth below is limited to the Delaware General Corporation Law.
Based on the foregoing, we are of the opinion that the Shares have been duly authorized and, upon Future Approval and
Issuance, will be validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable.
This opinion is being furnished to you for submission to the Commission as an exhibit to the Company’s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2017 (the “Quarterly Report”), which is incorporated by reference in the
Registration Statement. We hereby consent to the filing of this opinion letter as an exhibit to the Quarterly Report and its
incorporation by reference and the reference to our firm in that report. In giving our consent, we do not admit that we are in the
category of persons whose consent is required under Section 7 of the Securities Act or the rules and regulations thereunder.
Very truly yours,
/s/ GOODWIN PROCTER LLP
GOODWIN PROCTER LLP

Exhibit 10.1
CONFORMIS, INC.
$50,000,000
EQUITY DISTRIBUTION AGREEMENT

May 10, 2017
Canaccord Genuity Inc.
99 High Street, Suite 1200
Boston, Massachusetts 02110
Ladies and Gentlemen:
ConforMIS, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), confirms its agreement (this “Agreement”) with Canaccord
Genuity Inc. (“Canaccord”), as follows:
1.Issuance and Sale of Shares. The Company agrees that, from time to time during the term of this Agreement, on the terms and
subject to the conditions set forth herein, it will issue and sell through Canaccord, acting as sales agent, shares (the “Shares”) of the
Company’s common stock, $0.00001 par value per share (the “Common Stock”) having an aggregate offering price of up to
$50,000,000. The Shares will be sold on the terms set forth herein at such times and in such amounts as the Company and
Canaccord shall agree from time to time. The issuance and sale of the Shares through Canaccord will be effected pursuant to the
Registration Statement (as defined below) filed by the Company and declared effective by the Securities and Exchange
Commission (the “Commission”).
2. Placements.
(a)

Placement Notice. Each time that the Company wishes to issue and sell Shares hereunder (each, a “Placement”), it
will notify Canaccord by e-mail notice (or other method mutually agreed to in writing by the parties) containing the
parameters within which it desires to sell the Shares, which shall at a minimum include the number of Shares
(“Placement Shares”) to be issued, the time period during which sales are requested to be made, any limitation on
the number of Shares that may be sold in any one day and any minimum price below which sales may not be made
(a “Placement Notice”), a form of which shall be mutually agreed upon by the Company and Canaccord. The
Placement Notice shall originate from any of the individuals (each an “Authorized Representative”) from the
Company set forth on Schedule 1 (with a copy to each of the other individuals from the Company listed on such
schedule), and shall be addressed to each of the individuals from Canaccord set forth on Schedule 1 attached hereto,
as such Schedule 1 may be amended from time to time. The Placement Notice shall be effective upon confirmation
by Canaccord unless and until (i) Canaccord declines to accept the terms contained therein for any reason, in its sole
discretion, in accordance with the notice requirements set forth in Section 4, (ii) the entire amount of the Placement
Shares have been sold, (iii) the Company suspends or terminates the Placement Notice in accordance with the notice
requirements set forth in Section 4, (iv) the Company issues a subsequent Placement Notice with parameters
superseding those on the earlier dated Placement Notice, or (v) the Agreement has been terminated under the
provisions of Section 12.
(i)

Placement Fee. The amount of compensation to be paid by the Company to Canaccord with respect to each
Placement (in addition to any expense reimbursement pursuant to Section 7(i)(ii)) shall be equal to 3.0% of
gross proceeds from each Placement.

(ii)

No Obligation. It is expressly acknowledged and agreed that neither the Company nor Canaccord will have
any obligation whatsoever with respect to a Placement or any Placement Shares unless and until the
Company delivers a Placement Notice to Canaccord, and then only upon the terms specified therein and
herein. It is also expressly acknowledged that Canaccord will be under no obligation to purchase Shares on a
principal basis. In the event of a conflict between the terms of this Agreement and the terms of a Placement
Notice, the terms of the Placement Notice control.

3. Sale of Placement Shares by Canaccord. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, upon the Company’s issuance
of a Placement Notice, and unless the sale of the Placement Shares described therein has been declined, suspended, or otherwise
terminated in accordance with the terms of this Agreement, Canaccord will use its commercially reasonable efforts consistent with

its normal trading and sales practices to sell on behalf of the Company and as agent, such Placement Shares up to the amount
specified, and otherwise in accordance with the terms of such Placement Notice. The Company acknowledges that Canaccord will
conduct the sale of Placement Shares in compliance with applicable law including, without limitation, Regulation M under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) and that such compliance may include a delay in
commencement of sales efforts after receipt of a Placement Notice. Canaccord will provide written confirmation to the Company
no later than the opening of the Trading Day next following the Trading Day on which they have made sales of Placement Shares
hereunder setting forth the number of Placement Shares sold on such day, the compensation payable by the Company to Canaccord
with respect to such sales, and the Net Proceeds (as defined below) payable to the Company. Canaccord may sell Placement Shares
by any method permitted by law deemed to be an “at the market” offering under Rule 415 of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended (the “Securities Act”), including without limitation sales made directly on or through The NASDAQ Global Select
Market (the “Principal Trading Market”), on any other existing trading market for the Common Stock, sales to or through a market
maker other than on an exchange or in negotiated transactions at market prices prevailing at the time of sale or at prices related to
such prevailing market prices. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Agreement or a Placement Notice, the
Company acknowledges and agrees that (i) there can be no assurance that Canaccord will be successful in selling any Placement
Shares or as to the price at which any Placement Shares are sold, if at all, and (ii) Canaccord will incur no liability or obligation to
the Company or any other person or entity if they do not sell Placement Shares for any reason other than a failure by Canaccord to
use its commercially reasonable efforts consistent with its normal trading and sales practices to sell on behalf of the Company and
as agent such Placement Shares as provided under this Section 3. For the purposes hereof, “Trading Day” means any day on which
the Principal Trading Market is open for trading.
4. Suspension of Sales. The Company or Canaccord may, upon notice to the other party in writing, by telephone (confirmed
immediately by verifiable facsimile transmission) or by e-mail notice (or other method mutually agreed to in writing by the
parties), suspend any sale of Placement Shares; provided, however, that such suspension shall not affect or impair either party’s
obligations with respect to any Placement Shares sold hereunder prior to the receipt of such notice. The Company agrees that no
such notice shall be effective against Canaccord unless it is made to one of the individuals named on Schedule 1 hereto, as such
Schedule may be amended from time to time.
5. Settlement.
(a)

Settlement of Placement Shares. Unless otherwise specified in the applicable Placement Notice, settlement for sales
of Placement Shares will occur on the third (3rd) Business Day (or such earlier day as is agreed by the parties to be
industry practice for regular-way trading) following the date on which such sales are made (each a “Settlement
Date”). The amount of proceeds to be delivered to the Company on a Settlement Date against the receipt of the
Placement Shares sold (“Net Proceeds”) will be equal to the aggregate sales price at which such Placement Shares
were sold, after deduction for (i) the commission or other compensation for such sales payable by the Company to
Canaccord, as the case may be, pursuant to Section 2 hereof, as the case may be, (ii) any other amounts due and
payable by the Company to Canaccord hereunder pursuant to Section 7(i) hereof, and (iii) any transaction fees
imposed by any governmental or self-regulatory organization in respect of such sales.

(b)

Delivery of Shares. On each Settlement Date, the Company will, or will cause its transfer agent to, electronically
transfer the Placement Shares being sold by crediting Canaccord’s accounts or its designee’s account at The
Depository Trust Company through its Deposit Withdrawal Agent Commission System or by such other means of
delivery as may be mutually agreed upon by the parties hereto and, upon receipt of such Placement Shares, which in
all cases shall be freely tradeable, transferable, registered shares in good deliverable form, Canaccord will, on each
Settlement Date, deliver the related Net Proceeds in same day funds delivered to an account designated by the
Company prior to the Settlement Date. If the Company defaults in its obligation to deliver Placement Shares on a
Settlement Date, the Company agrees that in addition to and in no way limiting the rights and obligations set forth in
Section 10 hereto, it will (i) hold Canaccord harmless against any loss, claim, damage, or expense (including legal
fees and expenses), as incurred, arising out of or in connection with such default by the Company and (ii) pay to
Canaccord any commission, discount, or other compensation to which it would otherwise have been entitled absent
such default.

6. Representations and Warranties of the Company. The Company represents and warrants to, and agrees with, Canaccord that:
(a)

Registration Statement and Prospectus. The Common Stock is registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Exchange
Act, and the Company has filed all reports, schedules, forms, statements and other documents required to be filed by
it with the Commission (the “Commission Documents”) since the Company has been subject to the requirements of
Section 12 of the Exchange Act, and all of such filings required to be filed within the last 12 months have been made
on a timely basis. The Common Stock is currently quoted on the Principal Trading Market under the trading symbol
“CFMS”. The Company and the transactions contemplated hereby meet the requirements for use of Form S-3 under
the Securities Act and the rules and regulations thereunder (“Rules and Regulations”), including but not limited to
the transaction requirements for an offering made by the issuer set forth in Instruction I.B.1 to Form S-3. The
Company has prepared and filed with the Commission a registration statement on Form S-3 (Registration Number
333-215464) with respect to the Shares to be offered and sold by the Company pursuant to this Agreement. Such
registration statement, at any given time, including the amendments thereto at such time, the exhibits and any

schedules thereto at such time, the documents incorporated by reference therein pursuant to Item 12 of Form S-3
under the Securities Act at such time and the documents otherwise deemed to be a part thereof or included therein
by the rules and regulations under the Securities Act, is herein called the “Registration Statement.” The Registration
Statement, including the base prospectus contained therein (the “Base Prospectus”) was prepared by the Company in
conformity with the requirements of the Securities Act and all applicable Rules and Regulations. One or more
prospectus supplements relating to the Shares (the “Prospectus Supplements,” and together with the Base Prospectus
and any amendment thereto and all documents incorporated therein by reference, the “Prospectus”) have been or
will be prepared by the Company in conformity with the requirements of the Securities Act and all applicable Rules
and Regulations and have been or will be filed with the Commission in the manner and time frame required by the
Securities Act and the Rules and Regulations. Any amendment or supplement to the Registration Statement or
Prospectus required by this Agreement will be so prepared and filed by the Company and, as applicable, the
Company will use commercially reasonable efforts to cause it to become effective as soon as reasonably practicable.
No stop order suspending the effectiveness of the Registration Statement has been issued, and no proceeding for that
purpose has been instituted or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened by the Commission. No order
preventing or suspending the use of the Base Prospectus, the Prospectus Supplement, the Prospectus or any Issuer
Free Writing Prospectus (as defined herein) has been issued by the Commission. Copies of all filings made by the
Company under the Securities Act and all Commission Documents that were filed with the Commission have either
been delivered to Canaccord or made available to Canaccord on the Commission’s Electronic Data Gathering,
Analysis, and Retrieval system (“EDGAR”). Any reference herein to the Registration Statement, the Prospectus, or
any amendment or supplement thereto shall be deemed to refer to and include the documents incorporated (or
deemed to be incorporated) by reference therein pursuant to Item 12 of Form S-3 under the Securities Act, and any
reference herein to the terms “amend,” “amendment” or “supplement” with respect to the Registration Statement or
Prospectus shall be deemed to refer to and include the filing after the execution hereof of any document with the
Commission deemed to be incorporated by reference therein. For the purposes of this Agreement, the “Applicable
Time” means, with respect to any Shares, the time of sale of such Shares pursuant to this Agreement.
(b)

No Misstatement or Omission. Each part of the Registration Statement, when such part became or becomes
effective, at any deemed effective date pursuant to Rule 430B(f)(2) on the date of filing thereof with the
Commission and at each Applicable Time and Settlement Date, and the Prospectus, on the date of filing thereof with
the Commission and at each Applicable Time and Settlement Date, conformed or will conform in all material
respects with the requirements of the Securities Act and the Rules and Regulations; each part of the Registration
Statement, when such part became or becomes effective, did not or will not contain an untrue statement of a material
fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not
misleading; and the Prospectus, on the date of filing thereof with the Commission, and the Prospectus and the
applicable Issuer Free Writing Prospectus(es) issued at or prior to such Applicable Time, taken together
(collectively, and with respect to any Shares, together with the public offering price of such Shares, the “Disclosure
Package”) and at each Applicable Time and Settlement Date, did not or will not include an untrue statement of a
material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances
under which they were made, not misleading; except that the foregoing shall not apply to statements or omissions in
any such document made in reliance on information furnished in writing to the Company by Canaccord expressly
stating that such information is intended for use in the Registration Statement, the Prospectus, or any amendment or
supplement thereto, or in any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus(es).

(c)

Conformity with Securities Act and Exchange Act. The documents incorporated by reference in the Registration
Statement or the Prospectus, or any amendment or supplement thereto, when they became effective under the
Securities Act or were filed with the Commission under the Exchange Act, as the case may be, conformed in all
material respects with the requirements of the Securities Act or the Exchange Act, as applicable, and the rules and
regulations of the Commission thereunder, and none of such documents contained an untrue statement of a material
fact or omitted to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein not
misleading; and any further documents so filed and incorporated by reference in the Registration Statement or the
Prospectus or any further amendment or supplement thereto, when such documents become effective or are filed
with the Commission, as the case may be, will conform to the requirements of the Securities Act or the Exchange
Act, as applicable, and the rules and regulations of the Commission thereunder and will not contain an untrue
statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the
statements therein not misleading; provided however, that this representation and warranty shall not apply to any
statements or omissions (a) that have been corrected in a filing that has been incorporated by reference in the
Prospectus not less than 24 hours prior to the relevant Applicable Time or (b) made in reliance on information
furnished in writing to the Company by Canaccord expressly stating that such information is intended for use in any
such document.

(d)

Financial Information. The financial statements (including the related notes thereto and the supporting schedules) of
the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries listed on Schedule 2 hereto (the “Subsidiaries”), set forth or
incorporated by reference in the Registration Statement, Prospectus and Disclosure Package, have been and will be
prepared in accordance with Regulation S-X under the Securities Act, in all material respects, and with United States
generally accepted accounting principles consistently applied at the times and during the periods covered thereby

(except (i) as may be otherwise indicated in such financial statements or the notes thereto, and(ii) in the case of
unaudited interim statements, subject to normal year-end audit adjustments and the exclusion or condensing of
certain footnotes), and fairly present in all material respects and will fairly present in all material respects the
financial position of the Company as of the dates indicated and the results of its operations and the changes in its
cash flows for the periods specified (subject, in the case of unaudited statements, to normal year-end adjustments);
and the other financial information included or incorporated by reference in the Registration Statement, the
Prospectus and the Disclosure Package has been derived from the accounting records of the Company and its
Subsidiaries and presents fairly in all material respects the information shown thereby. The Company does not have
any material liabilities or obligations, direct or contingent, which are not disclosed in the Registration Statement,
Prospectus and Disclosure Package, as of the date of filing of those documents.
(e)

Organization.
(i)

The Company has been duly incorporated and is validly existing as a corporation in good standing under the
laws of Delaware with full corporate power and authority to own, lease and operate its properties and to
conduct its business as described in the Registration Statement and Prospectus; and the Company is duly
qualified as a foreign entity to transact business and is in good standing in each jurisdiction in which such
qualification is required, whether by reason of the ownership or leasing of property or the conduct of
business, except where the failure, individually or in the aggregate, to be so qualified or in good standing or
have such power or authority would not, individually or in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on
(i) the consolidated business, operations, assets, properties, financial condition, prospects or results of
operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole, (ii) the transactions contemplated hereby or
(iii) the ability of the Company to perform its obligations under this Agreement (collectively, a “Material
Adverse Effect”).

(ii)

Each of the Subsidiaries has been duly formed and is validly existing (and in good standing, where
applicable) under the laws of the jurisdiction of its formation has full power and authority to own, lease and
operate its properties and conduct its business as described in the Registration Statement and their Prospectus
and is duly qualified to transact business and is in good standing in each jurisdiction in which such
qualification is required, whether by reason of the ownership or leasing of property or the conduct of
business, except where the failure to be so qualified or in good standing or have such power or authority
would not, individually or in the aggregate, have a Material Adverse Effect.

(f)

Subsidiaries. Except as described in the Prospectus, all of the assets described in the Prospectus as owned by the
Subsidiaries of the Company are owned directly by the Subsidiaries. Except for the Subsidiaries, the Company owns
no beneficial interest, directly or indirectly, in any corporation, partnership, joint venture, limited liability company
or other entity.

(g)

Encumbrances. Except as described in the Registration Statement, Prospectus and Disclosure Package, each of the
Company and its Subsidiaries has (i) good and marketable title to all of the properties and assets owned by it that are
material to the business of the Company and the Subsidiaries taken as a whole, free and clear of all material liens,
charges, claims, security interests or encumbrances (collectively, “Encumbrances”), except those that (i) do not
materially interfere with the use made and proposed to be made of such property by the Company and the
Subsidiaries or (ii) would not reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a Material Adverse
Effect, and (ii) possession under all material leases to which it is party as lessee. All leases and contracts to which
the Company or its Subsidiaries is a party are valid and binding and no material default has occurred and is
continuing thereunder, and no event or circumstance that with the passage of time or giving of notice, or both, would
constitute such a material default has occurred and is continuing, and, to the knowledge of the Company, no defaults
by the counterparties exist under any such leases or contracts.

(h)

No Improper Practices. (i) Neither the Company nor the Subsidiaries, nor to the knowledge of the Company, any
director, officer, agent, employee or other person associated with or acting on behalf of the Company or the
Subsidiaries, has, in the past five years, used any corporate funds of Company for any unlawful contribution, gift,
entertainment or other unlawful expense relating to political activity; made any direct or indirect unlawful payment
to any foreign or domestic government official or employee from corporate funds of Company, violated or is in
violation of any provision of the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act of 1977; or made any bribe, rebate, payoff, influence
payment, kickback or other unlawful payment; (ii) no relationship, direct or indirect, exists between or among the
Company or, to the knowledge of the Company, the Subsidiaries, on the one hand, and the directors, officers and
stockholders of the Company or, to the knowledge of the Company, the Subsidiaries, on the other hand, that is
required by the Securities Act to be described in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus that is not so
described; (iii) no relationship, direct or indirect, exists between or among the Company or the Subsidiaries or any
affiliate of them, on the one hand, and the directors, officers, stockholders or directors of the Company or, to the
knowledge of the Company, the Subsidiaries, on the other hand, that is required by the rules of the Financial
Industry Regulatory Authority (“FINRA”) to be described in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus that is
not so described; and (iv) except as described in the Prospectus, there are no material outstanding loans or advances

or material guarantees of indebtedness by the Company or, to the knowledge of the Company, the Subsidiaries to or
for the benefit of any of their respective officers or directors or any of the members of the families of any of them.
(i)

Investment Company Act. The Company is not now and, after giving effect to the offering and sale of the Shares,
will not be required to register as an “investment company” or an entity “controlled” by an “investment company,”
as such terms are defined in the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the “Investment Company Act”).

(j)

Capitalization. All of the issued shares of capital stock of the Company have been duly and validly authorized and
issued and are fully paid and non-assessable and have been issued in compliance with all applicable United States
federal and state and all applicable foreign securities laws; and all of the issued shares of capital stock or other
equity interests of the Subsidiaries have been duly and validly authorized and issued and are fully paid and nonassessable (except, in the case of any foreign subsidiary, for directors’ qualifying shares) and the shares of such
Subsidiaries are owned directly or indirectly by the Company and are held free and clear of all Encumbrances. None
of the outstanding shares of Common Stock were issued in violation of any preemptive rights, rights of first refusal
or other similar rights to subscribe for or purchase securities of the Company. Except as may be described in the
Registration Statement and the Prospectus, and except with respect to equity awards issued under the Company’s
equity incentive plans, there are no outstanding options, warrants, preemptive rights, rights of first refusal or other
rights to purchase, or equity or debt securities convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for, any capital stock
of the Company.

(k)

The Shares. The Shares have been duly authorized and, when issued, delivered and paid for pursuant to this
Agreement, will be validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable, free and clear of all Encumbrances and will be
issued in compliance with all applicable United States federal and state and all applicable foreign securities laws; the
capital stock of the Company, including the Common Stock, conforms in all material respects to the description
thereof contained in the Registration Statement and the Common Stock, including the Placement Shares, will
conform to the description thereof contained in the Prospectus as amended or supplemented. Neither the
stockholders of the Company, nor any other person or entity have any preemptive rights or rights of first refusal with
respect to the Placement Shares, or other rights to purchase or receive any of the Placement Shares or any other
securities or assets of the Company, and no person has the right, contractual or otherwise, to cause the Company to
issue to it, or register pursuant to the Securities Act, any shares of capital stock or other securities or assets of the
Company upon the issuance or sale of the Placement Shares, in each case except for rights that have been validly
waived.

(l)

No Material Changes. Since the date of the most recent financial statements of the Company set forth or
incorporated by reference in the Registration Statement, the Prospectus and the Disclosure Package, (i) neither the
Company nor any of the Subsidiaries has sustained any material loss or interference with the business of the
Company and its Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, including without limitation, from fire, explosion, flood or other
calamity, whether or not covered by insurance, or from any labor dispute or court or governmental action, order or
decree, except in each case as otherwise disclosed in the Registration Statement, Prospectus and Disclosure Package;
(ii) there have been no transactions entered into by the Company or the Subsidiaries which are material to the
Company and its Subsidiaries, considered as a whole, (iii) there has not been any material change, on a consolidated
basis, in the authorized capital stock of the Company and its Subsidiaries (other than the issuance of shares of
Common Stock upon the exercise of stock options and warrants described as outstanding in, and the grant of options
and awards under existing equity incentive plans described in, the Registration Statement, Prospectus and Disclosure
Package), any material increase in the short-term debt or long-term debt of the Company and its Subsidiaries, on a
consolidated basis, or any dividend or distribution of any kind declared, set aside for payment, paid or made by the
Company on any class of Capital Stock, or any Material Adverse Effect, or any development reasonably likely to
cause or result in a Material Adverse Effect.

(m)

Legal Proceedings.
(i)

Except as set forth in the Registration Statement, Prospectus and Disclosure Package, there is no legal,
governmental, administrative or other claim, proceeding, investigation, action, suit or inquiry pending, or, to
the knowledge of the Company, threatened against or affecting the Company or its Subsidiaries or any of
their respective properties or to which the Company or its Subsidiaries is or may be a party or to which any
property of the Company or its Subsidiaries is or may be the subject, or against any officer, director or
employee of the Company or the Subsidiaries in connection with such person’s employment therewith that, if
determined adversely to the Company or the Subsidiaries or such officer, director or employee, would
individually or in the aggregate have, or reasonably be expected to have, a Material Adverse Effect. Neither
the Company nor its Subsidiaries is a party to or subject to the provisions of, any order, writ, injunction,
judgment or decree of any court or government agency or instrumentality which would have a Material
Adverse Effect.

(ii)

There are no legal, governmental or administrative proceedings, investigations, actions, suits or inquiries or
contracts or documents of the Company or its Subsidiaries that are required to be described in or filed as

exhibits to the Commission Documents, Registration Statement or any of the documents incorporated by
reference therein by the Securities Act or the Exchange Act or by the rules and regulations of the
Commission thereunder that have not been so described or filed as required by the Securities Act or the
Exchange Act and the Rules and Regulations under either of them.
(n)

Authorization; Enforceability.
(i)

The Company has all requisite corporate power and authority to execute and deliver this Agreement and to
perform its obligations hereunder, to provide the representations, warranties and indemnities under this
Agreement and all necessary action has been duly and validly taken by the Company to authorize the
execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement. This Agreement has been duly and validly
authorized, executed and delivered by the Company and constitutes the legal, valid and binding obligation of
the Company, enforceable against the Company in accordance with its terms, except as rights to
indemnification and contribution hereunder may be limited by applicable law and except as enforcement
hereof may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other similar laws affecting
the enforcement of creditors’ rights generally and by general equitable principles (whether applied in a
proceeding in law or equity).

(ii)

Executing and delivering this Agreement and the issuance and sale of the Shares and the compliance by the
Company with all of the provisions of this Agreement and the consummation of the transactions
contemplated herein will not result in (i) a breach or violation of any of the terms and provisions of, or
constitute a default under, any obligation, agreement, covenant or condition contained in any indenture,
mortgage, deed of trust, loan or credit agreement or other agreement or instrument to which the Company or
its Subsidiaries is a party or by which either of them is bound or to which any of the property of the
Company or its Subsidiaries is subject, (ii) a violation of the Company’s certificate of incorporation or
bylaws, (iii) a violation of any statute or any order, rule or regulation of any court or governmental agency or
body having jurisdiction over the Company or its Subsidiaries or any of their properties, or (iv) the creation
of any material Encumbrance upon any assets of the Company or its Subsidiaries or the triggering, solely as
a result of the Company’s execution and delivery of this Agreement, of any preemptive or anti-dilution rights
or rights of first refusal or first offer, or any similar rights (whether pursuant to a “poison pill” provision or
otherwise), on the part of holders of the Company’s securities or any other person, except, in the cases of (i),
(iii) and (iv) above, for any such conflict, breach, violation, creation or default that would not, individually or
in the aggregate, have a Material Adverse Effect. Neither the Company nor its Subsidiaries or affiliates, nor
any person acting on its or their behalf, has issued or sold any shares of Common Stock or securities or
instruments convertible into, exchangeable for and/or otherwise entitling the holder thereof to acquire shares
of Common Stock which would be integrated with the offer and sale of the Shares hereunder.

(o)

Enforceability of Agreements. All agreements between the Company and third parties expressly referenced in the
Prospectus are legal, valid and binding obligations of the Company enforceable in accordance with their respective
terms, except to the extent that (i) enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization,
moratorium or similar laws affecting creditors’ rights generally and by general equitable principles and (ii) the
indemnification provisions of certain agreements may be limited be federal or state securities laws or public policy
considerations in respect thereof and except for any unenforceability that, individually or in the aggregate, would not
reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(p)

No Violations or Default. Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaries is (i) in violation of any provisions of its
articles of incorporation, bylaws or any other governing document as amended and in effect on and as of the date
hereof, (ii) in default (and no event has occurred which, with notice or lapse of time or both, would constitute a
default) under any indenture, mortgage, deed of trust, loan or credit agreement or any provision of any instrument or
contract to which it is a party or by which it is bound that, individually or in the aggregate, could have a Material
Adverse Effect or (iii) subject to a Company Repayment Event (as defined below). As used herein, “Company
Repayment Event” means any event or condition which gives the holder of any note, debenture or other evidence of
indebtedness (or any person acting on such holder’s behalf) the right to require the repurchase, redemption or
repayment prior to the stated maturity or date of mandatory redemption or repayment thereof of all or a portion of
such indebtedness by the Company or its Subsidiaries.

(q)

Compliance with Laws. The Company and its Subsidiaries have not violated and are in compliance with all laws,
statutes, ordinances, regulations, rules and orders of each foreign, federal, state or local government and any other
governmental department or agency having jurisdiction over the Company and the Subsidiaries, and any judgment,
decision, decree or order of any court or governmental agency, department or authority having jurisdiction over the
Company and the Subsidiaries, except for such violations or noncompliance which, individually or in the aggregate,
would not have a Material Adverse Effect.

(r)

Consents and Permits. The Company and its Subsidiaries possess all such licenses, permits, consents, orders,
certificates, authorizations, approvals, franchises and rights issued by and have obtained or made all such

registrations with the appropriate federal, state, foreign or local regulatory agencies or judicial or governmental
bodies that are or will be necessary to conduct their business as described in the Registration Statement and the
Prospectus, except for licenses, permits, consents, orders, certificates, authorizations, approvals, franchises, rights or
registrations, the absence of which, individually or in the aggregate, would not have a Material Adverse Effect; the
Company and its Subsidiaries have not received any notice of proceedings or investigations relating to the
revocation or modification of any such licenses, permits, consents, orders, certificates, authorizations, approvals,
franchises, rights or registrations which, singly or in the aggregate, if the subject of an unfavorable decision, ruling
or finding, would have a Material Adverse Effect. No consent, approval, authorization, permit, or order of, or filing
or registration with, any court or governmental or self-regulatory agency or body is required for the issue and sale of
the Shares and the consummation by the Company of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement, except the
filing with the Commission of the Registration Statement (including the Prospectus) and amendments and
supplements to the Registration Statement and Prospectus related to the issue and sale of the Shares, filings related
to the transactions contemplated hereby on Form 8‑K and such consents, approvals, authorizations, registrations or
qualifications as have already been obtained or made or as may be required by the Financial Industry Regulatory
Authority, Inc. (“FINRA”) or Principal Trading Market or under state securities or Blue Sky laws.
(s)

Insurance. On the date hereof, and after the date hereof other than as set forth in the Prospectus, the Company and its
Subsidiaries carry, or are covered by, insurance in such amounts and covering such risks as is prudent, reasonable
and customary for companies engaged in similar businesses in similar industries; neither the Company nor its
Subsidiaries has received notice from any insurer or agent of such insurer that material capital improvements or
other expenditures will have to be made in order to continue such insurance; all such insurance is outstanding and in
full force and effect and neither the Company nor the Subsidiaries has received any notice of cancellation or
proposed cancellation relating to such insurance.

(t)

Environmental Laws.
(i)

On the date hereof, and after the date hereof other than as set forth in the Registration Statement, Prospectus
and Disclosure Package, the Company and its Subsidiaries have obtained all environmental permits, licenses
and other authorizations required by federal, state, foreign and local law relating to the protection of human
health and safety, the environment or hazardous or toxic substances or wastes, pollutants or contaminants
(“Environmental Laws”), in order to conduct their businesses as described in the Prospectus, except where
the failure to obtain a particular environmental permit, license, or authorization, has not or would not
reasonably be expected to, either individually or in the aggregate, result in a Material Adverse Effect; the
Company and the Subsidiaries are conducting their businesses in compliance in all material respects with
such permits, licenses and authorizations and with applicable environmental laws; and, except as described
in the Registration Statement, Prospectus and Disclosure Package, the Company is not in material violation
of any federal, state, foreign or local law or regulation relating to the storage, handling, disposal, release or
transportation of hazardous or toxic materials except for such violations or noncompliance which,
individually or in the aggregate, would not have a Material Adverse Effect.

(ii)

In the ordinary course of its business, the Company conducts a periodic review of the effect of
Environmental Laws on the business, operations and properties of the Company and its Subsidiaries, in the
course of which it identifies and evaluates associated costs and liabilities (including, without limitation, any
capital or operating expenditures required for clean-up or compliance with Environmental Laws or any
permit, license or approval, any related constraints on operating activities and any potential liabilities to third
parties). On the basis of such review, the Company has reasonably concluded that such associated costs and
liabilities would not, individually or in the aggregate, have a Material Adverse Effect.

(u)

Independent Public Accountants. Grant Thornton LLP, which has audited the consolidated balance sheets of the
Company as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 and the consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss,
changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years then ended and reviewed the consolidated interim
financial statements of the Company for the three-month period ended March 31, 2017, which are all included in or
incorporated by reference in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus, is a registered independent public
accounting firm as required by the Securities Act, the Rules and Regulations and the Exchange Act.

(v)

Forward-Looking Statements. No forward looking statement within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities
Act and Section 21E of the Exchange Act contained in the Commission Documents, the Registration Statement or
the Prospectus, has been made or reaffirmed without a reasonable basis or has been disclosed other than in good
faith.

(w)

Intellectual Property. Except for specific matters the Company is aware of that are accurately described in the
Registration Statement, Prospectus and Disclosure Package, the Company and its Subsidiaries own or possess, or
can promptly acquire on reasonable terms, adequate rights to use all patents, trademarks, service marks, tradenames,
copyrights, trade secrets, licenses, information and proprietary rights and processes necessary for their respective
businesses as now conducted (collectively, the “Company Intellectual Property Rights”), except where the failure to

own or possess, or promptly acquire on reasonable terms such Company Intellectual Property Rights, individually or
in the aggregate, would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse effect, and to the knowledge of the
Company, the conduct of the respective businesses of the Company and its Subsidiaries has not infringed,
misappropriated or otherwise violated the rights of others intellectual property in any material respect. Except as
disclosed in the Registration Statement, Prospectus and Disclosure Package or as would not, individually or in the
aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, neither the Company nor any of the
Subsidiaries has received any written communications alleging that the Company or its Subsidiaries has infringed,
misappropriated or otherwise violated or, by conducting its business, would violate any of the patents, trademarks,
service marks, tradenames, copyrights, trade secrets or other proprietary rights or processes of any other person or
entity. Except as described in the Registration Statement, Prospectus or Disclosure Package, all Company
Intellectual Property Rights are, to the knowledge of the Company, enforceable and, to the Company’s knowledge,
there is no existing infringement by any person of such Company Intellectual Property Rights, except, in each case,
as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. All patent
applications that have been filed by the Company or the Subsidiaries with the Patent and Trademark Office have
been duly filed by the Company or such Subsidiaries, as applicable, and the Company has taken all actions
reasonably necessary to maintain the prosecution of such patent applications, except where the failure to do so
would not, individually or in the aggregate reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.
(x)

Taxes.
(i)

The Company was not, for the immediately preceding taxable year, treated as, will not, for the current
taxable year, be treated as, and does not anticipate that, for any subsequent taxable year, it will be treated as a
“passive foreign investment company,” a “foreign investment company” or a “foreign personal holding
company” for United States federal income tax purposes.

(ii)

The Company has filed all United States federal and state and all applicable local and foreign income tax
returns which have been required to be filed through the date hereof, except in any case in which the failure
to so file would not, individually or in the aggregate, have a Material Adverse Effect.

(iii)

The Company has paid all United States federal, state and local and foreign taxes required to be paid and any
other assessment, fine or penalty levied against it, to the extent that any of the foregoing would otherwise be
delinquent, except, in all cases, for any such tax, assessment, fine or penalty that is being contested in good
faith and except in any case in which the failure to so pay would not, individually or in the aggregate, result
in a Material Adverse Effect.

(iv)

No stamp or other issuance or transfer taxes or duties and no capital gains, income, withholding or other
taxes are payable by or on behalf of Canaccord to any political subdivision or taxing authority in connection
with the sale and delivery by the Company of the Placement Shares to or for the account of Canaccord or the
sale and delivery by Canaccord of the Placement Shares to the purchasers thereof.

(y)

No Reliance. The Company has not relied upon Canaccord or legal counsel for Canaccord for any legal, tax or
accounting advice in connection with the offering and sale of the Placement Shares.

(z)

Underwriter Agreements. Except for this Agreement the Company, is not a party to any agreement with an agent or
underwriter for any other “at the market” or continuous equity transaction or negotiated or underwritten public
offering.

(aa)

Disclosure Controls.

(bb)

(i)

The Company has established and maintains disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in
Rule 13a-15 under the Exchange Act), which (a) are designed to ensure that material information relating to
the Company, including its consolidated Subsidiaries, is made known to the Company’s principal executive
officer and its principal financial officer by others within those entities, particularly during the preparation of
the Registration Statement; (b) have been evaluated for effectiveness as of the date of the filing of the
Registration Statement with the Commission; and (c) are effective in all material respects to perform the
functions for which they were established.

(ii)

The Company (a) makes and keeps accurate books and records and (b) maintains internal accounting
controls which provide reasonable assurance that (1) transactions are executed in accordance with
management’s authorization, (2) transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of its financial
statements and to maintain accountability for its assets, (3) access to its assets is permitted only in
accordance with management’s authorization and (4) the reported accountability for its assets is compared
with existing assets at reasonable intervals and appropriate action is taken with respect to any differences.

Accounting Controls. Except as disclosed in the Registration Statement, the Prospectus and the Disclosure Package,
there is no (i) significant deficiency or material weakness in the design or operation of internal controls over

financial reporting; or (ii) fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting.
(cc)

Certain Market Activities. The Company has not taken, directly or indirectly, without giving effect to activities by
Canaccord, any action designed to, or that might be reasonably expected to, cause or result in stabilization or
manipulation of the price of the Shares.

(dd)

Broker/Dealer Relationships. Neither the Company nor the Subsidiaries or any related entities (i) is required to
register as a “broker” or “dealer” in accordance with the provisions of the Exchange Act or (ii) directly or indirectly
through one or more intermediaries, controls or is a “person associated with a FINRA member” or “associated
person of a FINRA member” (within the meaning of Article I of the Bylaws of the FINRA).

(ee)

Sarbanes-Oxley. The principal executive officer and principal financial officer of the Company have made all
certifications required by Sections 302 and 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and the rules and regulations
promulgated in connection therewith (the “Sarbanes-Oxley Act”) with respect to all reports, schedules, forms,
statements and other documents required to be filed by it with the Commission, and the statements contained in any
such certification are complete and correct. The Company, and to its knowledge, all of the Company’s directors or
officers, in their capacities as such, are in compliance in all material respects with all applicable effective provisions
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

(ff)

Finder’s Fees. Neither the Company nor the Subsidiaries has incurred any liability for any brokerage commission,
finder’s fees or similar payments in connection with the transactions herein contemplated, except as may otherwise
exist with respect to Canaccord pursuant to this Agreement.

(gg)

Labor Disputes. There are no existing or, to the knowledge of the Company, threatened labor disputes with the
employees of the Company or its Subsidiaries, except as would not have a Material Adverse Effect.

(hh)

Canaccord Purchases. The Company acknowledges and agrees that Canaccord has informed the Company that
Canaccord may, to the extent permitted under the Securities Act and the Exchange Act, purchase and sell shares of
Common Stock for Canaccord’s own account and for the account of its clients at the same time as sales of
Placement Shares occur pursuant to this Agreement.

(ii)

No Registration Rights. Except as may be described in the Prospectus, including the documents incorporated therein
by reference, neither the Company nor its Subsidiaries is party to any agreement that provides any person with the
right to require the Company or its Subsidiaries to register any securities for sale under the Securities Act by reason
of the filing of the Registration Statement with the Commission or the issuance and sale of the Placement Shares.

(jj)

Prospectus Disclosure. The statements set forth in the Prospectus under the caption “Description of Capital Stock”
insofar as they purport to constitute a summary of the terms of the Shares, and under the caption “Plan of
Distribution,” insofar as they purport to describe the provisions of the laws and documents referred to therein, are
accurate and complete.

(kk)

OFAC. To the knowledge of the Company, none of the Company, its Subsidiaries or any director, officer, agent,
employee or affiliate of the Company or its Subsidiaries is currently the target of any proceeding, investigation, suit
or other action arising out of any U.S. sanctions administered by the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the U.S.
Department of the Treasury (“OFAC”); and the Company will not directly or indirectly use the proceeds of the
offering of the Placement Shares hereunder, or lend, contribute or otherwise make available such proceeds to any
subsidiary, joint venture partner or other person or entity, for the purpose of financing the activities of any person
currently subject to any U.S. sanctions administered by OFAC.

(ll)

Operations. The operations of the Company and its Subsidiaries are and have been conducted at all times in
compliance with applicable financial record keeping and reporting requirements of the Currency and Foreign
Transactions Reporting Act of 1970, as amended, the money laundering statutes of all jurisdictions to which the
Company and its Subsidiaries are subject, the rules and regulations thereunder and any related or similar rules,
regulations or guidelines, issued, administered or enforced by any governmental agency (collectively, the “Money
Laundering Laws”), except as would not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect; and no
action, suit or proceeding by or before any court or governmental agency, authority or body or any arbitrator
involving the Company or its Subsidiaries with respect to the Money Laundering Laws is pending or, to the
knowledge of the Company, threatened.

(mm) Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements. There are no transactions, arrangements and other relationships between and/or
among the Company, and/or, to the knowledge of the Company, any of its affiliates and any unconsolidated entity,
including, but not limited to, any structural finance, special purpose or limited purpose entity (each, an “Off Balance
Sheet Transaction”) that could reasonably be expected to affect materially the Company’s liquidity or the availability
of or requirements for its capital resources, including those Off Balance Sheet Transactions described in the
Commission’s Statement about Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditions and Results of

Operations (Release Nos. 33-8056; 34-45321; FR-61), required to be described in the Prospectus which have not
been described as required.
(nn)

ERISA. Each material employee benefit plan, within the meaning of Section 3(3) of the Employee Retirement
Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (“ERISA”), that is maintained, administered or contributed to by the
Company or any of its affiliates for employees or former employees of the Company and its Subsidiaries has been
maintained in material compliance with its terms and the requirements of any applicable statutes, orders, rules and
regulations, including but not limited to ERISA and the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”);
no prohibited transaction, within the meaning of Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code, has occurred
which would result in a material liability to the Company with respect to any such plan excluding transactions
effected pursuant to a statutory or administrative exemption; and for each such plan that is subject to the funding
rules of Section 412 of the Code or Section 302 of ERISA, no “accumulated funding deficiency” as defined in
Section 412 of the Code has been incurred, whether or not waived, and the fair market value of the assets of each
such plan (excluding for these purposes accrued but unpaid contributions) exceeds the present value of all benefits
accrued under such plan determined using reasonable actuarial assumptions.

(oo)

No Misstatement or Omission in an Issuer Free Writing Prospectus. Each issuer free writing prospectus, as defined
in Rule 405 under the Securities Act (an “Issuer Free Writing Prospectus”), as of the Applicable Time did not or will
not contain an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact required to be stated therein or
necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading;
provided, however, that the Company makes no representation or warranty with respect to any statement contained
in any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus in reliance upon and in conformity with written information furnished to the
Company by and through Canaccord for use therein.

(pp)

Conformity of Issuer Free Writing Prospectus. Each Issuer Free Writing Prospectus conformed or will conform in all
material respects with the requirements of the Securities Act on the date of first use, and the Company has complied
or will comply with any filing requirements applicable to such Issuer Free Writing Prospectus pursuant to the
Securities Act. Each Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, as of its issue date and at all subsequent times through the
completion of the public offer and sale of the Placement Shares, did not, does not and will not include any
information that conflicted, conflicts or will conflict with the information contained in the Registration Statement or
the Prospectus, including any document incorporated by reference therein that has not been superseded or modified.
The Company has not made any offer relating to the Shares that would constitute an Issuer Free Writing Prospectus
without the prior written consent of Canaccord. The Company has retained in accordance with the Securities Act all
Issuer Free Writing Prospectuses that were not required to be filed pursuant to the Securities Act.

(qq)

Regulatory. Except as described in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus, each of the Company and the
Subsidiaries: (i) is and at all times has been in material compliance with all applicable U.S. and foreign statutes,
rules, regulations, or guidance applicable to the Company and the Subsidiaries and the ownership, testing,
development, manufacture, packaging, processing, use, distribution, marketing, labeling, promotion, sale, offer for
sale, storage, import, export or disposal of any product manufactured or distributed by the Company (“Applicable
Laws”), except as could not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse
Effect; (ii) have not received any written notice of adverse finding, warning letter, untitled letter or other written
correspondence or notice from the U.S. Food and Drug Administration or any other U.S. federal or state or foreign
governmental authority having authority over the Company (“Governmental Authority”) alleging or asserting
noncompliance with any Applicable Laws or any material licenses, certificates, approvals, clearances,
authorizations, permits and supplements or amendments thereto required by any such Applicable Laws
(“Authorizations”); (iii) possess all material Authorizations and such material Authorizations are valid and in full
force and effect and are not in violation of any term of any such material Authorizations; (iv) have not received
written notice of any claim, action, suit, proceeding, hearing, enforcement, investigation, arbitration or other action
from any Governmental Authority or third party alleging that any product operation or activity is in violation of any
Applicable Laws or material Authorizations and have no knowledge that any such Governmental Authority or third
party is considering any such claim, litigation, arbitration, action, suit, investigation or proceeding; (v) have not
received written notice that any Governmental Authority has taken, is taking or intends to take action to limit,
suspend, modify or revoke any material Authorizations and the Company has no knowledge that any such
Governmental Authority is considering such action; and (vi) have filed, obtained, maintained or submitted all
material reports, documents, forms, notices, applications, records, claims, submissions and supplements or
amendments as required by any Applicable Laws or material Authorizations and that all such reports, documents,
forms, notices, applications, records, claims, submissions and supplements or amendments were complete and
correct in all material respects on the date filed (or were corrected or supplemented by a subsequent submission).

(rr)

Clinical Studies. (i) Except as described in the Registration Statement, Prospectus and Disclosure Package, to the
Company’s knowledge, the clinical studies conducted by or on behalf of the Company that are described in the
Registration Statement, Prospectus and Disclosure Package, or the results of which are referred to in the Registration
Statement, Prospectus and Disclosure Package, as applicable, were and, if still pending, are, in all material respects,
being conducted in accordance with standard medical and scientific research standards and procedures for products

or product candidates comparable to those being developed by the Company and all applicable laws; (ii) the
descriptions of the results of such studies contained in the Registration Statement, Prospectus and Disclosure
Package are accurate and complete in all material respects and fairly present the data derived therefrom in all
material respects; (iii) the descriptions in the Registration Statement, Prospectus and Disclosure Package of the
results of such clinical studies are consistent in all material respects with such results and to the Company’s
knowledge there are no other studies or other clinical trials whose results are solely in the opinion of Company’s
management materially inconsistent with or otherwise materially call into question the results described or referred
to in the Registration Statement, Prospectus and Disclosure Package; and (iv) the Company has not received any
notices or correspondence from any Governmental Authority requiring the termination, suspension or material
modification of any clinical studies that are described in the Registration Statement, Prospectus and Disclosure
Package or the results of which are referred to in the Registration Statement, Prospectus and Disclosure Package,
other than ordinary course communications with respect to modifications in connection with the design and
implementation of such studies.
7. Covenants of the Company. The Company covenants and agrees with Canaccord that:
(a)

Registration Statement Amendments. After the date of this Agreement and during the period in which a prospectus
relating to the Placement Shares is required to be delivered by Canaccord under the Securities Act (including in
circumstances where such requirement may be satisfied pursuant to Rule 172 or Rule 173(a) under the Securities
Act), (i) the Company will notify Canaccord promptly of the time when any subsequent amendment to the
Registration Statement has been filed with the Commission and has become effective (each, a “Registration
Statement Amendment Date”) or any subsequent supplement to the Prospectus has been filed and of any request by
the Commission for any amendment or supplement to the Registration Statement or Prospectus or for additional
information; (ii) the Company will file promptly all other material required to be filed by it with the Commission
pursuant to Rule 433(d) under the Securities Act; (iii) it will prepare and file with the Commission, promptly upon
Canaccord’s request, any amendments or supplements to the Registration Statement or Prospectus that, in
Canaccord’s reasonable opinion, may be necessary or advisable in connection with the distribution of the Placement
Shares by Canaccord (provided, however that the failure of Canaccord to make such request shall not relieve the
Company of any obligation or liability hereunder, or affect Canaccord’s right to rely on the representations and
warranties made by the Company in this Agreement); and (iv) the Company will submit to Canaccord a copy of any
amendment or supplement to the Registration Statement or Prospectus a reasonable period of time before the filing
thereof and will afford Canaccord and Canaccord’s counsel a reasonable opportunity to comment on any such
proposed filing prior to such proposed filing; and the Company will cause each amendment or supplement to the
Prospectus to be filed with the Commission as required pursuant to the applicable paragraph of Rule 424 (b) of the
Rules and Regulations or, in the case of any document to be incorporated therein by reference, to be filed with the
Commission as required pursuant to the Exchange Act, within the time period prescribed.

(b)

Notice of Commission Stop Orders. The Company will advise Canaccord, promptly after it receives notice thereof,
of the issuance by the Commission of any stop order or of any order preventing or suspending the use of the
Prospectus or other prospectus in respect of the Shares, of any notice of objection of the Commission to the use of
the form of the Registration Statement or any post‑effective amendment thereto pursuant to Rule 401(g)(2) under the
Securities Act, of the suspension of the qualification of the Shares for offering or sale in any jurisdiction, of the
initiation or threatening of any proceeding for any such purpose, or of any request by the Commission for the
amending or supplementing of the form of the Registration Statement or the Prospectus or for additional
information; and, in the event of the issuance of any such stop order or of any such order preventing or suspending
the use of the Prospectus in respect of the Shares or suspending any such qualification, to promptly use its
commercially reasonable efforts to obtain the withdrawal of such order; and in the event of any such issuance of a
notice of objection, promptly to take such reasonable steps as may be necessary to permit offers and sales of the
Placement Shares by Canaccord, which may include, without limitation, amending the Registration Statement or
filing a new registration statement, at the Company’s expense (references herein to the Registration Statement shall
include any such amendment or new registration statement).

(c)

Delivery of Prospectus; Subsequent Changes. Within the time during which a prospectus relating to the Shares is
required to be delivered by Canaccord under the Securities Act (including in circumstances where such requirement
may be satisfied pursuant to Rule 172 or Rule 173(a) under the Securities Act), the Company will comply with all
requirements imposed upon it by the Securities Act and by the Rules and Regulations, as from time to time in force,
and will file on or before their respective due dates all reports required to be filed by it with the Commission
pursuant to Sections 13(a), 13(c), 15(d), if applicable, or any other provision of or under the Exchange Act. If during
such period any event occurs as a result of which the Prospectus as then amended or supplemented would include an
untrue statement of material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in the light
of the circumstances then existing, not misleading, or if during such period it is necessary to amend or supplement
the Registration Statement or Prospectus to comply with the Securities Act, the Company will immediately notify
Canaccord to suspend the offering of Shares during such period and the Company will promptly amend or
supplement the Registration Statement or Prospectus (at the expense of the Company) so as to correct such
statement or omission or effect such compliance.

(d)

NASDAQ Filings. In connection with the offering and sale of the Placement Shares, the Company will file with The
NASDAQ Global Select Market all documents and notices, and make all certifications, required by The NASDAQ
Global Select Market of companies that have securities that are listed on The NASDAQ Global Select Market.

(e)

Listing of Placement Shares. The Company will use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the Placement Shares
to be listed on the Principal Trading Market and to qualify the Placement Shares for sale under the securities laws of
such jurisdictions as Canaccord designates and to continue such qualifications in effect so long as required for the
distribution of the Placement Shares; provided that the Company shall not be required in connection therewith to
qualify as a foreign corporation or other entity or as a dealer in securities in any such jurisdiction where it would not
otherwise be required to so qualify or to file a general consent to service of process in any such jurisdiction or
subject itself to taxation in any such jurisdiction if it is not otherwise so subject.

(f)

Delivery of Registration Statement and Prospectus. The Company will furnish to Canaccord and its counsel (at the
expense of the Company) copies of the Registration Statement, the Prospectus (including all documents incorporated
by reference therein) and all amendments and supplements to the Registration Statement or Prospectus that are filed
with the Commission during the period in which a prospectus relating to the Shares is required to be delivered under
the Securities Act (including all documents filed with the Commission during such period that are deemed to be
incorporated by reference therein), in each case as soon as reasonably practicable and in such quantities as
Canaccord may from time to time reasonably request and, at Canaccord’s request, will also furnish copies of the
Prospectus to each exchange or market on which sales of Placement Shares may be made.

(g)

Company Information. The Company will furnish to Canaccord for a period of one (1) year from the date of this
Agreement such information as is furnished to holders of the Shares or furnished to or filed with the Commission or
any national securities exchange or automatic quotation system and is reasonably requested by Canaccord regarding
the Company or its Subsidiaries.

(h)

Earnings Statement. The Company will make generally available to its security holders as soon as reasonably
practicable, but in any event not later than 15 months after the end of the Company’s current fiscal quarter, an
earnings statement covering a 12-month period that satisfies the provisions of Section 11(a) of the Securities Act and
Rule 158 of the Rules and Regulations.

(i)

Expenses.
(i)

The Company, whether or not the transactions contemplated hereunder are consummated or this Agreement
is terminated, will pay or cause to be paid all expenses incident to the performance of its obligations
hereunder, including but not limited to (i) the preparation, printing and filing of the Registration Statement
and each amendment and supplement thereto, of each Prospectus and of each amendment and supplement
thereto and each Issuer Free Writing Prospectus (as defined in Section 8 of this Agreement), (ii) the
preparation, issuance and delivery of the Placement Shares, (iii) all fees and disbursements of the Company’s
counsel, accountants and other advisors, (iv) the qualification of the Placement Shares under securities laws
in accordance with the provisions of Section 7(e) of this Agreement, including filing fees in connection
therewith, (v) the printing and delivery to Canaccord of copies of the Prospectus and any amendments or
supplements thereto, and of this Agreement, (vi) the fees and expenses incurred in connection with the listing
or qualification of the Placement Shares for trading on the Exchange, and (vii) any filing fees and expenses
incident to any review by the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (including reasonable fees and
disbursements of counsel to Canaccord incurred in connection therewith) of the terms of the sale of the
Placement Shares.

(ii)

In addition to any fees that may be payable to Canaccord hereunder and regardless of whether or not the
transactions contemplated hereunder are consummated or this Agreement is terminated, the Company shall
reimburse Canaccord for all of its reasonable expenses, up to a maximum reimbursement of $50,000, arising
out of this Agreement (including travel and related expenses, the costs of document preparation, production
and distribution, third party research and database services and the reasonable fees and disbursements of
counsel to Canaccord) within ten (10) days of the presentation by Canaccord to the Company of a reasonably
detailed statement therefor.

(j)

Use of Proceeds. The Company will use the Net Proceeds as described in the Prospectus.

(k)

Other Sales. Without the prior written consent of Canaccord (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld), the
Company will not (A) directly or indirectly, offer to sell, sell, announce the intention to sell, contract to sell, pledge,
lend, grant or sell any option, right or warrant to sell or any contract to purchase, purchase any contract or option to
sell or otherwise transfer or dispose of any shares of Common Stock (other than the Shares offered pursuant to the
provisions of this Agreement) or securities convertible into or exchangeable for Common Stock, warrants or any
rights to purchase or acquire, Common Stock or file any registration statement under the Securities Act with respect
to any of the foregoing (other than a registration statement on Form S‑8), or (B) enter into any swap or other

agreement or any transaction that transfers in whole or in part, directly or indirectly, any of the economic
consequence of ownership of the Common Stock, or any securities convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable
for or repayable with Common Stock, whether any such swap or transaction described in clause (A) or (B) above is
to be settled by delivery of Common Stock or such other securities, in cash or otherwise, during the period
beginning on the fifth (5th) Business Day immediately prior to the date on which any Placement Notice is delivered
by the Company hereunder and ending on the fifth (5th) Business Day immediately following the final Settlement
Date with respect to Placement Shares sold pursuant to such Placement Notice; and without the prior written consent
of Canaccord (which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld), the Company will not directly or indirectly in any
other “at the market” or continuous equity transaction offer to sell, sell, contract to sell, grant any option to sell or
otherwise dispose of any shares of Common Stock (other than the Placement Shares offered pursuant to the
provisions of this Agreement) or securities convertible into or exchangeable for Common Stock, warrants or any
rights to purchase or acquire, Common Stock prior to the later of the termination of this Agreement and the thirtieth
(30th) day immediately following the final Settlement Date with respect to Placement Shares sold pursuant to such
Placement Notice; provided, however, that such restrictions will not be applicable to the Company’s issuance or sale
of (i) Common Stock, options to purchase shares of Common Stock or Common Stock issuable upon the exercise of
options, pursuant to any employee or director (x) stock option or benefits plan, (y) stock ownership plan or
(z) dividend reinvestment plan (but not shares subject to a waiver to exceed plan limits in its dividend reinvestment
plan) of the Company whether now in effect or hereafter implemented, and (ii) Common Stock issuable upon
conversion of securities or the exercise of warrants, options or other rights in effect or outstanding on the date
hereof, and disclosed in writing to Canaccord.
(l)

Change of Circumstances. The Company will, at any time during the term of this Agreement, as supplemented from
time to time, advise Canaccord immediately after it shall have received notice or obtained knowledge thereof, of any
information or fact that would alter or affect any opinion, certificate, letter or other document provided to Canaccord
pursuant to this Agreement.

(m)

Due Diligence Cooperation. The Company will cooperate with any due diligence review conducted by Canaccord or
its agents, including, without limitation, providing information and making available documents and senior
corporate officers, as Canaccord may reasonably request; provided, however, that the Company shall be required to
make available senior corporate officers only (i) by telephone or at the Company’s principal offices and (ii) during
the Company’s ordinary business hours.

(n)

Affirmation of Representations, Warranties, Covenants and Other Agreements. Upon commencement of the offering
of the Placement Shares under this Agreement (and upon the recommencement of the offering of the Placement
Shares under this Agreement following any termination of a suspension of sales hereunder), and at each Applicable
Time, each Settlement Date, each Registration Statement Amendment Date (as defined below) and each Company
Periodic Report Date (as defined below), in each case, to the extent no waiver is applicable pursuant to Section 7(p),
the Company shall be deemed to have affirmed each representation, warranty, covenant and other agreement
contained in this Agreement.

(o)

Required Filings Relating to Placement of Placement Shares. In each Annual Report on Form 10‑K or Quarterly
Report on Form 10‑Q filed by the Company in respect of any quarter in which sales of Placement Shares were made
by Canaccord under this Agreement (each date on which any such document is filed, and any date on which an
amendment to any such document is filed, a “Company Periodic Report Date”), the Company shall set forth with
regard to such quarter the number of Shares sold through the Canaccord under this Agreement, the Net Proceeds
received by the Company and the compensation paid by the Company to Canaccord with respect to sales of
Placement Shares pursuant to this Agreement.

(p)

Representation Dates; Certificate. During the term of this Agreement, on the date of each Placement Notice given
hereunder, promptly upon each request of Canaccord, and each time the Company (i) files the Prospectus relating to
the Placement Shares or amends or supplements (other than a prospectus supplement relating solely to an offering of
securities other than the Placement Shares) the Registration Statement or the Prospectus relating to the Placement
Shares by means of a post-effective amendment, sticker, or supplement but not by means of incorporation of
document(s) by reference to the Registration Statement or the Prospectus relating to the Placement Shares; (ii) files
an annual report on Form 10-K under the Exchange Act; (iii) files its quarterly reports on Form 10-Q under the
Exchange Act; or (iv) files a report on Form 8-K containing amended financial information (other than an earnings
release, to “furnish” information pursuant to Items 2.02 or 7.01 of Form 8-K or to provide disclosure pursuant to
Item 8.01 of Form 8-K relating to the reclassifications of certain properties as discontinued operations in accordance
with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 144) under the Exchange Act (each date of filing of one or
more of the documents referred to in clauses (i) through (iv) shall be a “Representation Date”); the Company shall
furnish Canaccord (but in the case of clause (iv) above only if Canaccord reasonably determines that the financial
information contained in such Form 8-K is material) with a certificate, in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A. The
requirement to provide a certificate under this Section 7(p) shall be waived for any Representation Date occurring at
a time at which no Placement Notice is pending, which waiver shall continue until the earlier to occur of the date the
Company delivers a Placement Notice hereunder (which for such calendar quarter shall be considered a

Representation Date) and the next occurring Representation Date; provided, however, that such waiver shall not
apply for any Representation Date on which the Company files its annual report on Form 10-K. Notwithstanding
the foregoing, if the Company subsequently decides to sell Placement Shares following a Representation Date when
the Company relied on such waiver and did not provide Canaccord with a certificate under this Section 7(p), then
before the Company delivers the Placement Notice or Canaccord sells any Placement Shares, the Company shall
provide Canaccord with a certificate, in the form attached hereto as Exhibit A, dated the date of the Placement
Notice.
(q)

Legal Opinions. Upon execution of this Agreement, upon commencement of the offering of Placement Shares under
this Agreement (and upon the recommencement of the offering of the Placement Shares under this Agreement
following any termination of a suspension of sales hereunder), and promptly after each (i) Registration Statement
Amendment Date, (ii) Company Periodic Report Date, and (iii) each reasonable request by Canaccord, in each case,
to the extent no waiver is applicable pursuant to Section 7(p), the Company will furnish or cause to be furnished to
Canaccord the written opinion and negative assurance letter, to the extent applicable, of (a) Goodwin Procter LLP,
counsel for the Company, and (b) Sunstein Kann Murphy & Timbers LLP, intellectual property counsel for the
Company, or other counsel reasonably satisfactory to Canaccord, dated the date of this Agreement or the date of
such commencement or recommencement or the date of effectiveness of such amendment or the date of filing with
the Commission of such supplement or other document, as the case may be, in a form and substance reasonably
satisfactory to Canaccord and its counsel, provided, however, in lieu of such opinion and letter, counsel last
furnishing such letter to Canaccord shall furnish Canaccord with a letter substantially to the effect that Canaccord
may rely on such last opinion and letter to the same extent as though each were dated the date of such letter
authorizing reliance (except that statements in such last letter shall be deemed to relate to the Registration Statement
and the Prospectus as amended and supplemented to the time of delivery of such letter authorizing reliance). As used
in this paragraph, to the extent there shall be an Applicable Time on or following the date referred to in clause (i) or
(ii) above, promptly shall be deemed to be on or prior to the next succeeding Applicable Time. Such opinion and
negative assurance letter, to the extent applicable, shall be rendered to Canaccord at the request of the Company and
shall state so therein.

(r)

Comfort Letters. Upon execution of this Agreement, upon commencement of the offering of Placement Shares under
this Agreement (and upon the recommencement of the offering of the Shares under this Agreement following any
termination of a suspension of sales hereunder), and promptly after each (i) Registration Statement Amendment
Date, (ii) Company Periodic Report Date, and (iii) each reasonable request by Canaccord, in each case, to the extent
no waiver is applicable pursuant to Section 7(p) the Company shall cause its independent accountants reasonably
satisfactory to Canaccord, to furnish Canaccord letters dated the date of this Agreement or the date of such
commencement or recommencement or the date of effectiveness of such amendment or the date of filing of such
supplement or other document with the Commission, as the case may be (the “Comfort Letters”), in form and
substance satisfactory to Canaccord, (i) confirming that they are registered independent public accountants within
the meaning of the Securities Act and are in compliance with the applicable requirements relating to the
qualification of accountants under Rule 2-01 of Regulation S-X of the Commission, (ii) stating, as of such date, the
conclusions and findings of such firm with respect to the financial information and other matters included in or
incorporated by reference in the Registration Statement as ordinarily covered by accountants’ “comfort letters” to
underwriters in connection with registered public offerings (the first such letter, the “Initial Comfort Letter”) and
(iii) updating the Initial Comfort Letter with any information which would have been included in the Initial Comfort
Letter had it been given on such date and modified as necessary to relate to the Registration Statement and the
Prospectus, as amended and supplemented to the date of such letter.

(s)

Market Activities. The Company will not, directly or indirectly, without giving effect to activities by Canaccord,
(i) take any action designed to cause or result in, or that constitutes or might reasonably be expected to constitute,
the stabilization or manipulation of the price of any security of the Company to facilitate the sale or resale of the
Shares or (ii) sell, bid for, or purchase the Shares, or pay anyone any compensation for soliciting purchases of the
Shares other than Canaccord.

(t)

Insurance. The Company and its Subsidiaries shall maintain, or cause to be maintained, insurance in such amounts
and covering such risks as is reasonable and customary for companies engaged in similar businesses in similar
industries.

(u)

Compliance with Laws. The Company and its Subsidiaries shall comply with all federal, state and local or foreign
law, rule, regulation, ordinance, order or decree, except where failure to so comply would not reasonably be
expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. Furthermore, the Company and its Subsidiaries shall maintain, or cause
to be maintained, all material environmental permits, licenses and other material authorizations required by federal,
state and local law in order to conduct their businesses as described in the Prospectus, and the Company and its
Subsidiaries shall conduct their businesses, or cause their businesses to be conducted, in substantial compliance with
such material permits, licenses and authorizations and with applicable environmental laws, except where the failure
to maintain or be in compliance with such permits, licenses and authorizations would not reasonably be expected,
individually or in the aggregate, to have a Material Adverse Effect.

(v)

Investment Company Act. The Company will conduct its affairs in such a manner so as to reasonably ensure that it
will not be or become, at any time prior to the termination of this Agreement, an “investment company,” as such
term is defined in the Investment Company Act, assuming no change in the Commission’s current interpretation as
to entities that are not considered an investment company.

(w)

Securities Act and Exchange Act. The Company will use commercially reasonable efforts to comply with all
requirements imposed upon it by the Securities Act and the Exchange Act as from time to time in force, so far as
necessary to permit the continuance of sales of, or dealings in, the Shares as contemplated by the provisions hereof
and the Prospectus.

(x)

No Offer to Sell. Other than a free writing prospectus (as defined in Rule 405 under the Securities Act) approved in
advance by the Company and Canaccord in its capacity as principal or agent hereunder, neither Canaccord nor the
Company (including its agents and representatives, other than Canaccord in its capacity as such) will make, use,
prepare, authorize, approve or refer to any written communication (as defined in Rule 405 under the Securities Act),
required to be filed by it with the Commission, that constitutes an offer to sell or solicitation of an offer to buy
Common Stock hereunder.

(y)

Sarbanes-Oxley Act. The Company and the Subsidiaries will use their commercially reasonable efforts to comply
with all effective applicable provisions of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

(z)

Consent to Canaccord Trading. The Company consents to Canaccord trading in the shares of Common Stock of the
Company for Canaccord’s own account and for the account of its clients at the same time as sales of Placement
Shares occur pursuant to this Agreement.

(aa)

Rescission Offers. If, to the knowledge of the Company, all filings required by Rule 424 in connection with this
offering shall not have been made or the representation in Section 6 shall not be true and correct on the applicable
Settlement Date, the Company will offer to any person who has agreed to purchase Placement Shares from the
Company as the result of an offer to purchase solicited by Canaccord the right to refuse to purchase and pay for such
Placement Shares.

(bb)

Actively Traded Security. If, at the time of execution of this Agreement, the Company’s Common Stock is not an
“actively traded security” exempted from the requirements of Rule 101 of Regulation M under the Exchange Act by
subsection (c)(1) of such rule, the Company shall notify Canaccord at the time the Common Stock becomes an
“actively traded security” under such rule. Furthermore, the Company shall notify Canaccord immediately if the
Common Stock, having once qualified for such exemption, ceases to so qualify.

8. Additional Representations and Covenants of the Company.
(a)

Issuer Free Writing Prospectuses.
(i)

The Company represents that it has not made, and covenants that, unless it obtains the prior written consent
of Canaccord, it will not make any offer relating to the Shares that would constitute a “free writing
prospectus” (as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act) (an “Issuer Free Writing Prospectus”) required to
be filed by it with the Commission or retained by the Company under Rule 433 of the Securities Act; except
as set forth in a Placement Notice, no use of any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus has been consented to by
Canaccord. The Company agrees that it will comply with the requirements of Rules 164 and 433 of the
Securities Act applicable to any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, including timely filing with the Commission
or retention where required and legending.

(ii)

The Company agrees that no Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, if any, will include any information that
conflicts with the information contained in the Registration Statement, including any document incorporated
by reference therein that has not been superseded or modified, or the Prospectus. In addition, no Issuer Free
Writing Prospectus, if any, will include an untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not
misleading; provided however, the foregoing shall not apply to any statements or omissions in any Issuer
Free Writing Prospectus made in reliance on information furnished in writing to the Company by Canaccord
expressly stating that such information is intended for use therein.

(iii)

The Company agrees that if at any time following issuance of an Issuer Free Writing Prospectus any event
occurred or occurs as a result of which such Issuer Free Writing Prospectus would conflict with the
information in the Registration Statement, including any document incorporated by reference therein that has
not been superseded or modified, or the Prospectus or would include an untrue statement of a material fact or
omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under
which they were made, not misleading, the Company will give prompt notice thereof to Canaccord and, if
requested by Canaccord, will prepare and furnish without charge to Canaccord an Issuer Free Writing

Prospectus or other document which will correct such conflict, statement or omission; provided, however, the
foregoing shall not apply to any statements or omissions in any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus made in
reliance on information furnished in writing to the Company by Canaccord expressly stating that such
information is intended for use therein.
(b)

Non-Issuer Free Writing Prospectus. The Company consents to the use by Canaccord of a free writing prospectus
that (a) is not an “Issuer Free Writing Prospectus” as defined in Rule 433 under the Securities Act, and (b) contains
only information describing the preliminary terms of the Shares or their offering, or information permitted under
Rule 134 under the Securities Act; provided that Canaccord covenants with the Company not to take any action that
would result in the Company being required to file with the Commission under Rule 433(d) under the Securities Act
a free writing prospectus prepared by or on behalf of Canaccord that otherwise would not be required to be filed by
the Company thereunder, but for the action of Canaccord.

(c)

Distribution of Offering Materials. The Company has not distributed and will not distribute, during the term of this
Agreement, any offering materials in connection with the offering and sale of the Placement Shares other than the
Registration Statement, Prospectus or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus reviewed and consented to by Canaccord
and included in a Placement Notice (as described in clause (a)(i) above).

9. Conditions to Canaccord’s Obligations. The obligations of Canaccord hereunder with respect to a Placement will be subject to
the continuing accuracy and completeness of the representations and warranties made by the Company herein and in the applicable
Placement Notices, to the due performance by the Company of its obligations hereunder, to the completion by Canaccord of a due
diligence review satisfactory to Canaccord in its reasonable judgment, and to the continuing satisfaction (or waiver by Canaccord in
its sole discretion) of the following additional conditions:
(a)

Registration Statement Effective. The Registration Statement shall have become effective and shall be available for
the sale of (i) all Placement Shares issued pursuant to all prior Placements and not yet sold by Canaccord and (ii) all
Placement Shares contemplated to be issued by the Placement Notice relating to such Placement.

(b)

No Material Notices. None of the following events shall have occurred and be continuing: (i) receipt by the
Company of any request for additional information from the Commission or any other federal or state or foreign or
other governmental, administrative or self-regulatory authority during the period of effectiveness of the Registration
Statement, the response to which might reasonably require any amendments or supplements to the Registration
Statement or the Prospectus; (ii) the issuance by the Commission or any other federal or state or foreign or other
governmental authority of any stop order suspending the effectiveness of the Registration Statement or the initiation
of any proceedings for that purpose; (iii) receipt by the Company of any notification with respect to the suspension
of the qualification or exemption from qualification of any of the Shares for sale in any jurisdiction or the initiation
or threatening of any proceeding for such purpose; (iv) the occurrence of any event that makes any statement made
in the Registration Statement or the Prospectus or any document incorporated or deemed to be incorporated therein
by reference untrue in any material respect or that requires the making of any changes in the Registration Statement,
related prospectus or documents so that, in the case of the Registration Statement, it will not contain any untrue
statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the
statements therein not misleading, and in the case of the Prospectus, it will not contain any untrue statement of a
material fact or omit to state any material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements
therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; and (v) the Company’s
reasonable determination that a post-effective amendment to the Registration Statement would be appropriate.

(c)

No Misstatement or Material Omission. Canaccord shall not have advised the Company that the Registration
Statement or Prospectus, or any amendment or supplement thereto, contains an untrue statement of fact that in
Canaccord’s opinion is material, or omits to state a fact that in Canaccord’s opinion is material and is required to be
stated therein or is necessary to make the statements therein not misleading.

(d)

Material Changes. Except as contemplated and appropriately disclosed in the Prospectus, or disclosed in the
Company’s reports filed with the Commission, in each case at the time the applicable Placement Notice is delivered,
there shall not have been any material change, on a consolidated basis, in the authorized capital stock of the
Company and its Subsidiaries, or any Material Adverse Effect, or any development that may reasonably be expected
to cause a Material Adverse Effect, or a downgrading in or withdrawal of the rating assigned to any of the
Company’s securities by any rating organization or a public announcement by any rating organization that it has
under surveillance or review its rating of any of the Company’s securities, the effect of which, in the sole judgment
of Canaccord (without relieving the Company of any obligation or liability it may otherwise have), is so material as
to make it impracticable or inadvisable to proceed with the offering of the Placement Shares on the terms and in the
manner contemplated in the Prospectus.

(e)

Certificate. Canaccord shall have received the certificate required to be delivered pursuant to Section 7(p) on or
before the date on which delivery of such certificate is required pursuant to Section 7(p).

(f)

Legal Opinions. Canaccord shall have received the opinions of counsel to the Company required to be delivered
pursuant Section 7(q) on or before the date on which such delivery of such opinions are required pursuant to
Section 7(q). In addition, Canaccord shall have received the opinion of Burns & Levinson LLP, counsel to
Canaccord, on such dates and with respect to such matters as Canaccord may reasonably request.

(g)

Comfort Letters. Canaccord shall have received the Comfort Letter required to be delivered pursuant Section 7(r) on
or before the date on which such delivery of such letter is required pursuant to Section 7(r).

(h)

Approval for Listing; No Suspension. The Placement Shares shall have either been (i) approved for listing, subject
to notice of issuance, on the Principal Trading Market, or (ii) the Company shall have filed an application for listing
of the Placement Shares on the Principal Trading Market at or prior to the issuance of the Placement Notice. Trading
in the Common Stock shall not have been suspended on such market.

(i)

Other Materials. On each date on which the Company is required to deliver a certificate pursuant to Section 7(p), the
Company shall have furnished to Canaccord such appropriate further information, certificates, opinions and
documents as Canaccord may reasonably request. All such opinions, certificates, letters and other documents will be
in compliance with the provisions hereof. The Company will furnish Canaccord with such conformed copies of such
opinions, certificates, letters and other documents as Canaccord shall reasonably request.

(j)

Securities Act Filings Made. All filings with the Commission required by Rule 424 under the Securities Act to have
been filed prior to the issuance of any Placement Notice hereunder shall have been made within the applicable time
period prescribed for such filing by Rule 424.

(k)

No Termination Event. There shall not have occurred any event that would permit Canaccord to terminate this
Agreement pursuant to Section 12(a).

10. Indemnification and Contribution.
(a)

Company Indemnification. The Company will indemnify and hold harmless Canaccord and each person, if any, who
controls Canaccord against any losses, claims, damages or liabilities, joint or several, to which Canaccord or
controlling person may become subject, under the Securities Act or otherwise, insofar as such losses, claims,
damages or liabilities (or actions in respect thereof) arise out of or are based upon an untrue statement or alleged
untrue statement of a material fact contained in the Registration Statement, the Prospectus, the Disclosure Package,
or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus or any “issuer information” filed or required to be filed pursuant to Rule
433(d) under the Securities Act, or any amendment or supplement to the Registration Statement, the Prospectus or
the Disclosure Package, or in any application or other document executed by or on behalf of the Company or based
on written information furnished by or on behalf of the Company filed in any jurisdiction in order to qualify the
Placement Shares under the securities laws thereof or filed with the Commission, or arise out of or are based upon
the omission or alleged omission to state in the Registration Statement, the Prospectus, the Disclosure Package, or
any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus or any “issuer information” filed or required to be filed pursuant to Rule 433(d)
under the Securities Act, or any amendment or supplement to the Registration Statement, the Prospectus, or the
Disclosure Package or in any application or other document executed by or on behalf of the Company or based on
written information furnished by or on behalf of the Company filed in any jurisdiction in order to qualify the
Placement Shares under the securities laws thereof or filed with the Commission a material fact required to be stated
in it or necessary to make the statements in it not misleading, and will reimburse Canaccord for any reasonable legal
expenses of counsel for Canaccord, and for other expenses reasonably incurred by Canaccord in connection with
investigating or defending any such action or claim as such expenses are incurred; provided, however, that the
Company shall not be liable in any such case to the extent that any such loss, claim, damage or liability arises out of
or is based upon an untrue statement or alleged untrue statement or omission or alleged omission made in the
Registration Statement, the Prospectus or the Disclosure Package, or any such amendment or supplement thereto, in
reliance upon and in conformity with written information furnished to the Company by and through Canaccord
expressly for use therein.

(b)

Canaccord Indemnification. Canaccord will indemnify and hold harmless the Company against any losses, claims,
damages or liabilities to which the Company may become subject, under the Securities Act or otherwise, insofar as
such losses, claims, damages or liabilities (or actions in respect thereof) arise out of or are based upon an untrue
statement or alleged untrue statement of a material fact contained in the Registration Statement (or any amendments
thereto), the Prospectus (or any amendment or supplement thereto), the Disclosure Package or any Issuer Free
Writing Prospectus, or arise out of or are based upon the omission or alleged omission to state therein a material
fact, in the case of the Registration Statement or any amendment thereto, required to be stated therein or necessary to
make the statements therein not misleading and, in the case of the Prospectus or any supplement thereto, the
Disclosure Package or the Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the
circumstances in which they were made, not misleading, in each case to the extent, but only to the extent, that such
untrue statement or alleged untrue statement or omission or alleged omission was made in the Registration
Statement (or any amendments thereto), the Prospectus (or any amendment or supplement thereto), the Disclosure

Package, or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, in reliance upon and in conformity with written information
furnished to the Company by and through Canaccord expressly for use therein; and will reimburse the Company for
any legal or other expenses reasonably incurred by the Company in connection with investigating or defending any
such action or claim as such expenses are incurred.
(c)

(d)

Procedure.
(i)

Each indemnified party shall give written notice as promptly as reasonably practicable to each indemnifying
party of any action commenced against it in respect of which indemnity may be sought hereunder, but failure
to so notify an indemnifying party shall not relieve such indemnifying party from any liability hereunder to
the extent it is not materially prejudiced as a result thereof and in any event shall not relieve it from any
liability which it may have otherwise than on account of this Section 10. In the case of parties indemnified
pursuant to Section 10(a) above, counsel to the indemnified parties shall be selected by Canaccord, and, in
the case of parties indemnified pursuant to Section 10(b) above, counsel to the indemnified parties shall be
selected by the Company. An indemnifying party may participate at its own expense in the defense of any
such action; provided, however, that counsel to the indemnifying party shall not (except with the consent of
the indemnified party) also be counsel to the indemnified party. In no event shall the indemnifying parties be
liable for fees and expenses of more than one counsel (in addition to any relevant local counsel) separate
from their own counsel for all indemnified parties in connection with any one action or separate but similar
or related actions in the same jurisdiction arising out of the same general allegations or circumstances. No
indemnifying party shall, without the prior written consent of the indemnified parties, settle or compromise
or consent to the entry of any judgment with respect to any litigation, or any investigation or proceeding by
any governmental agency or body, commenced or threatened, or any claim whatsoever in respect of which
indemnification or contribution could be sought under this Section 10 (whether or not the indemnified parties
are actual or potential parties thereto), unless such settlement, compromise or consent (i) includes an
unconditional release of each indemnified party from all liability arising out of such litigation, investigation,
proceeding or claim and (ii) does not include a statement as to or an admission of fault, culpability or a
failure to act by or on behalf of any indemnified party.

(ii)

The indemnifying party shall not be liable for any settlement of any proceeding effected without its written
consent, but if settled with such consent or if there be a final judgment for the plaintiff, the indemnifying
person agrees to indemnify each indemnified party from and against any loss or liability by reason of such
settlement or judgment. Notwithstanding the foregoing sentence, if at any time an indemnified party shall
have requested that an indemnifying party reimburse the indemnified party for reasonable fees and expenses
of counsel as contemplated by this section, the indemnifying person shall be liable for any settlement of any
proceeding effected without its written consent if (i) such settlement is entered into (A) more than 60 days
after receipt by the indemnifying party of such request and (B) more than 30 days after receipt by the
indemnifying party of the proposed terms of such settlement and (ii) the indemnifying party shall not have
reimbursed the indemnified person in accordance with such request prior to the date of such settlement.

Contribution. If the indemnification provided for in this Section 10 is unavailable to or insufficient to hold harmless
an indemnified party under subsection (a) or (b) above in respect of any losses, claims, damages or liabilities (or
actions in respect thereof) referred to therein, then each indemnifying party shall contribute to the amount paid or
payable by such indemnified party as a result of such losses, claims, damages or liabilities (or actions in respect
thereof) in such proportion as is appropriate to reflect the relative benefits received by the Company on the one hand
and Canaccord on the other from the offering of the Placement Shares. If, however, the allocation provided by the
immediately preceding sentence is not permitted by applicable law or if the indemnified party failed to give the
notice required under subsection (c) above, then each indemnifying party shall contribute to such amount paid or
payable by such indemnified party in such proportion as is appropriate to reflect not only such relative benefits but
also the relative fault of the Company on the one hand and Canaccord on the other in connection with the statements
or omissions which resulted in such losses, claims, damages or liabilities (or actions in respect thereof), as well as
any other relevant equitable considerations. The relative benefits received by the Company on the one hand and
Canaccord on the other shall be deemed to be in the same proportion as the total net proceeds from the offering of
the Shares (before deducting expenses) received by the Company, bear to the total underwriting discounts,
commissions and other fees received by Canaccord. The relative fault shall be determined by reference to, among
other things, whether the untrue or alleged statement of a material fact or the omission or alleged omission to state a
material fact relates to information supplied by the Company on the one hand or Canaccord on the other and the
parties’ relative intent, knowledge, access to information and opportunity to correct or prevent such statement or
omission. The Company and Canaccord agree that it would not be just and equitable if contributions pursuant to this
subsection (d) were determined by pro rata allocation or by any other method of allocation which does not take
account of the equitable considerations referred to above in this subsection (d). The amount paid or payable by an
indemnified party as a result of the losses, claims, damages or liabilities (or actions in respect thereof) referred to
above in this subsection (d) shall be deemed to include any legal or other expenses reasonably incurred by such
indemnified party in connection with investigating or defending any such action or claim. Notwithstanding the
provisions of this subsection (d), Canaccord shall not be required to contribute any amount in excess of the amount

by which the total price at which the Placement Shares distributed to the public by it were offered to the public
exceeds the amount of any damages which Canaccord has otherwise been required to pay by reason of such untrue
or alleged untrue statement or omission or alleged omission. No person guilty of fraudulent misrepresentation
(within the meaning of Section 11(f) of the Securities Act) shall be entitled to contribution from any person who was
not guilty of such fraudulent misrepresentation.
(e)

Obligations. The obligations of the Company under this Section 10 shall be in addition to any liability which the
Company may otherwise have and shall extend, upon the same terms and conditions, to each person, if any, who
controls Canaccord within the meaning of the Securities Act; and the obligations of Canaccord under this Section 10
shall be in addition to any liability which Canaccord may otherwise have and shall extend, upon the same terms and
conditions, to each officer and director of the Company and to each person, if any, who controls the Company within
the meaning of the Securities Act.

11. Representations and Agreements to Survive Delivery. All representations and warranties of the Company herein or in
certificates delivered pursuant hereto shall remain operative and in full force and effect regardless of (i) any investigation made by
or on behalf of Canaccord, any controlling persons, or the Company (or any of their respective officers, directors or controlling
persons), (ii) delivery and acceptance of the Placement Shares and payment therefor or (iii) any termination of this Agreement.
12. Termination.
(a)

Canaccord shall have the right to terminate this Agreement at any time by giving notice as hereinafter specified if
(i) any Material Adverse Effect has occurred, or any development that is reasonably expected to cause a Material
Adverse Effect has occurred or any other event has occurred which, in the sole judgment of Canaccord, may
materially impair Canaccord’s ability to proceed with the offering to sell the Shares, (ii) the Company shall have
failed, refused or been unable, at or prior to any Settlement Date, to perform any agreement on its part to be
performed hereunder, (iii) any other condition of Canaccord’s obligations hereunder is not fulfilled, or (iv) any
suspension or limitation of trading in the shares of Common Stock of the Company on the Principal Trading Market
shall have occurred. Any such termination shall be without liability of any party to any other party except that the
provisions of Section 7(j) (Expenses), Section 10 (Indemnification), Section 11 (Survival of Representations),
Section 12(f) (Termination), Section 17 (Applicable Law; Consent to Jurisdiction) and Section 18 (Waiver of Jury
Trial) hereof shall remain in full force and effect notwithstanding such termination. If Canaccord elects to terminate
this Agreement as provided in this Section 12(a), Canaccord shall provide the required notice as specified in
Section 13 (Notices).

(b)

The Company shall have the right to terminate this Agreement in its sole discretion at any time by giving ten (10)
days’ notice as hereinafter specified. Any such termination shall be without liability of any party to any other party
except that the provisions of Section 7(j), Section 10, Section 11, Section 12(f), Section 17 and Section 18 hereof
shall remain in full force and effect notwithstanding such termination.

(c)

In addition to, and without limiting Canaccord’s rights under Section 12(a), Canaccord shall have the right to
terminate this Agreement in its sole discretion at any time after the date of this Agreement by giving ten (10) days’
notice as hereinafter specified. Any such termination shall be without liability of any party to any other party except
that the provisions of Section 7(j), Section 10, Section 11, Section 12(f), Section 17 and Section 18 hereof shall
remain in full force and effect notwithstanding such termination.

(d)

This Agreement shall remain in full force and effect unless terminated pursuant to Sections 12(a), 12(b) or 12(c)
above or otherwise by mutual agreement of the parties; provided that any such termination by mutual agreement
shall in all cases be deemed to provide that Section 7(j), Section 10, Section 11, Section 12(f), Section 17 and
Section 18 shall remain in full force and effect.

(e)

Any termination of this Agreement shall be effective on the date specified in such notice of termination; provided
that such termination shall not be effective until the close of business on the date of receipt of such notice by
Canaccord or the Company, as the case may be. If such termination shall occur prior to the Settlement Date for any
sale of Placement Shares, such Placement Shares shall settle in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement.

(f)

In the event that the Company terminates this Agreement, as permitted under Section 12(b), the Company shall be
under no continuing obligation pursuant to this Agreement to utilize the services of Canaccord in connection with
any sale of securities of the Company or to pay any compensation to Canaccord other than compensation with
respect to sales of Placement Shares subscribed on or before the termination date and the Company shall be free to
engage other placement agents and underwriters from and after the termination date with no continuing obligation to
Canaccord.

13. Notices. All notices or other communications required or permitted to be given by any party to any other party pursuant to the
terms of this Agreement shall be in writing and if sent to Canaccord, shall be delivered to:
Canaccord Genuity Inc.

99 High Street, Suite 1200
Boston, MA 02110
Attention: ECM, General Counsel
With a copy to:
Burns & Levinson LLP
125 Summer Street
Boston, MA 02110
Attention: Josef B. Volman, Esq.
or if sent to the Company, shall be delivered to:
ConforMIS, Inc.
600 Technology Park Drive
Billerica, MA 01821Attention: Chief Financial Officer
With a copy to:
Goodwin Procter LLP
100 Northern Avenue
Boston, MA 02210
Attention: Danielle M. Lauzon, Esq.
Each party to this Agreement may change such address for notices by sending to the other party to this Agreement written notice of
a new address for such purpose. Each such notice or other communication shall be deemed given (i) when delivered personally or
by verifiable facsimile transmission (with an original to follow) on or before 4:30 p.m., eastern time, on a Business Day or, if such
day is not a Business Day, on the next succeeding Business Day, (ii) on the next Business Day after timely delivery to a nationallyrecognized overnight courier, (iii) on the Business Day actually received if deposited in the U.S. mail (certified or registered mail,
return receipt requested, postage prepaid), and (iv) if sent by email, on the Business Day on which receipt is confirmed by the
individual to whom the notice is sent, other than via auto-reply. For purposes of this Agreement, “Business Day” shall mean any
day on which the Principal Trading Market and commercial banks in the city of New York are open for business.
14. Successors and Assigns. This Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the Company and Canaccord and
their respective successors and the affiliates, controlling persons, officers and directors referred to in Section 10 hereof. References
to any of either of the parties contained in this Agreement shall be deemed to include the successors and permitted assigns of such
party. Nothing in this Agreement, express or implied, is intended to confer upon any party other than the parties hereto or their
respective successors and permitted assigns any rights, remedies, obligations or liabilities under or by reason of this Agreement,
except as expressly provided in this Agreement. Neither party may assign its rights or obligations under this Agreement without the
prior written consent of the other party, provided, however, that Canaccord may assign its rights and obligations hereunder to an
affiliate of Canaccord without obtaining the Company’s consent.
15. Adjustments for Stock Splits. The parties acknowledge and agree that all share related numbers contained in this Agreement
shall be adjusted to take into account any stock split, stock dividend or similar event effected with respect to the Shares.
16. Entire Agreement; Amendment; Severability. This Agreement (including all schedules and exhibits attached hereto and
placement notices issued pursuant hereto) constitutes the entire agreement and supersedes all other prior and contemporaneous
agreements and undertakings, both written and oral, among the parties hereto with regard to the subject matter hereof. Neither this
Agreement nor any term hereof may be amended except pursuant to a written instrument executed by the Company and Canaccord.
In the event that any one or more of the provisions contained herein, or the application thereof in any circumstance, is held invalid,
illegal or unenforceable, the validity, legality and enforceability of any such provision in every other respect and of the remaining
provisions contained herein shall not be affected or impaired thereby.
17. Applicable Law; Consent to Jurisdiction. This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the internal
laws of the State of New York without regard to the principles of conflicts of laws. Each party hereby irrevocably submits to the
non-exclusive jurisdiction of the state and federal courts sitting in the City of New York, borough of Manhattan, for the
adjudication of any dispute hereunder or in connection with any transaction contemplated hereby, and hereby irrevocably waives,
and agrees not to assert in any suit, action or proceeding, any claim that it is not personally subject to the jurisdiction of any such
court, that such suit, action or proceeding is brought in an inconvenient forum or that the venue of such suit, action or proceeding is
improper. Each party hereby irrevocably waives personal service of process and consents to process being served in any such suit,
action or proceeding by mailing a copy thereof (certified or registered mail, return receipt requested) to such party at the address in
effect for notices to it under this Agreement and agrees that such service shall constitute good and sufficient service of process and
notice thereof. Nothing contained herein shall be deemed to limit in any way any right to serve process in any manner permitted by
law.

18. Waiver of Jury Trial. The Company and Canaccord hereby irrevocably waive any right either may have to a trial by jury in
respect of any claim based upon or arising out of this agreement or any transaction contemplated hereby.
19. Absence of Fiduciary Duties. The parties acknowledge that they are sophisticated in business and financial matters and that
each of them is solely responsible for making its own independent investigation and analysis of the transactions contemplated by
this Agreement. They further acknowledge that Canaccord has not been engaged by the Company to provide, and has not provided,
financial advisory services in connection with the terms of the offering and sale of the Shares nor has Canaccord assumed at any
time a fiduciary relationship to the Company in connection with such offering and sale. The parties also acknowledge that the
provisions of this Agreement fairly allocate the risks of the transactions contemplated hereby among them in light of their
respective knowledge of the Company and their respective abilities to investigate its affairs and business in order to assure that full
and adequate disclosure has been made in the Registration Statement and the Prospectus (and any amendments and supplements
thereto). The Company hereby waives, to the fullest extent permitted by law, any claims it may have against Canaccord for breach
of fiduciary duty or alleged breach of fiduciary duty and agrees Canaccord shall have no liability (whether direct or indirect) to the
Company in respect of such a fiduciary duty claim or to any person asserting a fiduciary duty claim on behalf of or in right of the
Company, including stockholders, employees or creditors of Company.
20. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but
all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument. Delivery of an executed Agreement by one party to the other
may be made by facsimile or email transmission.
[Remainder of page left intentionally blank]
If the foregoing accurately reflects your understanding and agreement with respect to the matters described herein please
indicate your agreement by countersigning this Agreement in the space provided below.
Very truly yours,
CONFORMIS, INC.
By: /s/ Mark A. Augusti
Name: Mark A. Augusti
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer
ACCEPTED as of the date first-above
written:
CANACCORD GENUITY INC.
By: /s/ Jennifer Pardi
Name: Jennifer Pardi
Title: Senior Managing Director

SCHEDULE 1
The Authorized Representatives of the Company are as follows:
Name and Office / Title

E-mail Address

Telephone Numbers

Fax Number

Paul Weiner / CFO
Enzo LiCausi / VP of Finance
Mark Augusti / President & CEO
David Cerveny / Chief Legal Officer

The Authorized Representatives of Canaccord are as follows:
Name and Office / Title
Jeffrey G. Barlow / President
Tom Pollard / Principal

E-mail Address

Telephone Numbers

Fax Number

Jennifer Pardi / Senior Managing Director
Andrew Viles / Senior Managing Director
and Internal Counsel

SCHEDULE 2

Subsidiary

Jurisdiction of Formation

ImaTx, Inc.

California

ConforMIS Europe GmbH

Germany

ConforMIS UK Limited

United Kingdom

ConforMIS Hong Kong Limited

Hong Kong

EXHIBIT A
OFFICER’S CERTIFICATE
I, [name of executive officer], the [title of executive officer] of ConforMIS, Inc. (“Company”), a Delaware corporation, do
hereby certify in such capacity and on behalf of the Company pursuant to Section 7(p) of the Equity Distribution Agreement dated
May 10, 2017 (the “Distribution Agreement”) between the Company and Canaccord Genuity Inc., to the best of my knowledge
that:
(i) The representations and warranties of the Company in Section 6 of the Distribution Agreement (A) to the extent such
representations and warranties are subject to qualifications and exceptions contained therein relating to materiality or Material
Adverse Effect, are true and correct on and as of the date hereof with the same force and effect as if expressly made on and as of
the date hereof, except for those representations and warranties that speak solely as of a specific date and which were true and
correct as of such date, and (B) to the extent such representations and warranties are not subject to any qualifications or exceptions,
are true and correct in all material respects as of the date hereof as if made on and as of the date hereof with the same force and
effect as if expressly made on and as of the date hereof except for those representations and warranties that speak solely as of a
specific date and which were true and correct as of such date; and
(ii) The Company has complied with all agreements and satisfied all conditions on its part to be performed or satisfied
pursuant to the Distribution Agreement at or prior to the date hereof.
Date: ______________

By:
Name:
Title:
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Exhibit 10.3

FIRST AMENDMENT TO
LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT
THIS FIRST AMENDMENT to Loan and Security Agreement (this “Amendment”) is entered into as of March 9, 2017, by and between
OXFORD FINANCE LLC, a Delaware limited liability company with an office located at 133 North Fairfax Street, Alexandria, Virginia 22314 (“Oxford”),
as collateral agent (in such capacity, “Collateral Agent”), the Lenders listed on Schedule 1.1 of the Loan Agreement (as defined below) or otherwise party
thereto from time to time (each a “Lender” and collectively, the “Lenders”) including Oxford in its capacity as a Lender and CONFORMIS, INC., a
Delaware corporation (“ConforMIS”) and IMATX, INC., a California corporation (“ImaTx” and individually, collectively, jointly and severally with
ConforMIS, “Borrower”).
RECITALS
A.
Collateral Agent, Lenders and Borrower have entered into that certain Loan and Security Agreement dated as of January 6, 2017 (as
amended from time to time, the “Loan Agreement”).
B. Lenders have extended credit to Borrower for the purposes permitted in the Loan Agreement.
C. Borrower has requested that Collateral Agent and Lenders (i) modify the Second Draw Period, (ii) modify the Third Draw Period and (iii) make
certain other revisions to the Loan Agreement as more fully set forth herein.
D. Collateral Agent and Lenders have agreed to modify such consent and to amend certain provisions of the Loan Agreement, but only to the
extent, in accordance with the terms, subject to the conditions and in reliance upon the representations and warranties set forth below.
AGREEMENT
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recitals and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which is
hereby acknowledged, and intending to be legally bound, the parties hereto agree as follows:
1.

Definitions. Capitalized terms used but not defined in this Amendment shall have the meanings given to them in the Loan Agreement.

2. Amendments to Loan Agreement.
2.1 Section 13.1 (Definitions). The following terms and their respective definitions hereby are added or amended and restated in their
entirety, as applicable, to Section 13.1 of the Loan Agreement as follows:
“Second Draw Period” is the period commencing on date Borrower demonstrates in writing to the reasonable satisfaction of Collateral
Agent that Borrower has achieved (a) trailing six (6) months Product Revenue of at least Thirty-Eight Million Dollars ($38,000,000.00) (the “Six
Month Term B Revenue Milestone”) and (b) trailing twelve (12) months Product Revenue of at least Seventy-Nine Million Five Hundred Thousand
Dollars ($79,500,000.00) (the “Twelve Month Term B Revenue Milestone”) and ending on the earliest of (i) December 31, 2017, (ii) ninety (90)
days from Borrower’s achievement of both the Six Month Term B Revenue Milestone and the Twelve Month Term B Revenue Milestone and
(iii) the occurrence of an Event of Default. For the sake of clarity, the Second Draw Period shall commence on the first measuring date on which the
Six Month Term B Revenue Milestone and the Twelve Month Term B Revenue Milestone are achieved concurrently.
“Third Draw Period” is the period commencing on date Borrower demonstrates in writing to the reasonable satisfaction of Collateral
Agent that Borrower has achieved (a) trailing six (6) months Product Revenue of at least Forty-One Million Dollars ($41,000,000.00) (the “Six
Month Term C
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Revenue Milestone”) and (b) trailing twelve (12) months Product Revenue of at least Eighty Million Dollars ($80,000,000.00) (the “Twelve Month
Term C Revenue Milestone”) and ending on the earliest of (i) June 30, 2018, (ii) ninety (90) days from Borrower’s achievement of both the Six
Month Term C Revenue Milestone and the Twelve Month Term C Revenue Milestone and (iii) the occurrence of an Event of Default. For the sake of
clarity, the Third Draw Period shall commence on the first measuring date on which the Six Month Term C Revenue Milestone and the Twelve
Month Term C Revenue Milestone are achieved concurrently.
3. Limitation of Amendments.
3.1 The amendments set forth in Section 2 above, are effective for the purposes set forth herein and shall be limited precisely as written
and shall not be deemed to (a) be a consent to any amendment, waiver or modification of any other term or condition of any Loan Document, or (b) otherwise
prejudice any right or remedy which Collateral Agent or any Lender may now have or may have in the future under or in connection with any Loan
Document.
3.2 This Amendment shall be construed in connection with and as part of the Loan Documents and all terms, conditions, representations,
warranties, covenants and agreements set forth in the Loan Documents, except as herein amended, are hereby ratified and confirmed and shall remain in full
force and effect.
4. Representations and Warranties. To induce Collateral Agent and Lenders to enter into this Amendment, Borrower hereby represents and
warrants to Collateral Agent and Lenders as follows:
4.1 Immediately after giving effect to this Amendment (a) the representations and warranties contained in the Loan Documents are true,
accurate and complete in all material respects as of the date hereof (except to the extent such representations and warranties relate to an earlier date, in which
case they are true and correct in all material respects as of such date), and (b) no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing;
4.2
Borrower has the power and authority to execute and deliver this Amendment and to perform its obligations under the Loan
Agreement, as amended by this Amendment;
4.3 The organizational documents of Borrower delivered to Collateral Agent and Lenders on the Effective Date, or subsequent thereto,
remain true, accurate and complete and have not been amended, supplemented or restated and are and continue to be in full force and effect;
4.4 The execution and delivery by Borrower of this Amendment and the performance by Borrower of its obligations under the Loan
Agreement, as amended by this Amendment, have been duly authorized;
4.5 The execution and delivery by Borrower of this Amendment and the performance by Borrower of its obligations under the Loan
Agreement, as amended by this Amendment, do not and will not contravene (a) any material Requirement of Law or regulation binding on or affecting
Borrower, (b) any material contractual restriction with a Person binding on Borrower, (c) any order, judgment or decree of any court or other governmental or
public body or authority, or subdivision thereof, binding on Borrower, or (d) the organizational documents of Borrower;
4.6 The execution and delivery by Borrower of this Amendment and the performance by Borrower of its obligations under the Loan
Agreement, as amended by this Amendment, do not require any order, consent, approval, license, authorization or validation of, or filing, recording or
registration with, or exemption by any governmental or public body or authority, or subdivision thereof, binding on Borrower; and
4.7 This Amendment has been duly executed and delivered by Borrower and is the binding obligation of Borrower, enforceable against
Borrower in accordance with its terms, except as such enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, liquidation, moratorium or
other similar laws of general application and equitable principles relating to or affecting creditors’ rights.
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5. Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts and all of such counterparts taken together shall be deemed to
constitute one and the same instrument.
6.
Effectiveness. This Amendment shall be deemed effective upon the due execution and delivery to Collateral Agent and Lender of (i) this
Amendment by each party hereto, and (ii) Borrower’s payment of all Lenders’ Expenses incurred through the date of this Amendment.
[Balance of Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment to be duly executed and delivered as of the date first written above.
BORROWER:
CONFORMIS, INC.

By /s/Paul S. Weiner
Name: Paul S. Weiner
Title: CFO

IMATX, INC.

By /s/Paul S. Weiner
Name: Paul S. Weiner
Title: CFO

COLLATERAL AGENT AND LENDER:
OXFORD FINANCE LLC

By /s/Mark Davis
Name: Mark Davis
Title: Vice President-Finance, Secretary & Treasurer
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[Signature Page to First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement]
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Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Mark Augusti, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of ConforMIS, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reports (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation;
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter
(the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date:

May 10, 2017

By:

/s/Mark Augusti
Mark Augusti
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS
I, Paul Weiner, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of ConforMIS, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant
and have:
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during
the period in which this report is being prepared;
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles;
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation;
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter
(the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Date:

May 10, 2017

By:

/s/Paul Weiner
Paul Weiner
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of ConforMIS, Inc. (the “Company”) for the period ended March 31, 2017 as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned, Philipp Lang, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, hereby
certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of his knowledge:
(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date:

May 10, 2017

By:

/s/Mark Augusti
Mark Augusti
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of ConforMIS, Inc. (the “Company”) for the period ended March 31, 2017 as filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned, Paul Weiner, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, hereby certifies,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of his knowledge:
(1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date:

May 10, 2017

By:

/s/Paul Weiner
Paul Weiner
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

